Public Document Pack

PLANNING COMMITTEE C
Date of Meeting: THURSDAY, 2 DECEMBER 2021 TIME 7.30 PM
PLACE:

HYBRID MEETING: COUNCIL CHAMBER AND
REMOTE

Members of the Committee are summoned to attend this meeting:
Membership
Councillors:
Olurotimi Ogunbadewa (Chair)
Stephen Penfold (Vice-Chair)
Peter Bernards
Mark Ingleby
Silvana Kelleher
Louise Krupski
Hilary Moore
John Paschoud
James Rathbone
Joani Reid
The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however, occasionally committees
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in
additional formats on request.

Kim Wright
Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU
Date: Tuesday, 23 November
2021

For further information please contact:
Claudette Minott Committee Officer
2nd Floor Civic Suite
Catford Road SE6 4RU
Email: committee@lewisham.gov.uk

Order Of Business
Item
No

Title of Report

Ward

Page
No.

1.

Declarations of Interests

1-4

2.

Minutes

5 - 18

3.

113-117 Kirkdale, SE26 4QJ - DC/21/122750

Forest Hill

19 - 64

4.

36 Spring Hill, SE26 4LD - DC/21/120633

Sydenham

65 - 110

5.

46 Ringmore Rise, London, SE23 3DE DC/21/119404

Forest Hill

111 - 156

6.

19 Haredon Close, London, SE23 3TG DC/21/120670

Forest Hill

157 - 182

7.

7 Waller Road, London, SE14 5LE DC/21/119485

Telegraph Hill

183 - 220

8.

Nelsons Archway, Brigade Street, London, SE3
0TW - DC/21/121093

Blackheath

221 - 252

9.

Land to the rear of, 29 Ladywell Road, London,
SE13 7UW - DC/21/123398

Lewisham
Central

253 - 306

Agenda Item 1
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS

Class

PART 1

Date: 2 December 2021

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on
the agenda.
(1)

Personal interests
There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member
Code of Conduct:-

(2)

(a)

Disclosable pecuniary interests

(b)

Other registerable interests

(c)

Non-registerable interests

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:(a)

Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit
or gain.

(b)

Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other
than by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for
inclusion in the register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying
out duties as a member or towards your election expenses (including
payment or financial benefit from a Trade Union).

(c)

Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which
they are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for
goods, services or works.

(d)

Beneficial interests in land in the borough.

(e)

Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more.

(f)

Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge,
the Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant
person* is a partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest.

(g)

Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:(a)

that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or
land in the borough; and

(b)

either
(i)

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that body; or
Page 1

(ii)

if the share capital of that body is of more than one class,
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in
which the relevant person* has a beneficial interest exceeds
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that class.

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.
(3)

Other registerable interests
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the
following interests:-

(4)

(a)

Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you
were appointed or nominated by the Council;

(b)

Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public
opinion or policy, including any political party;

(c)

Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25.

Non registerable interests
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be
likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate
more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but
which is not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for
example a matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child
attends).

(5)

Declaration and Impact of interest on member’s participation
(a)

Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are
present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000

(b)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in
consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below
applies.

Page 2

(6)

(c)

Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to
influence the outcome improperly.

(d)

If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a
member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable
interest.

(e)

Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s
personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the
advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Sensitive information
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests
the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence
or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need
not be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance.

(7)

Exempt categories
There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so.
These include:(a)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception);

(b)

School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor
unless the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of
which you are a governor;

(c)

Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt;

(d)

Allowances, payment or indemnity for members;

(e)

Ceremonial honours for members;

(f)

Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception).

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title

MINUTES

Ward
Contributors
Class

PART 1

Date 2 December 2021

MINUTES
To approve the minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee C held on the
30 September 2021.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

LEWISHAM COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE C
THURSDAY, 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 AT 7.30 PM
MINUTES
MEMBERS PRESENT:
Attendance:
In Person: Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa (Chair), Stephen
Penfold, Mark Ingleby, Louise Krupski, Hilary Moore,
James Rathbone
Remotely: Councillor: Peter Bernards
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillors: Silvana Kelleher, Joani Reid
OFFICERS: Development Management Team Leader (DMTL), Planning
Officers (Officer), Committee Officer.
ALSO PRESENT: Paula Young, Senior Lawyer, Legal Services (Legal
Advisor)
Item
No.
1

Declarations of Interest

2

Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee C held on
the 22 July 2021 be agreed and signed as a correct record.

3

229 Deptford High Street, London, SE8 3NT
The Planning Officer gave an illustrative presentation, recommending
the grant of planning permission for the proposal, as outlined in the
Officer’s report.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
Principle of Development • Urban Design and Heritage• Housing

Page 1 of 11
Page 7

• Transport Impact • Impact on Adjoining Properties • Sustainable
Development • Natural Environment • Planning Obligations.
Following the Officers presentation, Members questions related to:
noise, energy and employment.
The Officer advised the Committee sufficient conditions were in
place, to mitigate noise issues.
The DMTL advised questions regarding energy and employment
would be answered by the applicant.
The applicant addressed the Committee and described the
application site. The applicant discussed: consultation, conservation,
units and parking. The applicant noted there were no objections, no
registered speakers with objections and the Deptford Society’s
withdrawal of its own objection.
Members’ questions to the applicant, related to: noise, energy and
employment.
Members were advised the proposal met the standard noise
condition of the 55dB limit, as recommended by the local authority’s
environmental officers. The DMTL reiterated the advice and
confirmed officers were satisfied with the condition recommended for
a Class E unit. In addition, if the noise exceeded the limit,
environmental officers would address the matter.
The applicant advised the Committee there was no information
available regarding the previous business tenant, at the application
site.
The applicant reiterated the Officers earlier advice. In addition, the
applicant advised the application site meet and exceeded the energy
requirements, as outlined by the London Plan.
During Member discussion, the issue of other sustainability measures
was discussed. The DMTL acknowledged Member comments and
advised the use of other sustainability measures in future
applications, would be considered where suitable.
The Committee considered the submissions made at the meeting,
and
RESOLVED – unanimously
That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
Page 2 of 11
Page 8

GRANT planning permission for the reinstatement and redevelopment of the demolished building at 229 Deptford High Street
SE8, to deliver three-storey with mansard roof mixed-use
development comprising:
 223sqm of flexible commercial floorspace on the ground floor
(Use Class E) and five self-contained residential flats (3x
1B/2P; 2x 2B/3P) on the upper floors (Use Class C3) together
with cycle parking, refuse storage and all other associated
works.
Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report
4

28 Dundalk Road, London, SE4 2JL
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission, for the proposal as outlined in the
Officer’s report.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
Principle of Development • Housing • Urban Design • Impact on
Adjoining Properties • Transport • Sustainable Development •
Natural Environment.
After the Officer presentation, members’ questions related to:
Daylight and sunlight.
The Officer advised Member that officers considered the daylight and
sunlight levels would be acceptable.
The DMTL acknowledged that whilst no assessment had been
conducted, it was not considered necessary for the proposal due to
its modest scale. Members were assured of the benefits identified in
the Design and Access Statement, such as: full height windows at
basement level, double aspect ground floor, use of roof lights to the
ground floor living spaces and extensive use of courtyards to
increase the daylight and sunlight into the property.
The applicant addressed the Committee and described the proposal.
The applicant discussed: design, green energy, outlook, lighting and
transport.
No questions were put to the applicant by Members.
Page 3 of 11
Page 9

There were no representatives with objections, present at the
meeting.
During Member discussion, the applicant was commended on their
proposal.
The Committee considered the submissions made at the meeting,
and
RESOLVED – unanimously
That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
GRANT planning permission for the construction of a part one/part
two storey dwelling house, together with the provision of 2 cycle
spaces and associated landscaping on land at the side of 28 Dundalk
Road SE4.
Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report.
5

40 Deptford High Street SE8
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the proposal, as outlined in the
Officer’s report.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
Principle of Development • Urban Design & Heritage Impacts •
Transport • Impact on Adjoining Properties • Flood Risk.
No questions were put to the Officer, by Members.
The applicant addressed the Committee and described the proposal.
The applicant discussed: impact on retail, customer demographics,
applicants approach to vulnerable groups and mitigation measures
and applicants’ positive licensing history, with no police objections.
Members’ questions to the applicant, related to: change of use, hours
of operation and application sites’ location.
The DMTL clarified the change of use, as outlined in the Officer’s
report.
The Officer advised the local authority’s licensing department,
granted the operation hours, as appropriate for the change of use.
Page 4 of 11
Page 10

The DMTL confirmed there would be an integrated approach with the
local authorities Licensing and Planning Committees. The applicant
would be expected to comply with the terms of their licence.
The Committee were assured there would be no residential homes
situated above the application site.
A representative, with objections addressed the Committee with
objections to the proposal. The representative discussed: alcohol and
substance abuse around gambling establishments, crime, vulnerable
groups within the community, noise and the role of Committees, to
protect the local community.
Members’ questions related to: density of gambling venues on
Deptford High Street (DHS) and hours of operation.
The Officer confirmed that beside the proposal, one other gambling
establishment had recently opened on DHS. The Officer advised
Members, there was no guidance available, which gave a definition
of what constituted over concentration of gambling venues. The
Officer noted that whilst the London Plan identifies the types of
venues that could equal harm, it did not quantify the number of each
type or combinations required, to equal harm.
The Legal Advisor clarified the local authorities Licensing and
Planning Committees’ integrated approach to such applications.
Members were assured that the police could require a review of the
licence in the future..
The Committee were assured the applicant would not be able to
ignore either decisions of the Licensing Committee or Planning
Committee. The applicant must comply with both Committees
decisions. Members were advised if the Planning Committee were
minded to refuse the application, the Committee must provide very
good reasons for its decision.
During Member discussion, several members expressed strong
concern regarding the hours of operation, approved by the Licensing
Committee. A Member stated that opening hours past 10.00pm was
‘excessive’. Another Member stated the hours approved by the
Licensing Committee were ‘club hours’. Another Member
summarised the proceedings noting: another gambling establishment
was already open and active on DHS, the approved hours licensed to
the applicant and community issues. In conclusion that Member
proposed the application should be refused.
Page 5 of 11
Page 11

The Chair sought clarification on whether the application should be
refused.
The Legal Advisor cautioned Members against doing so, as there
were no grounds to support the decision. It would also be
unreasonable to refuse the application, based on views expressed
regarding community issues. The DMTL supported the Legal
Advisors advice, reminding Members the location of the application
site was in a ‘noise rich environment’, a town centre. Therefore
refusing the application on the basis of opening hours would be
deemed as ‘unreasonable’.
Both the Legal Advisor and the DMTL emphasised that the conditions
of the licence granted, regarding the venues operation hours, could
be reviewed.
A Member summarised the advice provided and proposed that
Condition 3 be amended to restrict hours of the premises operation
from: 9 am to 11 pm, Monday to Sunday.
Several Members agreed to the Members proposal.
Members voted on the recommendation in the report with a result of
6 in favour of the proposal and 1 against. It was
RESOLVED
That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
GRANT planning permission for the change of use of vacant betting
shop (Sui Generis use) to adult gaming centre (Sui Generis use) at
40 Deptford High Street SE8.
Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report and,
That Condition 3 be amended to restrict hours of the premises
operation from: 9 am to 11 pm, Monday to Sunday.
6

40 Deptford High Street SE8
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the proposal, as outlined in the
Officer’s report.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
Principle of Development • Urban Design & Heritage Impact
Page 6 of 11
Page 12

No questions were put to the Officer, by Members.
The applicant addressed the Committee, describing the proposal.
The applicant discussed: design, conservation and the character of
DHS.
No questions were put to the applicant, by Members.
There were no representatives with objections, present at the
meeting.
Members’ questions related to: materials and objections.
The Officer provided clarification that the Society had expressed
concern regarding the proposals materials and proportions.
The Officer advised there were no requirements in Planning policy,
regarding the use of hardwood in this particular manner and noted
officers were satisfied the use of hardwood on the shop front, would
be an improvement on the previous aluminium shop front.
During Members discussion, Members agreed the Officer’s
recommendation.
The Committee considered the submissions made at the meeting,
and
RESOLVED – unanimously
That it be noted that the Committee agreed to:
GRANT planning permission for the installation of new shopfront at
40 Deptford High Street SE8, together with the creation of fire exit to
rear with platform and guard rail.
Subject to conditions and informatives outlined in the report.
7

39-43 Eddystone Road SE4
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the proposal, as outlined in the
Officer’s report.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
Page 7 of 11
Page 13

Principle of Development • Housing • Urban Design • Impact on
Adjoining Properties • Transport • Sustainable Development •
Natural Environment
The following members’ question related to: Condition 11 in Officers
report and community space.
The Officer provided clarification with regard to Condition 11, as
outlined in the Officers report. The officers felt the site would benefit
from the redevelopment, as the existing building was in a poor state
of repair internally and externally and the new floor space was judged
to be a higher quality provision. Members were assured the provision
of a new, usable community space was also a planning merit, and
officers gave very significant weight to that benefit.
The Officer and DMTL confirmed the existing community space had
no statutory protection or designation as an Asset of Community
Value (ACV)
The applicant addressed the Committee, describing the proposal.
The applicant discussed: future plans, design, local consultation,
objections and community users.
No questions were put to the applicant, by Members.
A representative, with objections addressed the Committee with
objections to the proposal. The representative discussed: ecological,
geological and historical concerns, local community consultation and
nomination for the application site to be listed as an Asset of
Community Value. The objected stated that an ACV application has
been made but no response had been received from the local
authority. The representative proposed that the application should be
refused or at least postponed for this reason.
Standing Orders were suspended at 9.25 pm.
Members’ questions related to: ecological concerns, Assets of
Community Value (ACV),
Members were advised by the Officer that forthcoming legislation that
may impact the boundaries to the ancient woodland had not yet
been enacted and therefore could not be viewed as a material
consideration. The DMTL supported the Officer’s advice, also
advising the development should still be considered under the
current policy context, as outlined in the Officer report.
Page 8 of 11
Page 14

The Officer advised Members the local authority’s pending response,
to the application site for AVC status, was not a material
consideration under the current application to be considered.
During the Members discussion, several Members agreed there
should be a formal response from the local authority, regarding the
AVC nomination submitted, with regard to the current application site.
Following legal advice provided, Members noted they understood the
ACV was not a material consideration under the current application,
but felt the local authority should provide a response, since a local
residents alleged a response was still outstanding 8 months
following the ACV submission.
Members also noted from study of paragraphs 178 – 182 of the
Officers’ report, several ecological surveys remained incomplete. A
Member emphasised that further surveys would need to be
conducted, before the application was approved. The Officer stated a
condition could be implemented to ensure the surveys were
conducted and assessed by the local authority before construction
began on the development.
The Chair decided legal advice should be sought, regarding the
concerns raised by the Members. The Chair advised that the meeting
would go into closed session, to receive the legal advice.
The meeting was adjourned at 9.43pm. The meeting reconvened at
9.50pm. It was
RESOLVED
That it be noted that the Committee agreed that:
Application would be DEFERRED, to allow additional ecological
survey work to be undertaken and the Asset of Community Value
position to be reviewed.
8

29-35 Tranquil Vale, London, SE3 0BU
The Planning Officer, gave an illustrative presentation recommending
the grant of planning permission for the proposal, as outlined in the
Officer’s report.
The Committee noted the report and that the main issues were:
Page 9 of 11
Page 15

Principle of Development • Housing • Urban Design and Heritage •
Transport Impact • Impact on Adjoining Properties • Sustainable
Development • Natural Environment • Planning Obligations
The following members’ question related to: use of current
application site.
The Officer confirmed the current application site was not in use.
The applicant addressed the Committee and described the proposal.
The applicant discussed: public benefits, design, local consultation,
highways, ecological and landscaping enhancements such as:
architecture, sustainable energy and biodiversity.
Members’ questions to the applicant, related to: parking.
The applicant advised the Committee that the development would
include a circle turntable parking design, operated by key fob. The
design would have cars parking in a manner, so that they were
always in forward drive, when ready to leave the parking area.
A representative of the Blackheath Society, addressed the
Committee with objections to the proposal. The representative
discussed: a Planning Inspectorates appeal decision of July 2019,
where a prior application was refused; Un-resolved issues that
related to the Planning Inspectorates decision. The representative
proposed that the current application under consideration, should be
refused, or at least deferred and suggested the Committee conduct a
site visit.
Members’ questions related to: highway safety and landscaping.
The Officer referred to their presentation slides, to provide further
clarification, as outlined in the Officer’s report. The Officer stated that
as the proposal was a family dwelling, parking was included as a
family were viewed as likely to own a car. The DMTL supported the
Officer’s advice and added that the local authority’s highways officer
had raised no objections in relation to parking.
During the Member discussion, a Member expressed concern that
the proposals parking arrangements breached planning policy.
Another Member requested clarification regarding the previous
refused application and the current application.
The Officer and DMTL provided clarification to explain the issues that
led to the Planning Inspectorate decision regarding the previous
application. The DMTL emphasised that the parking was never an
Page 10 of 11
Page 16

issue of concern for the Planning Inspectorate. The DMTL advised
that officers considered the resubmitted application had proposal had
improved. The Legal Advisor advised the refusal on the current
application on the basis of parking, would be difficult to uphold in the
event of an appeal. The DMTL supported the Legal Advisor’s advice,
by stating there had also been no objection raised by the local
authority’s highway officer with regard to highway safety.
A Member raised concerns regarding the proposal’s bin stores and
garden waste provisions. The DMTL advised a condition could be
implemented to improve on the issues raised by the Member.
Following the advice received, the Member raised a motion to
approve the development, with conditions added to improve the
proposals bin store and garden waste provision. The motion failed 2
in favour and 5 against.
The DMTL cautioned Members with regard to refusal of the
application based on concerns that were not raised by the Planning
Inspectorate. A Member raised concerns regarding the developments
wall and building line issues. The Officer assured the Member the
concerns with regard to the wall had been addressed. Another
Member requested legal advice.
The Chair decided legal advice would be sought, regarding the
concerns raised by the Members. The Chair advised that the meeting
would go into closed session, to receive the legal advice.
The meeting was adjourned at 10.39pm. The meeting reconvened at
10.59pm. It was
RESOLVED
That it be noted that the Committee agreed:
Application would be DEFERRED, in order to review parking
arrangements proposed by developer and returned to Planning
Committee C.
The meeting closed at 11.00 pm

Chair
_________________________

Page 11 of 11
Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Planning Committee C
Report title:

113-117 Kirkdale, SE26 4QJ
Date: 02 December 2021
Key decision: No.
See “Legal Requirements” in the guidance for more information.
Class: Part 1
See “Legal Requirements” in the guidance for more information.
Ward(s) affected: Forest Hill
Contributors: Georgia McBirney

Outline and recommendations
This repost sets out the officer recommendation of approval for this planning application.
The case has been brought before members for a decision as an objection has been
received from the Sydenham Society.

Page 19

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/122750
Application Date:

20 July 2021

Applicant:

Eurohaus Germany Ltd (on behalf of Culverley Developments Ltd)

Proposal:

Construction of an additional storey to the roof level to provide 3
one bedroom self - contained flats at 113 -117 Kirkdale SE26,
together with internal and external alterations to the ground floor to
provide 3 new retail units and 1 two bedroom self-contained flat at
the rear, installation of replacement windows, formation of glazed
balconies to the ground and 3rd floors, new steps and fencing and
the provision of bin storage.

Background Papers:

Submission drawings
Submission technical reports
Internal consultee responses
Statutory consultee responses

Designation:

PTAL 4 and Local Open Space Deficiency

Screening:

N/A

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

1

The application site hosts a three storey mid-terrace building facing west onto Kirkdale,
as shown on Figure 1 below.

2

The ground floor is currently vacant but was formerly in a commercial use. Google
Streetview shows that the ground floor units have boarded-up since at least 2008.

3

There is residential accommodation on the upper levels, comprising of 6x 2-bedroom
flats.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 20

Figure 1 Site Location Plan

Character and surrounding area

4

The application property forms part of a local parade which is characterised by
commercial uses at ground floor level with residential accommodation at above.

5

The two directly adjoining buildings are two storey in height. There are three and four
storey buildings opposite the application site and to the south and west.

6

The Willow Way Estate is situated to the rear of the site which is a Local Employment
Location.
Heritage/archaeology

7

The application site is not within a conservation area nor does it adjoin a conservation
area. The Jews Walk Conservation Area is situated to the south of the application site
and Sydenham Park Conservation Area is situated to the east of the application site.
The Halifax Street Conservation area lies to the north east of the site.

8

The application building is not a listed building.
Local environment

9

The site is in flood risk zone 1 meaning there is minimal risk of river flooding; there are
no other known sources of flooding.
Transport

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 21

10

The application site has a PTAL rating of 4 on a scale of 0 to 6b, which indicates the site
has good accessibility to public transport.

11

There is a bus stop in close proximity to application site which is served by four bus
routes (Nos. 122, 176, 197 and 356).

12

Sydenham Station is the closest station to the application site, it is 0.5 miles from the
application site and an approximate 10 minute walk from the application site . Forest Hill
Station is situated 0.6 miles from the application site and an approximate 13 minute walk
from the application site .

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
13

PRE/21/120909: Pre-application advise on an additional storey to provide additional
residential accommodation

14

It was advised that the principle of one additional storey could be supported under
planning permission subject to a high quality design; standard of accommodation; the
ground floor being bought back into commercial use so that it is an active part of the
parade; and improvements to the existing elevations as the building currently detracts
from the character and appearance of Kirkdale.

15

DC/13/085927: The construction of a mansard roof extension at 113-117 Kirkdale SE26,
providing 1, one bedroom and 1, two bedroom self-contained residential flats and
external amenity space. Refused 07/02/2014

16

DC/13/084029: The construction of a mansard roof extension and raised side wall at
113-117 Kirkdale SE26, to provide one 2 bedroom and two 1 bedroom self-contained
flats. Refused 19/11/2013

17

DC/13/082699: The change of use, alteration and conversion of part of the ground floor
to the rear of 113-117 Kirkdale SE26, to provide 2 one bedroom self contained flats
incorporating balconies, together with alterations to the front and rear elevations and the
provision of 3 parking spaces to the rear with access onto Willow Way. Refused
23/07/2013

18

DC/12/081513: Alterations to the existing shop front to form separate entrances to three
smaller retail units with storage to the rear in connection with the sub-division of the
ground floor premises at 113-117 Kirkdale SE26, together with alterations to rear
elevation. Granted 28/01/2013

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
19

The application is for the construction of an additional storey at 113-117 Kirkdale, SE26,
to provide 3x 1-bedroom self-contained flats.

20

Internal and external alterations are also proposed to the existing building, and it is
proposed for 3 commercial units and 1x two-bedroom self-contained flat to be provided
at ground floor level.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 22

21

Replacement windows are also proposed along with glazed balconies and the provision
of bin storage.

22

Figure 2 shows the existing and proposed front elevations and Figure 3 shows the
existing and proposed rear elevations.

Figure 2 Existing and proposed front elevations

Figure 3 Existing and proposed rear elevations

CONSULTATION
PRE-APPLICATION ENGAGEMENT
23

No consultation was undertaken by the applicant prior to the application being submitted.
Officer’s note that due to the scale of the proposal there is no policy requirement for the
applicant to consult with neighbours prior to submitting an application.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 23

APPLICATION PUBLICITY
24

A site notice was displayed by the applicant on the 28th August 2021.

25

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on 29th July.

26

1 objection was received from the Sydenham Society and 1 objection was received from
a local resident.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

The entrances to the shops are not DDA
compliant.

Para 122

The flats are single aspect.

Para 82 and 83

The flat at the rear on the ground floor will
open onto an un-adopted Road, with no
lighting

Revised plans were submitting with the
flat being accessed via Kirkdale.

Concerns about the servicing of the
building

Section 6.4.3

The building will be overbearing and
unneighbourly

Sections 6.3.1 and 6.5.1

The shops have never been occupied
since the development was built so the
use of vacant is misleading.

Section 6.1.1

The entrances should be illuminated as
street lighting is poor and due to the
location of the site by a zebra crossing

Para 134

Impact of construction on the highways
network

A Construction Management Plan
condition is proposed.

27

Other considerations which are not materials planning considerations were raised in the
objection and these are set out below:

28

The building previously collapsed when building works were undertaken by the owner.

29

Inconsistences between the submitted Design and Access Statement and submitted
drawings. It is noted that the recommendation is based on the submitted drawings and
that if approved the Design and Access Statement is not approved within the condition.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
30

The following internal consultees were notified on 29th July 2021.

31

Highways: No comments received.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 24

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
32

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
33

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

34

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

35

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
36

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
37

Lewisham SPG/SPD:




Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (February 2015)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 25



38

Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (March 2006)
Small Site SPD (October 2021)

London Plan SPG/SPD:







Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
Character and Context (June 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
Housing (March 2016)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
39

The main issues are:









Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

40

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

41

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

42

The Small Sites Supplementary Planning Documents (October 2021) has recently been
adopted. Its purpose is to provide advice and guidance for preparing or reviewing
planning applications for residential development on a small site in Lewisham. It defines
small sites as any that fall below 0.25 hectares in size. As the proposal is for both
residential and commercial uses, only the relevant sections of this document will be
assessed.

Commercial Use
43

Policy E9 of the London Plan (2021) sets out that a successful, competitive and diverse
retail sector, which promotes sustainable access to goods and services should be
supported. Core Strategy Policy 6 seeks to protected local shopping facilities from
change of use or redevelopment where there is an economic need for such services. DM
Policy 16 sets out that the council will require the retention of A1 shops located in local

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 26

shopping parades in order to preserve or enhance the local character and support the
provision of essential daily goods and services.

44

Whilst the commercial use of the site has been vacant for a period of time, the last use of
the site was retail (former Use Class A1). As existing, the commercial unit has an area of
approximately 304sqm (scaled from submitted plans). It is proposed for part of the
existing commercial floor space at the rear of the ground floor to become residential and
for the ground floor to be subdivided into three smaller retail units. Unit 1 would have a
floor space of 53m², Unit 2 would have a floor space of 50m² and Unit 3 would have a
floor space of 47m².

45

Whilst approved under a previous policy context and never implemented,
DC/12/081513 was approved for the subdivision of the retail unit into three smaller units.

46

Considering the length of time that the unit has been vacant and as commercial units
would be retained albeit with a reduced floor space (see paragraph 46), the subdivision
of a single larger unit into smaller separate units is supported in principle subject to an
application of Policy DM2 below.

47

The introduction of residential floor space at the rear of the ground floor would result in a
loss of approximately 154m² of commercial floor space. Part 2 of DM Policy 16 states
that the change of use to residential at ground floor level will only be permitted: (a) at the
end of the row of a retail parade, but not in corner shops, in order to preserve the
continuity of the retails frontages; and (b) where the design and materials of the
residential frontage is of the highest quality and relate well to the proportion, scale and
detailing of the entire host building, adjoining buildings and make a positive contribution
to the streetscape. The supporting text of DM Policy 16 states in paragraph 2.115, that
where changes to residential occur in the middle of parades, the result is a fragmented
shopping strip. In respect of the current proposal, the frontage the unit would remain in
commercial use as the residential accommodation would be situated to the rear, and as
such there would not be fragmentation in the active frontage of the parade. On this
basis the sub-division is acceptable.

48

It is noted that the introduction of residential accommodation at the rear of the ground
floor and the subdivision into three retail units would result in an amended delivery and
servicing for the site, this will be assessed in section 6.9 of this report.

49

The application refers to the proposed units as being in Use Class A1; it is highlighted
that Use Class A1 along with A2/3, B1, D1 (a-b) and indoor sport from D2 (e) were
revoked and replaced by Use Class E on the 1st September 2020. The former A1 use is
commensurate with current Use Class E (a) which is for the display or retail sale of
goods, other than hot food. It would be secured by condition that the Use Class of the
units could not change without planning permission.

50

The submitted floor plans are annotated to state that the fit out of the commercial units
would be the responsibility of the tenant, officers raise concern in respect of this as the
additional storey is only acceptable if the commercial uses are reinstated, as such
details of the fit out of the commercial units would be secured by condition.

Residential Use
51

The NPPF (2021) speaks of the need for delivering a wide choice of high quality homes,
which meet identified local needs (in accordance with the evidence base), widen

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 27

opportunities for home ownership, and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed
communities.

52

Chapter 11 of the NPPF (2021) outlines that planning decisions should make effective
use of land by promoting and supporting underutilised land and buildings, particularly
where they would contribute to housing needs and where site could be used more
effectively.

53

The London Plan (2021) at Table 4.1 sets a 10 year housing completion target of 16,670
new homes between 2019 and 2029 for Lewisham and Policy H1 requires boroughs to
optimise the potential for housing delivery on all suitable and available brownfield sites
through their planning decisions.

54

Policy H2 of the London Plan requires boroughs to pro-actively support well-designed
new homes on small sites to help achieve the housing targets set out on Table 4.2.
Lewisham has a ten year target to deliver 3,790 new homes on small sites. Policy H2
sets out that boroughs will need to recognise that local character evolves over time and
will need to change in appropriate locations to accommodate additional housing on small
sites.

55

Section 30 – Infill Development Vertical Intensification of the Small Sites SPD (2021),
sets out that additional floors to existing buildings can provide new homes in sustainable
locations.

56

Given the existing residential accommodation at the site, the principle of providing
additional accommodation could be supported subject to design, standard of
accommodation, impact on adjoining properties, and highways and transport impacts.

Principle of development conclusions
57

The subdivision of the commercial floor space and the reactivation of the ground floor
frontage is acceptable in principle. The increase in residential units at the site is
supported and the principle of an additional storey (subject to an assessment on design)
is acceptable.

HOUSING
58

This section covers: (i) the contribution to housing supply, including density; (ii) the
dwelling size mix; (iii) the standard of accommodation; and (iv) total affordable housing
proposed and its tenure split.
Contribution to housing supply
Policy

59

National and regional policy promotes the most efficient use of land.

60

The NPPF states that housing applications should be considered in the context of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF sets out the need to
deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and
create, sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 28

61

The NPPF encourages the efficient use of land subject to several criteria set out in para
124. Para 125 applies where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land for
meeting identified housing needs and strongly encourages the optimal use of the
potential of each site.

62

The Plan sets a 10 year housing completion target of 16,670 new homes between 2019
and 2029.

63

National and regional policy avoids specifying prescriptive dwelling size and mixes for
market and intermediate homes.

64

NPPF para 62 expects planning polices to reflect the need for housing size, type and
tenure (including affordable housing) for different groups in the community.

65

The application site is within a local parade and is surrounded by a variety of styles of
built development. The application site is characterised as Urban.
Discussion

66

The proposal is for 3x 1-bedroom dwellings and 1x 2-bedroom dwelling, and the site
measures approximately 0.04 hectares.

67

Table 1 below sets out the measures of density criteria required by the supporting text to
LPP D3 (para 3.3.22 of the LP) for all sites with new residential units.
Table [ 1 ]: Measures of Density

Criteria

Value

Criteria/area

Site Area (ha)

A 0.04

n/a

Units

W 10

W/A 250 U/Ha

Habitable rooms

X 27

X/A 675 Hr/Ha

Bedrooms

Y 17

Y/A 425 Br/Ha

Bedspaces

Z 27

Z/A 675 Bs/Ha

Summary

68

Policy D6 of the London Plan States for London to accommodate the growth identified in
the plan in an inclusive and responsible way every new development needs to make the
most efficient use of land. This will mean developing at densities above those of
surrounding areas on most sites.

69

Whether the scale of development is appropriate for the site and surrounding area, the
impact of neighbouring occupiers, and accessibility are all relevant factors when
determining optimum density, and these are considered in the following sections of this
report.

70

Subject to the matters set out in the preceding sections of this report, the proposed
density would not result in an over intensification of the site and would provide four
additional dwellings. The proposed development would increase housing supply in line
with the London Plan (2021) and the Small Site SPD (2021).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 29

Affordable housing
Percentage of affordable housing
Policy

71

Core Strategy Policy 1 states that contributions to affordable housing will be sought on
sites capable of providing 10 or more dwellings. PPG guidance makes clear that
planning obligations for affordable housing should only be sought for residential
developments that are major developments (i.e. development where 10 or more homes
will be provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more).

72

As such the application falls below the threshold for seeking affordable housing provision
as only 4 units are proposed.

Residential Quality
General Policy

73

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

74

The main components of residential quality are: (i) space standards; (ii) outlook and
privacy; (iii) overheating; (iv) daylight and sunlight; (v) noise and disturbance; (vi)
accessibility and inclusivity. The Small Sites SPD has an Inside and Out Toolkit at
section 15.
Internal space standards
Policy

75

London Plan Policy D6 and DM Policy 32 seek to achieve housing developments with
the highest quality internally and externally in relation to their context
Discussion

76

The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes.
Table [ 2 ]: Internal space standards

Unit

Layout

GIAm²

B1m²

B2m²

Built in
storage

Amenity

Ground
floor rear

2B4P

90m²

19m²

19m²

2.14m²

14m²

Third floor
front

1B2P

54m²

18m²

1.21m²

0m²

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 30

Third floor
rear

1B1P

45m²

10.5m²

0.95m²

0m²

Third floor
front and
rear

1B2P

51m²

15m²

1.29m²

12m²

77

Table 3.1 of Policy D6 of the London Plan states that the minimum gross internal area
floor area for 1B1P units is 39m², 1B2P units is 50m² and 2B4P units is 70m2. Table 3.1
also sets out the minimum size requirement of a single bedroom to be 7.5m² and 11.5m²
for a double bedroom.

78

As can been seen from Table 2, all of the units would comply with the GIA requirements
for the unit type. Additionally all bedrooms would exceed the required sizes.

79

Table 3.1 of Policy D6 of the London Plan sets out the built in storage requirements for
1B1P units to be 1m², 1.5m² for 1B2P units and 2m² for 2B4P units. Part (7) of Policy D6
states that any built in wardrobe area in excess of 0.72m² in a double bedroom and
0.36m² in a single bedroom counts towards the built in storage requirement. As can be
seen from the table above the 2B4P would comply with the requirement for built in
storage. All of the 1-bedroom units would not comply with the requirements, however,
given that shortfalls would be 0.29m², 0.05m² and 0.21m², these shortfalls are not
considered to be so significant that would result in an unacceptable standard of
accommodation.

80

In terms of floor to ceiling height, London Plan Policy D6 states that the floor to ceiling
height should be 2.5m for 75% for the GIA of each dwelling. The proposed dwellings
would have floor to ceiling heights of 2.45m, whilst this is not complaint with the London
Plan, the floor to ceiling height is compliant with the Nationally Described Space
Standards which state that the floor to ceiling height should be 2.3m for 75 of the GIA.
The floor to ceiling height of the proposed units is considered to be acceptable.
Outlook & Privacy
Policy

81

London Plan Policy D6 seeks high quality design of housing development and requires
development to achieve ‘appropriate’ outlook, privacy and amenity. Policy D6 seeks to
maximise the provision of dual aspect dwellings. This is echoed in DMP 32.
Discussion

82

Three of the four proposed units would be single aspect. Given the context of the site
with the existing flats in the building being single aspect and that all habitable rooms
would be provided with adequate outlook, the proposed single aspect units are
considered to be acceptable.

83

Privacy to the units on the proposed third floor is considered to be acceptable. In respect
of the proposed unit at ground floor level, given that the rear yard area would be

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 31

subdivided between the commercial and residential uses and boundary treatment is
proposed between, the privacy of the residential unit is considered acceptable.
Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

84

DM Policy 32 (1) (b) expects new development to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of natural
lighting for future residents. The London Housing SPD and the Lewisham Small Sites
SPD promote access to sunlight and natural daylight as important amenity factors,
particularly to living space.

85

Daylights and sunlight is generally measures against the Building Research
Establishment (BRE) standards. This is not formal planning guidance and should be
applied flexibly according to context.
Discussion

86

A Daylight and Sunlight assessment has not been submitted with this application, this is
typical for an application of this size. Considering that all habitable rooms would be
served by windows, combined with the size of the windows and the depth of the room,
the units are considered to be provided with adequate daylight and sunlight.
Noise & Disturbance
Policy

87

The NPPF at paragraph 174 should among other things prevent new and existing
development from contributing to, being put through an unacceptable risk, from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of noise pollution. Development should
improve local environmental conditions. Paragraph 185 states decisions should mitigate
and reduce the to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impact on health and the
quality of life.

88

To ensure that the commercial units would have an acceptable impact in terms of noise
on the residential accommodation, details of soundproofing would be secured by
condition.

89

No details have been provided in respect of the opening hours of the commercial units,
details of these will be secured by condition.
Accessibility and inclusivity
Policy

90

LPP D5 expects proposals to achieve the highest standards of accessible and inclusive
design, including at para (3) that proposals should be convenient and welcoming with no
disabling barriers, providing independent access without additional undue effort,
separation or special treatment; para (4) be able to be entered, used and exited safely,
easily and with dignity for all; and para (5) be designed to incorporate safe and dignified
emergency evacuation for all building users.

91

LPP D7 requires 10% of residential units to be designed to Building regulation standard
M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ i.e. designed to be wheelchair accessible, or easily

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 32

adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users, with the remaining 90% being
designed to M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable’. Paragraph 3.7.6 of the supporting text of
Policy D7 states that in exceptional circumstances the provision of lift to dwelling
entrances may not be achievable (and only in blocks of four storeys or less), flats above
existing shops or garages is an instance in which the policy can be applied flexibly.
Discussion

92

It is highlighted that the existing residential accommodation at the site is not wheelchair
accessible as there is no lift in the building providing access to the first and second
floors. Applying Policy D7 flexibly as allowed in this instance, the lack of wheelchair unit
is considered acceptable
External space standards
Policy

93

Standard 4.10.1 of the Mayors Housing SPG states that ‘a minimum of 5sqm of private
outdoor space should be provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1sqm should be
provided for each additional occupant’. This is also set out in London Plan Policy D6,
which also emphasises the minimum dimensions and states that private open amenity
space must achieve a minimum depth and width of 1.5m.

94

The London Plan Housing SPG at paragraph 2.3.32 states that where site constraints
make it impossible to provide private amenity space for all dwellings, dwellings may
instead be provided with additional living space equivalent to the area of private amenity
space requirements.
Discussion

95

As can be seen in Table 2, only two units would be provided with private outside amenity
space; both to of these units would comply with the required space requirements for the
unit types.

96

The 1-bedroom units situated at the front and rear of the proposed third floor would not
be provided with any private amenity space. In line with paragraph 2.3.32 of the SPG,
the 1B1P unit should have a GIA 44m² and the 1B2P 55m², when the private amenity
space is added to the GIA. As can be seen from Table 2, the 1B1P would comply with
this and for the 1B2P unit there would be a 1m² shortfall. Given that the shortfall is 1m²
and the context of the site, this shortfall is considered acceptable in this instance.

Housing conclusion
97

Overall, the proposed development is considered to provide a good standard of
accommodation and to contribute to meeting the housing targets for small sites set out in
the London Plan.

URBAN DESIGN
General Policy

98

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 33

99

Polices D4 and D6 of the London Plan emphasise that the ‘scrutiny of a proposed
development should cover its layout, scale, height, density, land uses, materials,
architectural treatment, detailing and landscaping’.

100

Core Strategy Policy 15 outlines how the Council will apply national and regional policy
and guidance to ensure the highest quality design, the protection or enhancement of the
historic and natural environment, which is sustainable, accessible to all, optimises the
potential of sites, is sensitive to the local context, and responds to local character.

101

DM Policy 30 requires planning applications to demonstrate site-specific response,
which creates a positive relationship with the existing townscape whereby the height,
scale, and the mass of the proposed development relates to the urban typology of the
area.

Appearance and character
Policy

102

In terms of architectural style, the NPPF encourages development that is sympathetic to
local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape
setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (para
130).

103

London Plan Policy D3 states that development should enhance local context by
delivering buildings and spaces that positively respond to local distinctiveness through
their layout, orientation, scale, appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and
emerging street hierarchy, building types, forms and proportions. Proposals should be of
high quality, with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough
consideration to the practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through
appropriate construction methods and the use of attractive, robust materials which
weather and mature well.

104

DM Policy 30 requires planning applications to demonstrate a site specific response
which creates a positive relationship with the existing townscape whereby the height,
scale and mass of the proposed development relates to the urban typology of the area.

105

DM Policy 31 relates to alterations to existing buildings and requires development to be
of high, site specific, and sensitive design quality, and respect and/or compliment the
form, setting, period, architectural characteristics, detailing of the original buildings
including external features, such as chimneys and porches. It further states that high
quality matching or complimentary materials should be used in relation to the context.

106

DM Policy 32 expects new residential development to be attractive and neighbourly.

107

The Alterations and Extensions SPD sets out in section 5.14 that additional storeys are
only likely to be acceptable on a flat roof, and that additional storeys needs to be
subservient and lightweight. Section 5.14 of the SPD goes onto states that additional
storeys should be set back from all sides.
Discussion

108

The application building as existing is a poorly detailed building without an active
frontage which does not make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of
the street scene and the wider area.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 34

109

The proposed additional storey is by means of a mansard roof extension which
incorporates dormer windows on the front and rear elevations. The local parade that the
application property is a part of has a range of heights, with the immediate adjoining
properties being two storey in height. Within the parade at the junction with Dartmouth
Road, are three storey flat roofed properties which benefits from roof extensions to
provide additional storeys. Directly opposite the application site is Denham Court, which
is a four storey flat roofed flatted development.

110

As set out in the principle of development section of this report, the principle of An
additional storey is supportable in this location given the context and as set out below,
the scheme incorporates other design benefits including the ground floor being brought
back into commercial use so that it is an active part of the parade and due to
improvements proposed to the elevations.

111

The mansard roof extension would be set back from the front and rear building lines and
the proposed dormer windows on the front and rear would be aligned with the windows
on the elevations below. The mansard roof extension would be finished in slate roof tiles
and the dormer windows would be led clad with the sides painted white. The proposed
mansard roof extension by means of its detailed design and the materiality that has been
indicated is considered to result in a high quality addition to the host building. To ensure
the quality of the materials, details would be required to be submitted and approved by
way of a planning condition.

112

As set out above, the existing building does not contribute positively to the streetscene.
On the front elevation at ground floor level three new shop fronts are proposed; the shop
fronts would include glazed shop front above a stall rise with a single door opening with
signage above. The arrangement of the shop fronts is considered to be acceptable for a
local parade. Limited information has been provided in respect of the materials and
details of the shop front, these details would be secured by condition as to ensure their
quality. An informative would also be added to any decision advising that advert consent
would be required for any signage.

113

Also on the front elevation, the existing render is proposed to be removed and replaced
by brick detailing and new rendered finish. No information has been provided in respect
of the brick type or the colour of the rendered finish. The introduction of brick detailing
and the re-rendering of the front elevation would improve the appearance of the building
and is considered to result in the building making a positive contribution to the character
and appearance to the streetscene. The rear elevation is also proposed to be rerendered. Details of the brick work and render would be required to be submitted as part
of the condition for all of the external materials as to ensure their quality. It would also be
conditioned that the improvements to the elevations have to be completed prior to the
occupation of the residential units proposed within this application, as to ensure the
works are implemented.

114

The rear elevation incorporates the two private amenity spaces, the introduction of these
terraces are not considered to have an unacceptable impact on the character and
appearance of the host building or wider rear scape. The details of the balustrading for
the terraces would be secured by condition.

115

Also on the rear elevation, a new window and door arrangement is proposed at ground
floor level to accommodate the introduction of residential accommodation at ground floor
level and the alterations to the rear access for the commercial units. The openings would
be in keeping with the existing on the building and this is considered to be acceptable.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 35

116

At the rear of a new gated boundary wall is proposed to the residential element and to
the commercial element. The scale of the boundary treatment is considered to be
appropriate and the final details would be secure by condition.

117

Officers do not consider that the proposed development would give rise to any impacts
to the Sydenham Park or Jews Walk Conservation Areas given the scale of the scheme
and the separation distances. 110 and 112 Kirkdale are located within the Halifax Street
Conservation Area and are situation to the north of application site along Kirkdale. The
improvements to the façade and detailing of the application building are considered to
enhance the setting of 110 and 112 Kirkdale. The proposed roof extension would not be
visible from the residential part of the Halifax Street Conservation Area and Officers
consider that no harm to heritage assets would result from the development proposal.

Urban design conclusion
118

In summary, subject to the final details being secured by condition the proposed
development is considered to improve the character and appearance of the host building
and result it in making a positive contribution to street scene.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

119

NPPF paragraph 108 states that planning decisions should ensure safe and suitable
access to the site for all users, and that any significant impacts from the development on
the transport network, or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.

120

Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states ‘Development should only be prevented or refused
on transport grounds. The Small Sites SPD has guidance in sub-sections 12.12-12.18.

Access
Policy

121

As noted above, London Plan Policy D5 expects the highest standards of accessible and
inclusive design while London Plan Policy D7 requires 10% of residential units to be
designed to Building regulation standard M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ i.e being
designed to be wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for residents who are
wheelchair users, with the remaining 90% being designed to M4(2) ‘accessible and
adaptable’.
Discussion

122

In terms of the access to the commercial units, whilst the existing commercial unit is
vacant, the door is not at street level as step up is required. On all three of the shop
fronts proposed the entrance would be in line with the pavement, this is considered
acceptable and appropriate for providing access to all.

123

In terms of access to the proposed residential accommodation, this is set out above in
paragraphs 91 to 93.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 36

Local Transport Network
Policy

124

The NPPF states that significant impacts on the transport network (in terms of capacity
and congestion should be mitigated to an acceptable degree).
Discussion

125

The application site has a PTAL of 4, with a bus stop in close proximity to the site which
is served by four bus routes. The application site is also 0.5 miles and 0.6 miles from
Sydenham and Forest Hill Stations respectively. No additional on-site residential car
parking is proposed. The provision of four additional units is therefore not considered to
have a significant impact on the local transport network in terms of capacity on the road
network or public transport.

Servicing and refuse
Policy

126

DM Policy 31 requires new development to have appropriate regard for servicing of
residential and commercial units.

127

Separate residential and commercial waste storage is required.
Discussion

128

Details of the waste storage for both the residential and commercial units would be
secured by condition.

129

A Delivery and Servicing Plan for both the commercial and residential units would be
secured by condition.

Transport modes
Walking and cycling
Policy

130

London Plan Policy T5 states that Development Plans and development proposals
should help remove barriers to cycling and create a healthy environment in which people
choose to cycle. Cycle parking should be designed and laid out in accordance with the
guidance contained in the London Cycling Design Standards.

131

Development proposals should demonstrate how cycle parking facilities will cater for
larger cycles, including adapted cycles for disabled people.

132

CSP 14, amongst other things, states that the access and safety of pedestrians and
cyclists will be promoted and prioritised.
Discussion

133

As per Table 10.2 of the London Plan, a minimum of 6 bicycle parking spaces are
required. The details of this would be secured by condition.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 37

134

Details of the external lighting on the building will be secured by condition as to ensure
safe pedestrian access.
Car parking
Policy

135

Policy T6 of the London Plan states that car parking should be restricted in line with
levels of existing and future public transport accessibility and connectivity. Car-free
development should be the starting point for all development proposals in places that are
(or are planned to be) well-connected by public transport, with developments elsewhere
designed to provide the minimum necessary parking (‘car-lite’).
Discussion

136

As existing, the application site benefits from two car parking spaces for the commercial
unit. It is proposed for these spaces to be retained, given that these spaces are existing,
in this instance it is acceptable for the spaces to be retained.

Transport impact conclusion
137

The proposal would have an acceptable impact on transport in terms of parking,
encouraging sustainable modes of transport and accommodating the site’s servicing
needs, subject to conditions.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

138

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of LPP D3, D6 and D14 and DM Policy
30, 31 and 32.

139

DMP 32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours.

140

The main impacts on amenity arise from: (i) overbearing sense of enclosure/loss of
outlook; (ii) loss of privacy; (iii) loss of daylight within properties and loss of sunlight to
amenity areas; and (iv) noise and disturbance
Enclosure, Outlook and Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

141

Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of blocks is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Discussion

142

The proposal is for an additional storey which would not extend beyond the envelope of
the existing building line. There are no buildings adjoining to the rear and both of the
directly adjoining properties have no window openings facing onto the site. The

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 38

proposed additional storey is not considered to result in a sense of enclosure, loss of
outlook or harmful impact in terms of daylight and sunlight.

Privacy
Policy

143

Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.
Discussion

144

New openings are proposed on the front and rear elevations only.

145

There are no buildings situated to the rear and as such the new windows in the rear
elevation would not have an impact in terms of neighbouring amenity.

146

On the front elevation, the new window openings would face onto Denham Court. The
front elevation of Denham Court is situated approximately 21m across the street. Given
the separation distance and the existing arrangement between these properties, there is
not considered to be an unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking and loss of privacy.

147

The proposed terrace at roof level does not face onto any windows on the adjoining
property and as such there would not be an unacceptable impact in terms of overlooking
or loss of privacy.

Noise and disturbance
Policy

148

DM Policy 32 requires new residential development to be neighbourly, and development
in residential areas should not result in harm to existing residents through unsociable
noise and disturbance.

Discussion

149

The site currently consists of a vacant commercial unit and residential accommodation
within a local parade. The increase in the number of residential units at the application
site is not considered to result in material harmfully impact in terms of noise and
disturbance. Officers do note that terraces would be introduced, the use of these
terraces is not considered to be materially harmful on neighbouring properties
considering the context of the site as part of a local parade.

150

The proposal would bring back commercial units into use. Given that the application site
is within a local parade, the principle of the commercial units is acceptable. No details of
opening hours of the commercial units have been provided, the details would be secured
by condition as to ensure that the proposal would have an acceptable impact on
neighbouring amenity.

151

Details of the delivery and servicing of the commercial units would be secured by
condition to ensure that the delivery and servicing has an acceptable impact on amenity
of neighbouring occupiers.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 39

Impact on neighbours conclusion
152

The impact on neighbouring residential amenity has been assessed against the relevant
policies and guidance, and no significant harm has been identified to neighbouring
occupiers’ residential amenity.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
General Policy

153

Para 153 of the NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to take a proactive approach
to mitigating and adapting to climate change, taking into account the long-term
implications for flood risk, coastal change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes,
and the risk of overheating from rising temperatures. Policies and decisions should
support appropriate measures to ensure the future resilience of communities and
infrastructure to climate change impacts.

154

CS Objective 5 reflects the principles of the NPPF and sets out Lewisham’s approach to
climate change and adapting to its effects. CSP 7, CSP 8 and DM Policy 22 support this.
Small Sites SPD section 11 and 21 provides guidance on sustainability.
Energy and carbon emissions reduction
Policy

155

LPP SI2 states that major development should achieve zero carbon an should minimise
to peak energy demand in accordance with the following energy hierarchy: Be lean: use
less energy; Be clean: supply energy efficiently; and Be green: use renewable energy.
Discussion

156

The application is not a major development (as only 4 units are proposed) and as such
the provision of LPP SI2 do not apply. Notwithstanding this, the submitted Energy
Statement (prepared by Eurohaus, dated July 2020), sets out that that the internal water
usage rates would not be in excess of 105 litres per person per days and that solar
panels are proposed on the flat roof.

Flood Risk
Policy

157

LPP SI12 requires development proposals to ensure that flood risk is minimised and
mitigated.
Discussion

158

The application site lies outside of Flood zones 2 and 3 and is therefore at low risk of
flooding.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 40

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
159

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

160

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

161

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

162

The application is CIL liable and the amount due to be paid would be confirmed at a later
date in a Liability Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
163

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

164

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

165

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

166

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 41

guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

167

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

168

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

169

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
170

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

171

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

172

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 42

173

This application has the legitimate aim of four new residential units and reinstating the
commercial use at the property. The rights potentially engaged by this application,
including Article 8 and Protocol 1, Article 1 are not considered to be unlawfully interfered
with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
174

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

175

The subdivision of the commercial floor space and reactivation of the ground floor
frontage is acceptable in principle. Whilst the increase in residential units at the site is
supported, and an additional storey is supported. The development will result in the
long vacant ground floor being bought back into commercial use so that it is an active
part of the parade, and improvements to the existing elevations as the building currently
detracts from the character and appearance of Kirkdale. Substantial weight has been
given to the reactivation of the commercial units and the improvements to the external
appearance of the existing building.

176

Subject to details being secured by conditions, the proposed development is considered
to be of an acceptable design.

177

No adverse impact have been identified in terms of impact on neighbouring amenity or
on the highways network.

178

In light of the above, the application is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION
179

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
Received 20th July 2021

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 43

2021/001 Rev F; 2021/002 Rev F; 2021/003 Rev F; 2021/004 Rev F; 2021/005
Rev F; 2021/006 Rev F; 2021/007 Rev F; 2021/008 Rev F; 2021/009 Rev F;
2021/010 Rev F; 2021/011 Rev F; 2021/012 Rev F; 2021/013 Rev F; 2021/015
Rev F; 2021/016 Rev F; 2021/017 Rev F; 2021/018 Rev F; 2021/020 Rev F;
2021/021 Rev F; 2021/022 Rev F; 2021/025 Rev F; 2021/026 Rev F
Received 28th September 2021
2021/014 Rev G; 2021/019 Rev G; 2021/024 Rev G
Received 16th November 2021
2021/023 Rev G
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

3)

USE CLASS
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), the commercial premises shall be used in Use Class E(a) and for no other
purposes (including any other purpose in Class E of the Schedule to the Town
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to
that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order).
Reason: To ensure that any other use of the building would be suitable in the
mixed used building and to protect the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring
premises and the area generally and to comply with DM Policy 16 of the
Development Management Local Plan (2014).

4)

FIT OUT OF COMMERICAL UNITS
(a) No development shall commence above ground on site until plan (1:50) and
details showing the physical fit out of the commercial units hereby approved have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
(b) No occupation of the residential units herby approved shall take place until the
commercial units have been constructed in full accordance with the details
approved under part (a).
Reason: To ensure that the fit-out of the units is sufficient to ensure that they are
an attractive and commercially viable option and to demonstrate the developers
commitment to delivering the commercial units as part of this development in
accordance with DM Policy 16 of the Development Management Local Plan (2014).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 44

5)

SOUNDPROOFING
(a)
The development shall be designed to incorporate soundproofing of a
specification for sound insulation against airborne noise to meet D’nT,w + Ctr dB
of not less than 55 for walls and/or ceilings where residential parties non domestic
use shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
(b)
The development shall only be occupied once the soundproofing works
as agreed under part (a) have been implemented in accordance with the
approved details.
(c)
The soundproofing shall be retained permanently in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to comply with DM Policy 26
Noise and vibration, DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings
including residential extensions and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and
space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

6)

MATERIALS
No development above ground shall commence on site until a detailed schedule
and specification/samples of all external materials and finishes/windows and
external doors/roof coverings/other site specific features including the
balustrading for the terraces to be used on the building(s) have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the building(s) and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character.

7)

SHOPFRONT DETAILS
(a)
Prior to installation, plans and sectional details at a scale of 1:10 or 1:20
showing the proposed shop fronts shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Such information should demonstrate the location
of the fascia sign, any shutter/grill box, the window system, the stall riser and the
entrance.
(b)
The development shall be constructed in full accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 19 Shopfronts, signs and hoardings.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 45

8)

BOUNDARY TREATMENTS
(a)
Details of the proposed boundary treatments including any gates, walls
or fences shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority prior to construction of the above ground works.
(b)
The approved boundary treatments shall be implemented prior to
occupation of the buildings and retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure that the boundary treatment is of adequate design in the
interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy 15 High
quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

9)

FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT – EXISTING BUIDLING
The residential units hereby approved shall not be occupied until evidence has
been to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that the façade
improvements to the existing building have been implemented.
Reason: To ensure the developers commitment to improving the appearance of
the existing building and comply with Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham
of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character.

10)

DELIVERY AND SERVICING
(a) The commercial and residential units shall not be occupied until a Delivery
and Servicing Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
(b) The plan shall demonstrate the expected number and time of delivery and
servicing trips to the site, with the aim of reducing the impact of servicing
activity.
(c) The approved Delivery and Servicing Plan shall be implemented in full
accordance with the approved details from the first occupation of the
development and shall be adhered to in perpetuity.
Reason: In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply
with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June
2011).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 46

11)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN
No development shall commence on site until such time as a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The plan shall cover:(a) Dust mitigation measures.
(b) The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities
(c) Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process
(d) Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts which
shall demonstrate the following:(i) Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips to the
site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of construction related
activity.
(iii) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.
(e) Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).
(f) Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction Management
Plan requirements and any Environmental Management Plan requirements
(delete reference to Environmental Management Plan requirements if not
relevant).
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise
possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to
comply with Policy SI1 Improving air quality and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing
and construction of the London Plan (March 2021).

12)

REFUSE STORAGE
(a)
No development (above ground level shall commence until details of
proposals for the storage of refuse and recycling facilities for each residential and
commercial unit hereby approved, have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 47

(b)
The facilities as approved under part (a) shall be provided in full prior to
occupation of the development and shall thereafter be permanently retained and
maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).

13)

CYCLE PARKING
(a)
Prior to first occupation, full details of the cycle parking facilities shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
(b)
No development shall commence on site until the full details of the cycle
parking facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
(c)
All cycle parking spaces shall be provided and made available for use
prior to occupation of the development and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021) and Policy
14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011).

14)

CONSTRUCTION WORK HOURS
No work shall take place on the site other than between the hours of 8 am and 6
pm on Mondays to Fridays and 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and not at all on
Sundays or Public Holidays.
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at unsociable
periods and to comply with Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 32 Housing
design, layout and space standards of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

15)

SOLAR PANELS
(a) Details of the proposed solar panels shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any above ground works.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 48

(b) The solar panels approved by (a) shall be installed in full prior to first
occupation of the residential units hereby approved and retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To comply with policies SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions of the
London Plan (2021), Core Strategy Policy 7 Climate change and adapting to the
effects and Core Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and construction and
energy efficiency of the Core Strategy (2011).
16)

EXTERNAL LIGHTING
(a) Prior to occupation of the residential units a scheme for any external lighting
that is to be installed at the site, including measures to prevent light spillage shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
(b) Any such external lighting as approved under part (a) shall be installed in
accordance with the approved drawings and such directional hoods shall be
retained permanently.
(c) The applicant should demonstrate that the proposed lighting is the minimum
needed for security and working purposes and that the proposals minimise
pollution from glare and spillage.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the lighting
is installed and maintained in a manner which will minimise possible light pollution
to the night sky and neighbouring properties and to comply with DM Policy 27
Lighting of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
1)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular
application, positive discussions took place which resulted in further information
being submitted.

2)

As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form' to
the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must be
submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure to
follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on CIL
is available at: http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-planningpermission/application-process/Pages/Community-Infrastructure-Levy.aspx

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 49

3)

You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance
with the "London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution
and Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites" available on the Lewisham
web page.

4)

The applicant is reminded that Advertisement Consent is required for any signage
to the shopfronts.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
1) Submission drawings
2) Submission technical reports
3) Internal consultee responses
4) Statutory consultee responses

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
Georgia McBirney; Georgia.McBirney@Lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 7118

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 50

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

113-117 Kirkdale, SE26 4QJ

Page 53

Construction of an additional storey to the roof level to provide 3 one
bedroom self - contained flats at 113 -117 Kirkdale SE26, together with
internal and external alterations to the ground floor to provide 3 new
retail units and 1 two bedroom self-contained flat at the rear, installation
of replacement windows, formation of glazed balconies to the ground and
3rd floors, new steps and fencing and the provision of bin storage.

Application No. DC/21/122750
This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of X

Site Location Plan

Page 54

END

2 of X

Existing Context – Aerial view of site context

Page 55

END

3 of X

Existing Context – Street level

Page 56

END

4 of X

Existing Context – Heights of Buildings

Page 57

END

5 of X

Front Elevations

Page 58

END

6 of X

Rear Elevations

Page 59

END

7 of X

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Page 60

END

8 of X

Proposed Third Floor Plan

Page 61

END

9 of X

Key Planning Considerations

Page 62

•
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity
Transport and Highways
Sustainable Development

END

10 of X

Page 63

End of
presentation

END

11 of X

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Planning Committee C

36 Spring Hill, SE26 4LD
Date: 2nd December 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Sydenham
Contributors: Amanda Ghani

Outline and recommendations
The report has been brought before committee for a decision due to the submission of 12
objections from neighbouring properties, with a recommendation that the Committee
resolve to grant planning permission subject to the attached conditions and informatives.

Page 65

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/120633
Application Date:

22nd February 2021

Applicant:

Resi

Proposal:

Construction of a three-storey, one-bedroom separate dwelling to
the side of 36 Spring Hill, SE26, including associated landscaping,
cycle and bin storage

Background Papers:

(1) Submission drawings and documents
(2) Internal consultee responses

Designation:

Cobbs Corner Conservation Area, PTAL 3

Screening:

N/A

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

1

The site is the side amenity space attached to No.36 and is located on the eastern side
of Spring Hill, toward the bottom of the cul-de-sac. There is currently a single garage on
the site.

2

The only properties that front on to Spring Hill are the two terraces of three-storey
houses. No.36 is the northernmost end of terrace dwelling. The terraces were built in the
1970’s and are not of historic value.
Site Location Map

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 66

Character of area

3

The northern boundary abuts the rear boundaries of 35-45 (odd) Kinver Road. The site
is relatively small and tapers slightly, measuring 11m wide at the front, reducing to 8.4m
at the rear. Immediately adjoining the south is the modern infill terraces. To the east are
the rear gardens of the two storey terraced properties in Peak Hill Gardens and to the
west beyond the public highway are the side elevations of the rear gardens of Peak Hill
Avenue and Mendip Close.
Heritage/archaeology

4

The site is within the Cobbs Corner Conservation Area which was designated in 2007.
The conservation area consists of two distinct character areas. The first encompasses
the commercial properties surrounding the roundabout and western end of Sydenham
Road and includes two of the areas landmark buildings, the former Cobbs Corner Store
and the Greyhound Pub. The second area which the subject site falls within, comprises
residential streets to the north and north-west.
Surrounding area

5

The surrounding area comprises a mix of Victorian and modern terraced dwellings all of
distinctive styles and form. The site is within a two minute walk of Kirkdale and
Sydenham Road where there are local shopping parades and amenities.
Transport

6

The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 3 which is
considered modest, where on a scale of 1 to 6b, 1 is the lowest and 6 is the highest.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 67

However, the site is immediately adjacent to a PTAL 5 area which is considered to have
very good access to public transport and amenities. The Sydenham Railway Station is
within a five minute walking distance and there are bus stops for a number of bus routes
to Lewisham, Blackheath, Croydon, Crystal Palace and central London within a similar
walking distance.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
7

DC/20/119515 – Construction of a three-storey, two-bedroom separate dwelling to the
side of 36 Spring Hill, SE26 including associated landscaping, cycle and bin storage.
Refused 16/02/21

8

Reasons for refusal: 1) The proposed three storey dwelling, by reason of poor
appearance due to a lack of sufficient set-back and subservience, would appear as an
incongruous addition to the host terrace that would serve to harm the character of the
conservation area 2) The proposed dwelling would provide an unsatisfactory standard
of accommodation by reason of being undersized and providing no internal storage
space.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
9

The application is for the construction of a three-storey 1b2p dwelling house. The
dwelling house would be sited to the side of No.36 Spring Hill. Refuse and cycle storage
would be situated to the front of the site. No off street car parking is proposed as part of
the development.

10

The proposed three storey element would measure 7m deep, with the single storey rear
element 2.9m deep. The dwelling would have pitched roof with a maximum height of
10m and an eaves height of 7.9m. The width of the dwelling on the front elevation is
3.5m narrowing to 3.2m at the rear.

11

The dwelling would be set back 2m from the front elevation of the host terrace and built
up to the side boundary.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 68

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 69

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 70

COMPARISON WITH PREVIOUS SCHEME
12

The current application follows an earlier refusal. The key differences between the
previous application and the current application include the type of accommodation
proposed. The previous application was for a two bedroom dwelling. The current
application is for a one bedroom dwelling. The current application omits the single storey
element to the front and the set back from the front of the host terrace has been
increased from 500mm to 2m. The changes have been made to overcome the previous
reasons for refusal.

CONSULTATION
PRE-APPLICATION ENGAGEMENT
13

Pre-application advice was sought in November 2020 for demolition of the existing
garage and the erection of a three-storey, 2b4p dwelling with associated landscaping.

14

Officers advice was that the principle of development could be acceptable subject to the
scheme being justified in terms of scale, appropriate set backs, design, standard of
accommodation and neighbour impacts.

APPLICATION PUBLICITY
15

Site notices were displayed on 6th March 2021 and a press notice was published on 10th
March 2021.

16

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on 4th March 2021.

17

12 number responses received, comprising 12 objections, 0 support and 0 comments.

18

Subsequently, a virtual local meeting was arranged for 14th July 2021, which was chaired
by Cllr Lavery and attended by residents, the application team and planning officers. A
summary of the meeting is attached in Appendix 1.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

Overdevelopment of site.

Para. 80-81

Construction noise

Para.122

Does not fit in with the streetscene

Para.80

Poor design

Para.82-84

Limited amenity space for new dwelling

Para.56

Poor standard of accommodation

Para.53-66

No off street parking adding to on street
parking stress

Para.101-102

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 71

19

Harms the streetscene and character of
the area

Para.76-85

Too many infill developments in the
borough

Para.32-46

Poor outlook from the rooms

Para.57-61

Build family homes instead.

A family sized dwelling could not be
accommodated on this site.

Development would result In poor access
to light and outlook to 41, 43 and 45
Kinver Road

Para.111-120

A category B tree would be damaged

There are no trees on site.

Overshadowing of 39 and 41 Kinver Road

Para.117

Development would result In
uncomfortable and uncharacteristic
proximity of buildings appearing
overbearing and enclosing

Para.79-81

Loss of privacy to neighbouring properties

Para.114-120

Natural drainage will be insufficient, culde-sac is subject to flooding

Para.131-133

There is no garage

There is no existing garage on site and no
garage is proposed.

A number of other comments were also raised as follows:


Impact on physical and mental wellbeing during the pandemic and having to work from
home



Adjoining garden will be unusable during construction works.



Harm to structural stability of surrounding buildings



Legal covenant on land preventing another dwelling being built.



Dense foliage referred to in the design and access statement is on the side of No.36
Spring Hill.



Already plenty of homes in the area for sale or rent.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
20

The following internal consultees were notified on 4th March 2021

21

Conservation: raised objection. See para 79 for further details.

22

Highways: raised no objections subject to conditions. See para 96-103 for further details.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 72

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
23

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

24

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
25

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

26

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

27

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
28

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
29

Lewisham SPG/SPD:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 73



30

Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)
Small Sites Design Guide (October 2021)

London Plan SPG/SPD:





Character and Context (June 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Housing (March 2016)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
31

The main issues are:









Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

32

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

33

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

34

LPP H1 looks to increase housing supply by optimising the potential for housing delivery
on all suitable and available sites especially those within areas of PTAL 3-6 or which
are located within 800m distance of a station or town centre boundary. The current
application meets this criteria.

35

Lewisham is defined as an Inner London borough in the London Plan, which sets out the
Mayor of London’s vision for Inner London. This includes among other things sustaining
and enhancing its recent economic and demographic growth; supporting and sustaining
existing and new communities; addressing its unique concentrations of
deprivation; ensuring the availability of appropriate workspaces for the area’s changing
economy; and improving quality of life and health.

36

DM Policy 1 of the Development Management Local Plan states that ‘when considering
development proposals, the Council will take a positive approach that reflects the
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning
Policy Framework. It will work proactively with applicants to find solutions which mean

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 74

that proposals secure development that improves the economic, social and
environmental conditions of the borough.

37

The Core Strategy (CSP) recognises the Borough’s need for housing and outlines the
objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 2009/2010 and 2025. The London
Plan (LPP) at Policy H1 increases Lewisham’s ten-year (2019/20 - 2028/29) housing
target at 16,670, or 1,667 as an annualised average. Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ that links to Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing
Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of new housing to meet local need.

38

DM Policy 33 States that if a site is considered suitable for development, planning
permission will not be granted unless the proposed development is of the highest design
quality and relates successfully and is sensitive to the existing design quality of the
streetscape. This includes the spaces between buildings which may be as important as
the character of the buildings themselves, and the size and proportions of adjacent
buildings. Development on these sites must meet the policy requirements of DM Policy
30 (Urban design and local character), DM Policy 32 (Housing design, layout and space
standards) and DM Policy 25 (Landscaping and trees).

39

DM Policy 33 sets out that infill sites are defined as sites within street frontages such as
former builder’s yards, small workshops and garages, gaps in terraces and gardens to
the side of houses.

40

As an area of land with a street frontage, the application site represents an infill site and
as such would need to adhere to the criteria as set out in the policy.

41

The site is also considered ‘street extension infill development’ in the Small Sites SPD.

42

Paragraph 195 of the NPPF sets out that local planning authorities should identify and
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by the
proposal and take into account the impact of the proposal on a heritage asset, avoiding
or minimising any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of
the proposal.

43

Paragraph 202 of the NPP states that where a proposal will lead to less than substantial
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal.

44

The acceptability of the principle of development for construction of a new dwelling was
established in the previously refused application DC/20/119515.

45

The principle of residential development which would also achieve the wider benefit of
providing an additional home within the Borough is considered a planning merit. As
such, the principle of development is acceptable.

Principle of development conclusions

46

In summary, officers raise no objection to the principle of development, subject to
matters including design, standard of accommodation, neighbour impact and highways,
whilst ensuring a successful approach to respecting the conservation area.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 75

HOUSING
General Policy

47

National and regional policy promotes the most efficient use of land.

Residential Quality
General Policy

48

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

49

LPP D6 requires new homes to meet specific space and other standards. In addition,
DMP 32 requires all new residential developments to provide accommodation of a good
size, a good outlook, with acceptable shape and layout of rooms, with main habitable
rooms receiving direct sunlight and daylight, and adequate privacy.

50

The main components of residential quality are: (i) space standards; (ii) outlook and
privacy; (iii) overheating; (iv) daylight and sunlight; (v) noise and disturbance; (vi)
accessibility and inclusivity; and (vii) children’s play space.
Internal and external space standards
Policy

51

LPP D6 seeks to achieve housing development with the highest quality internally and
externally in relation to their context. Minimum space standards are set out in Table 3.1
of the London Plan.

52

The Technical Housing Standards (2015), Mayors Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG), London Plan Policy D6 and DM Policy 32 set out or make reference to
the minimum space standards required for amenity space to achieve housing
development that provides the highest quality of space externally in relation to its
context. LPP D6 states that ‘a minimum of 5sqm of private outdoor space should be
provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1sqm should be provided for each
additional occupant’
Discussion

53

Officers note that there is no minimum gross internal floor area for a 1b2p dwelling on
three floors. The nearest type of dwelling as outlined in the minimum standards table is
for a 1b2p dwelling on two floors which is shown in the table below.
Table [a]: Internal space standards target

No of
No. of
1 storey
bedrooms persons dwelling

2 storey
dwelling

3 storey
dwelling
(proposed
(target))

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 76

Built-in
storage
(proposed
(target))

1b 2p

(proposed
(target))

(proposed
(target))

(50)

(58)

(1.5)

54

The gross internal floor area is 65sqm which is considered acceptable. The proposal
also meets the requirements of LP Policy D6 in terms of the size of the double bedroom.

55

The floor to ceiling height of the dwelling would meet or exceed the 2.5m minimum
requirement for new dwellings, with the ground floor having a height of 2.6m and first
and second floors having a floor to ceiling height of 2.5m.

56

The proposal includes vertically dividing the existing rear garden, which would provide
43sqm of private rear outdoor space for the new dwelling and the retention of 59sqm of
the garden for the occupiers of No.36. The proposed private amenity space for the
dwelling exceeds the minimum requirement in accordance with LP Policy D6 and both
properties would have access to sufficient useable outdoor areas.
Outlook & Privacy
Policy

57

LPP D1(8) requires development to achieve appropriate outlook, privacy and amenity

58

DMLP Policy 32 expects all new units to provide a satisfactory level of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for future residents, which is also supported by the Mayors Housing
SPD. Furthermore, the London Plan Policy D6 requires the highest standards of
sustainable design and construction to be achieved, including the avoidance of singleaspect units.

59

London Plan Policies D6 and SI 4 seek to avoid internal overheating through design,
layout, orientation, materials and the incorporation of green infrastructure. The Mayors
Housing SPG also demonstrates that development proposals should achieve an
appropriate design of dwellings to avoid overheating without heavy reliance on energy
intensive mechanical cooling systems
Discussion

60

The main habitable rooms are orientated to the front (western) and rear (eastern)
facades with fenestration to allow daylight and sunlight into the rooms.

61

The dwelling would benefit from a good level of privacy, being suitably set back from the
public realm. The dwelling would be dual aspect which is considered sufficient to avoid
unacceptable overheating and would provide good outlook.
Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

62

DM Policy 32 (1)(b) expects new development to provide a satisfactory level of natural
lighting for its future occupiers

63

Daylight and sunlight are generally measured against the Building Research
Establishment (BRE) standards. This is not formal planning guidance and should be

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 77

applied flexibly according to context. The BRE standards set out below are not a
mandatory planning threshold.

64

In new dwellings, the BRE minimum recommended average daylight factor (ADF) is 1 %
for bedrooms, 1.5% for living rooms and 2 % for kitchens
Discussion

65

No daylight/sunlight assessment has been provided; but it is not considered necessary
for this scheme given its modest scale and the benefits already identified, namely the
unit being double aspect. As such, officers consider the daylight and sunlight levels to
be acceptable

Housing conclusion
66

Overall the proposed development would provide a good standard of residential
accommodation in compliance with LP Policy D6 and DMLP 32.

URBAN DESIGN & HERITAGE IMPACT
General Policy

67

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.

68

Heritage assets may be designated—including Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings,
Scheduled Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens, archaeological remains—or
non-designated

69

Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
gives LPAs the duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of Conservation Areas

70

Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

71

LPP HC1 states that where development would affect heritage assets, it should be
sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and architectural details.

72

CSP 16 ensures the value and significance of the borough’s heritage assets are among
things enhanced and conserved in line with national and regional policy

73

DMP 36 echoes national and regional policy and summarises the steps the borough will
take to manage changes to Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens so that their value and significance as
designated heritage assets is maintained and enhanced.

74

LPP D3, CS Policy 15 and DMLP DM30 requires that all new developments provide a
high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development in the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 78

vicinity. The Small Sites SPD is relevant to the current application and is considered
‘street extension infill development’

Appearance, character, form and scale.
Policy

75

LP Policy D3 requires all development to make the best use of land by following a
design-led approach that optimises the capacity of sites. The design-led approach
requires consideration of design options to determine the most appropriate for of
development that responds to a site’s context and capacity for growth.
Discussion

76

The subject site is considered a street extension infill development site as set out in the
Small Sites SPD. Street extension development should generally maintain the existing
building line and the height should generally follow that of the closest neighbour. Direct
overlooking of rear gardens should be avoided where possible.

77

As existing, No.36 forms an end of terrace property, being the last house of its modern
style before a transition is made to the rear elevations of Victorian dwellings on Kinver
Road. The terrace is one of two modern three-storey terraces that have staggered
frontages giving the terrace a curved appearance that follows the curve of the road. Nos
12 and 36 are the two end properties that are set back from the rear boundaries of
properties on Peak Hill Gardens and Kinver Road respectively. This part of the
conservation area is characterised by planned form and incidental spaces, mature large
canopy trees and views across back gardens, all of which creates relaxed and verdant
urban form.

78

Attention is drawn to the two reasons for refusal regarding the previous application for a
self- contained dwelling on this site. The previous proposal was considered harmful to
the conservation area due to its insufficient set back and lack of subservience to the host
terrace. The second refusal reason was regarding undersized accommodation.

79

The Conservation Officer has objected to the current proposal stating that an additional
house on the north end of this terrace would appear as overdevelopment of the original
concept and would erode the sense of space around the gardens of the neighbouring
terraces and thus diminish the spatial quality that gives the conservation area
significance. However, given the set back from the host terrace the level of harm is
considered to be less than substantial.

80

The proposed dwelling has been designed not to replicate the existing dwellings in the
terrace, but rather create a subservient addition, set back from the front and down from
the roof ridge. This is considered to be an appropriate response given the plot width is
narrower than the other plots in the host terrace. Due to its set back the dwelling would
not be visible from long views looking north along Spring Hill. The dwelling would appear
sufficiently subservient within the streetscene. The current application is considered to
overcome the previous application’s first reason for refusal. As such, the proposed
dwelling is not considered to result in harm to the streetscene and wider conservation
area and is not considered an overdevelopment of the site.

81

Furthermore, Officers note that a similar development was granted permission in 2016 to
the side of 34 Peak Hill Gardens. This new dwelling (No.36) directly abuts the rear of the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 79

subject site and like the subject site, is at the end of a no-through road. Officers consider
that due to the close proximity of this existing development, a precedent for this type of
infill development has been set in the immediate vicinity which has been shown not to
have such a harmful effect on the conservation area as to warrant a reason for refusal.
Detailing and Materials
Policy
DMLP Policy 30 requires the use of high quality materials that either match of
compliment existing development.
Discussion

82

The proposed dwelling would be built in London Stock brickwork and have a slate tile
roof, to match materials on the host terrace. The proposed aluminium windows are
considered acceptable with regards to placement, size and materiality, given that they
would not be read directly against the smaller windows apparent elsewhere on the
terrace. Aluminium is considered a high quality material and an appropriate response for
the site, as opposed to replicating the uPVC elsewhere on the host terrace.

83

The proposed materials are considered high quality and acceptable. A condition would
be added to ensure these materials are used and that design quality is maintained
throughout the development process.
The proposed dwelling is sympathetic in its form, scale, materials and architectural
details to the host terrace. Officers consider that the current proposal would lead to less
than substantial harm to the Cobbs Corner Conservation Area.

84

Paragraph 199 of the NPPF requires great weight to be given to the asset’s conservation
while para 202 requires harm to be weighed against any public benefits of the
proposal. The proposal would infill the area to the side of No.36 spring Hill and as such
would diminish the spatial quality at the end of this host terrace; however this is
considered to result in less than substantial harm to the streetscene and wider
conservation area. The provision of an additional dwelling is considered a wider public
benefit of the proposal. Officers conclude the public benefit outweighs the less than
substantial harm identified above.

Urban design and heritage impacts conclusion
85

Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment , are satisfied
the proposal would preserve the character and appearance of Cobbs Corner
Conservation Area. The provision of an additional dwelling is considered a significant
planning merit that outweighs the less than substantial harm identified above.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

86

Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of para 102. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 80

promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport mode.

87

Para.109 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe”.

88

Regionally, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (‘the MTS’, GLA, March 2018) sets out the
vision for London to become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport
become the most appealing and practical choices. The MTS recognises links between
car dependency and public health concerns

89

Policy T1 of the London Plan (2021) sets out the Mayor’s strategic approach to transport
which aims to encourage the closer integration of transport and development. This is to
be achieved by encouraging patterns and nodes of development that reduce the need to
travel, especially by car; seeking to improve the capacity and accessibility of public
transport, walking and cycling; supporting measures that encourage shifts to more
sustainable modes and appropriate demand management; and promoting walking by
ensuring an improved urban realm.

90

Core Strategy Policy 14 ‘Sustainable movement and transport’ promotes more
sustainable transport choices through walking, cycling and public transport. It adopts a
restricted approach on parking to aid the promotion of sustainable transport and
ensuring all new and existing developments of a certain size have travel plans

Servicing and refuse
Policy

91

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road

92

CSP 13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.

93

DMLP 29 requires new development to have no negative impact upon the safety and
suitability of access and servicing

94

Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23
Discussion

95

A refuse store would be provided at the front of the site. No further details were
submitted with the application to ensure that the storage facilities for waste and recycling
containers meets at least BS5906:2005 standard. In light of this, officers consider it
reasonable to secure the proposed details by condition. Officers consider it appropriate
that the refuse store should feature a green roof to increase bio-diversity of the site.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 81

Transport modes
Walking and cycling
Policy

96

Development should give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within
the scheme and within the neighbouring area. Development should create places that
are safe, secure and attractive, minimising the scope for conflicts between pedestrians,
cyclists and vehicles.

97

Cycle storage space should be provided in accordance with LPP T5, table 10.2 and
London Cycle Design Standards. Developments should provide secure, integrated,
convenient and accessible cycle parking facilities in line with the minimum standards.
Discussion

98

The property would be provided with cycle storage for two bicycles to the front of the
site. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of cycle parking
provision, adhering to London Plan standards.
Private cars
Policy

99

LPP T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMLP 29 require developments to take a restrained
approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent excessive car
parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport use. Table
10.3 of the London Plan sets the maximum car parking standards for residential
developments. The site has a PTAL 3 rating and under LPP T6 the maximum allowance
for off street parking is 0.5 spaces per household.
Discussion

100

No off street parking is proposed as part of this development.

101

No parking survey data was provided by the applicant. However, officers note there are
unrestricted on street parking opportunities in the immediate vicinity which is likely to
safely accommodate the small amount of parking that could be generated by the
proposal. The restricted approach to off-street parking is consistent with the parking
standards in the London Plan and would not give rise to an unacceptable level of harm
in terms of parking, given the size of the development.

Transport impact conclusion
102

In summary, the proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on
the surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the
conditions recommended above.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 82

103

NPPF para.130 sets sets an expectation that new development will be designed to
create places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing
and future users. At para 180 it states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health and living conditions. This is reflected in relevant policies of
the London Plan, the Core Strategy (CP15), the Local Plan (DMP32) and associated
guidance (Housing SPD 2016, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

104

LPP D3 states that development proposals should deliver appropriate outlook, privacy
and amenity as well as mitigating noise levels.

105

DMP32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours

106

Further guidance is given in Housing SPD 2017, GLA. The Council has published
the Alterations and Extensions SPD (2019) which establishes generally acceptable
standards relating to these matters, although site context will mean these standards
could be tightened or relaxed accordingly. The main impacts on amenity arise from: (i)
overbearing enclosure/loss of outlook; (ii) loss of privacy; (iii) loss of daylight within
properties and loss of sunlight to amenity areas; and (iv) noise and disturbance
Enclosure, Outlook, access to Daylight and Privacy
Policy

107

Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of development is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.

108

Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise

109

DMLP 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for its neighbours. Additionally, the justification for DMLP 32 at
paragraph 2.250 advises that there should be a minimum separation distance of 21m
between directly facing habitable room windows on main rear elevations.
Discussion

110

36 Spring Hill

111

The single storey element of the proposed house would extend 2.9m beyond the rear
wall of the house at 36 Spring Hill at a height of 3.1m. Due to the orientation of the
application site, the proposal would not give rise to a significant overshadowing impact
on No.36. Whilst the presence of the building would be noticeable, due to its depth it
would not give rise to a significant overbearing impact. There would be no issues
regarding loss of privacy.

112

36 Peak Hill Gardens.

113

No.36 Peak Hill Gardens which abuts the rear of the site, has an existing single storey
rear extension. The distance between the rear elevation of the existing extension and
the rear elevation of the proposed new dwelling would be 20.6m. There is also a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 83

standard height (1.8m) boundary fence between both rear gardens. As a consequence
there would be no significant impact on the occupiers of No.36 Peak Hill Gardens in
terms of overlooking or overshadowing.

114

39 to 45 Kinver Road

115

The side elevation of the proposed dwelling would be approximately 9m from the rear
elevations of the three-storey rear projections of Nos. 39-43 Kinver Road which abut the
northern boundary. One window is proposed in the ground floor of the side elevation.
The window would be high level and obscure glazed, servicing the kitchen/diner. As
such there would be no issues regarding overlooking or loss of privacy to these
neighbours.

116

The proposed single storey rear element would extend 1.8m along the rear boundary of
No.39 Kinver Road at a height of 3.1m. The proposed development would extend along
the entire rear boundary of No.41 Kinver Road ranging in height from 3.1m to 10m. The
proposed development would extend 2.9m along the rear boundary with No.43 Kinver
Road at a height ranging from 7.9m to 9.6m. The proposed dwelling is comparable in
height to the existing terrace and the site is within a built up urban area. Whilst the
development would result in an increase in visual impact when viewed from the rear
windows and rear gardens of the Kinver Road properties due to it being sited closer than
the existing terrace; a sufficient distance between the rear elevations of the Kinver Road
properties and the development would be retained to prevent any significant
overshadowing or loss of light to the rear windows.

117

The front elevation of the proposed dwelling would be set back approx.2.3m from the
rear garden of No.45 Kinver Road. There would be no issues with overlooking from
windows in the front elevation to this rear garden since the windows at ground and first
floor levels would service the staircase and bathroom (which would have an obscure
glazed window). The second floor windows service the staircase and a bedroom. Due to
the narrow width of the bedroom at the front of the dwelling, views from this window are
likely to be acute and not significant to warrant a reason for refusal.

118

All the windows in the rear elevation would be set in 2m from the side elevation and give
views directly over the rear garden of the proposed site. As a consequence there would
be no direct overlooking of rear gardens in Kinver Road.

119

As such, any sense of enclosure would not be so significant to warrant a reason for
refusal.

Noise and disturbance
Policy

120

The NPPF at para 174 states decisions should among other things prevent new and
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of noise pollution. Development should help
to improve local environmental conditions. Para 185 states decisions should mitigate and
reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new
development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and the
quality of life
Discussion

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 84

121

The introduction of a new residential property within a residential area is not considered
to result in any significant long-term material impacts in terms of noise and disturbance.
The construction phase of development is likely to introduce short-term disturbances to
the surrounding properties, however that is an inevitable consequence of development
and is not considered a material consideration in this case. Hours of noisy work are
controlled by other legislation, and an informative is proposed in order to draw the
Applicant’s attention to Lewisham’s Good Practice guide

Impact on neighbours conclusion
122

Officers consider that the proposal would be acceptable and would have no significant
harm upon the amenities of surrounding properties. Officers also note that the previous
two reasons for refusal did not include any significant detrimental impact on
neighbouring amenity.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
General Policy

123

NPPF para.152 sets an expectation that planning will support transition to a low carbon
future. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan and the Local Plan.

124

CS Objective 5 sets out Lewisham’s approach to climate change and adapting to its
effects. CSP 7, CSP 9 and DMLP 22 support this.

Sustainable Urban Drainage and water efficiency.
Policy

125

LPP SI 12 expects development proposals to ensure that flood risk is minimised and
mitigated.

126

CSP 10 requires applicants to demonstrate that the most sustainable urban drainage
system that is reasonably practical is incorporated to reduce flood risk, improve water
quality and achieve amenity and habitat benefits.

127

LPP GG6 requires developments to make efficient use of water and reduce impacts from
natural hazards like flooding.

128

The proposed development is located within Flood Zone 1 and is at high risk of surface
water flooding. The NPPF requires a flood risk assessment to be undertaken for
proposals that are subject to a high risk of surface water flooding within Flood Zone 1.

129

The proposal should include plans for managing surface water and for making sure there
is no increase in the volume of surface water and rate of surface water runoff.

130

To mitigate surface water flooding, all surface water from the main roof of the new
dwelling, the existing dwelling and frontage will be captured and directed into an
underground tank to the front of the site. Water directed here will be directed into the
mains at a controlled rate.

131

The proposed dwelling would incorporate water saving and efficiency measures that
comply with Regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G 2 of the Building Regulations to ensure that a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 85

maximum of 105 litres of water is consumed per person per day. All water would be
supplied through a water meter.

Sustainable Infrastructure conclusion
132

The proposed development is acceptable with regard to flood risk and water
management.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
General Policy

133

Contributing to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing
pollution is a core principle for planning

134

The NPPF and NPPG promote the conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment (chapter 15) and set out several principles to support those objectives.

135

The NPPF at paragraph 185 states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as
the sensitivity of the site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the development
Green spaces and trees
Policy

136

Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2021) requires that decisions should contribute to and
enhance the natural and local environment. DM Policy 25 seeks to ensure that
applicants consider landscaping and trees as an integral part of the application and
development process
Discussion

137

The existing site makes little contribution to the natural environment and given the size of
the site there is limited opportunity to secure improvements. The proposal does however
include retention of a lawn to the rear of the property and lawn to the frontage. The
applicant proposes additional trees and hedges where appropriate to promote privacy
and bio-diversity. However, no further details of landscaping have been specified. In
light of this officers consider it reasonable to secure both soft and hard landscaping
details by condition.

Natural Environment conclusion
138

The proposal is acceptable in terms of natural environment, subject to conditions.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
139

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 86



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

140

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

141

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

142

£5,850.00 Lewisham CIL and £3,865.18 MCIL is estimated to be payable on this
application, subject to any valid applications for relief or exemption, and the applicant
has completed the relevant form. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability
Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
143

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

144

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

145

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

146

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 87

147

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

148

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

149

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act and therefore it has been concluded tat
there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
150

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

151

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

152

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

153

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new building with residential uses.
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1,
Article 1 are not considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 88

CONCLUSION
154

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

155

The principle of an additional dwelling at this site is supported as it is situated in a
sustainable urban location. The proposed development is acceptable in terms of scale,
form, design and materials. Significant weight is given to the planning merit of additional
housing.

156

The proposal would have no unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties in terms of
enclosure, outlook and privacy, noise or disturbance. There would be no significant
negative impact on the local transport network or parking.

157

Harm has been identified by the conservation officer in terms of the loss of the open
space to the side of No.36 which would diminish the spatial quality that is a
characteristic of the conservation area. However, this harm is not considered so critical
as to outweigh the planning merit of an additional dwelling.

RECOMMENDATION
158

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
55800-1100 Rev.A; 55800-1101 Rev.A; 55800-1200 Rev.A; 55800-1201 Rev.A;
55800-1300 Rev.A; 55800-1500 Rev.A; Site Plan (Received 1st March 2021)
55800-3100 Rev.B; 55800-3101 Rev.B; 55800-3200 Rev.B; 55800-3201 Rev.B;
55800-3300 Rev.B; 55800-3500 Rev.B; 55800-3600 Rev.B; 55800-3601 Rev.B
(Received 8th November 2021)
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

3)

MATERIALS

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 89

a. No development above ground shall commence on site until a detailed
schedule of all external materials and finishes/ windows and external doors/ roof
coverings, to be used on the buildings, including details of privacy screening
have been reviewed and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b. The scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the buildings and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character, DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to existing buildings including
residential extensions

4)

HARD LANDSCAPING
(a) Prior to any works taking place drawings showing hard landscaping of any
part of the site not occupied by buildings (including details of the
permeability of hard surfaces) shall be submitted and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.
(b)

All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under
part (a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management
in the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character.

5)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
a. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the development shall not be
occupied until details of refuse and recycling facilities including food waste
bin and details of the biodiversity living roof have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b. The facilities as approved under part (a) of this condition shall be provided
in full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).

6)

CYCLE STORAGE
a. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the development shall not be
occupied until details of the cycle parking facilities that are safe, covered and

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 90

weatherproofed including details of the biodiversity living roof shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b. The cycle parking facilities approved under part (a) of this condition shall
be provided in full and made available for use prior to occupation of the
development and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 14:
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011) and DM Policy
24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

7)

SOFT LANDSCAPING
(a) A scheme of soft landscaping (including proposed plant numbers, species
and location) and details of the management and maintenance of the
landscaping for a period of five years shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to construction of the above
ground works.
(b)

All planting, seeding or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting and
seeding seasons following the completion of the development, in
accordance with the approved scheme under part (a). Any plants which
within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Core Strategy Policy 12 Open space
and environmental assets, Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core
Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 25 Landscaping and trees and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).
8)

OBSCURE GLAZING
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), the new windows to be installed in the ground floor northern elevation and
the bathroom window in the first floor of the western elevation of the building
hereby approved shall be fitted as obscure glazed to a minimum of Level 3 on the
‘Pilkington Scale’ and retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To avoid the direct overlooking of adjoining properties and consequent
loss of privacy thereto and to comply with DM Policy 31 Alterations and
extensions to existing buildings including residential extensions, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards, of the Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014).
9)

BOUNDARY TREATMENT

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 91

(a)

Details of the proposed boundary treatments including any gates, walls or
fences shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority prior to construction of the above ground works.

(b)

The approved boundary treatments shall be implemented prior to
occupation of the buildings and retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure that the boundary treatment is of adequate design in the
interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy 15 High
quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).
10)

CONSTRUCTION LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT PLAN
No development shall commence on site until a Construction Logistics
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The plan shall demonstrate the following:(a)

Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.

(b) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips to
the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of construction vehicle
activity.
(c)

Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.

The measures specified in the approved details shall be implemented prior to
commencement of development and shall be adhered to during the period of
construction.
Reason: In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011),
and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction of the London Plan (March
2021).

INFORMATIVES
1)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
pre-application advice was given and positive discussions took place which
resulted in further information being submitted.

2)

You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance
with the “London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution
and Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites” available on the Lewisham
web page

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 92

3)

BACKGROUND PAPERS
(1) Submission drawings
(2) Submission technical reports
(3) Internal consultee responses.

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
159

Amanda Ghani, amanda.ghani@lewisham.gov.uk 0208 314 9417

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1: Summary of virtual local meeting on
14th July 2021
· Chair: Cllr Lavery
· LB Planning: Amanda Ghani and James Hughes
· Agent/Applicant: Mr Edghill and Mr Hood on behalf of Resi.
Summary of virtual local meeting Cllr Lavery opened the meeting at 7pm and introduced the
panel and explained the reason for the meeting. The planning agent gave a presentation in
respect of the proposed development and stated that amendments had been made to the
scheme. Questions/discussion points were raised in the chat function of the meeting. The
first question was a query as to why was a garage being referred to. The agent stated that
there is an existing storage unit on site, where the proposed new dwelling would be sited.
Concerns were raised by neighbours in respect of the view from the rear of properties in
Kinver Road. Existing foliage to the rear of No.41 Kinver Road has been removed which
would result in a highly visible side elevation of the proposed development. It was suggested
look of the proposal on this boundary. The side elevation of the proposal would be directly
behind No.43 and the neighbour raised concerns regarding overshadowing and loss of
daylight and wanted to know if the boundary treatment would be kept. The existing fence
would be retained. The agent in his presentation showed some overshadowing modelling
which was considered not to be so different from the existing situation to warrant a reason
for refusal. The modelling also showed that the rear windows of the Kinver Road properties
would not lose direct access to daylight.
Concerns were raised regarding the overlooking of the rear garden of No.45 Kinver Road
from windows in the proposed front elevation. The agent stated that some obscure glazing to
the front elevation is already proposed. The upper floor bedroom window would not be
obscure glazed but due to the width of the room at this point, there would be limited
overlooking if any from this window. The agent also mentioned that the rear windows would
be off-set to prevent overlooking to neighbouring gardens. Planning Officers also mentioned
that a condition can be attached to ensure obscure glazing is installed and retained in
perpetuity.
Concerns were raised regarding noise pollution and the hours of construction. Whilst it was
acknowledged that a certain amount of noise would be generated by the construction
process, an informative could be added advising that all construction work be undertaken in
accordance with the ‘London Borough of Lewisham code of practice for control of pollution
and noise from demolition and construction sites.’ Neighbours questioned what could be
done to reduce the impact of dust and detritus on site. The agent stated that hoardings and
netting could be erected to contain any detritus and that sprinkling water of site was just one
of the ways to mitigate against dust. The agent stated that the construction process should
take between 4 and 7 months to complete. As no demolition was required, other than
removing the existing storage unit, low level construction machinery would be used. The
agents stated that onsite construction workers would be told to do everything they could to
support neighbours during the construction process.
Planning Officers stated that there are a number of conditions available regarding managing
construction which could be applied to ensure good practice during the construction phase.

Page 95

Concerns were raised regarding existing on street parking pressures. Officers noted these
points to bring to the attention of the Highways Officer.
Planning Officers advised that there is no right of appeal for objectors. Cllr Lavery closed the
meeting at 8pm.

Page 96

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

36 Spring Hill, SE26 4LD

Page 99

Construction of a three-storey, one-bedroom
separate dwelling to the side of 36 Spring Hill,
SE26, including associated landscaping, cycle
and bin storage.
Application No. DC/21/120633
This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of X

SITE LOCATION PLAN

Page 100

END

2 of X

Site Location Arial- Context

Page 101

END

3 of X

View of the Front elevation of
No.36

View of the side and rear
elevations of No.36.

Page 102

END

4 of X

4

Proposed Ground & First Floor Plans

Page 103

N

END

5 of X

5

Proposed Second Floor and Roof Plan

Page 104

END

6 of X

Proposed Front & Rear Elevations

Page 105

END

7 of X

Proposed Northern & Southern (Side) Elevations

Page 106

END

8 of X

Proposed 3D Views

Page 107

END

9 of X

9

Proposed 3D View Looking North

Page 108

END

10 of X

Key Planning Considerations

Page 109

•
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Natural Environment

END

11 of X

11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Planning Committee C

Report title:

46 RINGMORE RISE, LONDON, SE23 3DE
Date: 2nd December 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Forest Hill
Contributors: Samuel James

Outline and recommendations
Type here, Arial size 11.
The report has been brought before committee for a decision due to the submission of four
objections from neighbouring properties and a local amenity society.
Recommendation: that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission subject to the
attached conditions and informatives

Page 111

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/119404
Application Date:

20 November 2020

Applicant:

Mr Cummings, BE57 Asset Management

Proposal:

The demolition of 46 Ringmore Rise SE13 and the construction of a
two storey plus basement, plus roof space semi detached building
consisting of 2x four bedroom dwellings, together with the provision
of cycle and refuse storage, 1 off-street parking space and
associated landscaping.

Background Papers:

(1) Submission drawings and documents

Designation:

Air Quality Management Area

Screening:

None

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

1

The application property is a single family dwellinghouse located on the southern side of
the road, just east of the right-angle bend that links the top of Ringmore Rise round to
Horniman Drive.

2

The existing property is a bungalow. The western side of the front elevation protrudes
forwards by 1.8m and has hipped roofslopes. The eastern side of the roof is gable
ended, and to this side of the bungalow is an existing garage with a flat roof.

3

The internal floor level of the bungalow is set below street level by approximately 2
metres, and as a result there is an existing excavated area between the back of the
driveway, and the front elevation of the house. There are steps down from the drive to
access the front door of the house, as well as a sloping section for vehicular access to
the garage.

4

The plot continues to fall relatively steeply toward the rear boundary.

5

The plot measures 34.5 metres deep, by 13.5 metres wide at the front boundary,
increasing to 16m wide at the rear boundary.

Character of area

6

The site lies high on the Forest Hill ridge within the Tewkesbury Lodge Estate, in a
residential area which comprises dwellings dating mainly from the inter-war period. The
vast majority of properties in this part of Ringmore Rise are detached houses. Most are

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 112

two-storey, but there are several bungalows, such as that on the application site. The
site is in an elevated location and the surrounding ground level slopes downwards
towards the north and west, so that most houses have impressive views north and west
toward central London. The topography is such that houses on the east side of
Ringmore Rise are elevated by several metres above road level, whereas the properties
on the west of the road, such as the application property have their ground levels set a
metre or even several metres below the road.

7

The far end of Ringmore Rise has a consistent roofscape of hipped roofs however closer
to the site there is greater variation in roof form including pitched roofs, hip to gable
extensions and other individually designed properties such as No.30 Horniman Drive,
located on the corner of Horniman Drive and Ringmore Rise.
Heritage/archaeology

8

The property is not within a conservation area nor is it subject to an Article 4 Direction.
The property is not nor is it adjacent to a listed building.
Surrounding area

9

The area is predominantly residential in nature and has a suburban character.

10

Adjoining the rear of the site to the south is the Horniman Primary School, and the
Horniman Museum and gardens lies slightly further south.
Transport

11

The PTAL rating of the site is 3, and is considered well connected.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
12

DC/14/87162 – 11 June 2014 – Planning permission was refused for the construction of
a single-storey front and side infill extension and an additional storey at first floor level,
plus new roof, to provide a four-bedroom house at 46 Ringmore Rise, together with the
provision of 1 car parking space.
The applicant lodged a successful appeal against the decision and the scheme was
allowed on the 30th of April 2015 under appeal decision APP/C5690/D/14/2225090.

13

DC/14/88701 – 31 October 2014 – Planning permission was granted for the demolition
of the existing garage and construction of a single-storey extension to the side of 46
Ringmore Rise, together with the excavation of a new lower ground floor to provide
additional accommodation, with light wells to the front and projecting glazed roof light to
the rear, alterations to the front garden, including new vehicular crossover, driveway and
landscaped areas.

14

DC/14/89595 – 12 December 2014 – A certificate of Lawful Development was issued in
respect of the demolition of the existing garage and the construction of a single storey
extension to the side of 46 Ringmore Rise.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 113

15

DC/14/90131 – 4th February 2014 – A Certificate of Lawful Development was issued for
the construction of two hip to gable roof extensions and a dormer in the rear roof slope
at 46 Ringmore Rise SE23, together with obscure glazed windows in the gable end.

16

DC/15/090901 - 28th August 2015 – permission was refused for the construction of two
hip to gable roof extensions and a dormer in the rear roof slope at 46 Ringmore Rise
SE23, together with obscure glazed windows in the gable end. This was subsequently
allowed at appeal (APP/C5690/W/15/3139055)

17

DC/15/91023 – 28 August 2015 - Planning permission was granted for the demolition of
the existing green house and garage to the side of 46 Ringmore Rise SE23 and the
construction of a single storey side extension incorporating living space.

18

DC/15/92466 – 28 August 2015 - Planning permission was granted for the construction
of a single storey extension with crown roof to the rear 46 Ringmore Rise. (lapsed)

19

DC/16/97710 – 23 September 2016 - Planning permission was granted for the
construction of a single storey extension to the rear of 46 Ringmore Rise SE23. (not
implemented)

20

DC/18/106932 – 2 November 2018 - Planning permission was granted at committee for
the demolition of the existing garage and the construction of a single-storey front and
side infill extension, an additional storey at first floor level, plus new roof incorporating 8
roof lights, to provide a four-bedroom house at 46 Ringmore Rise SE23, together with
the provision of 1 car parking space. (not implemented).

21

DC/19/110358: Planning permission was granted at committee on 31 October 2019 for
The construction of a single storey extension with crown roof to the rear of 46 Ringmore
Rise SE23, together with the provision of a bin and refuse store at the front.

22

DC/18/109965: Planning permission granted on 3 July 2020 for demolition of the existing
garage and the construction of a ground and lower ground floor extension to the side,
excavation to create a new lower ground floor level, creation of 2 lightwells to the front
and a lightwell to the rear with a glazed rooflight above at 46 Ringmore Rise, SE23,
together with alterations to the front garden landscaping, closure of existing, and
installation of a new vehicluar crossover, bicycle store and tree planting. (not
implemented).

23

DC/20/117479: Planning permission was granted on 26th November 2020 for the
demolition of 46 Ringmore Rise, SE13, and the construction of a two storey plus
basement building, consisting of 1x four bedroom dwelling, with an associated two
bedroom annexe, including provision of cycle and refuse storage, 1x off-street parking
space including a new vehicular crossover, and associated landscaping. (not
implemented).

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
24

The proposal is for demolition of the existing bungalow and the construction of a two
storey, plus basement and roofspace building consisting of two x four bedroom

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 114

dwellinghouses; together with associated landscaping, including the provision of an offstreet parking space and bin and bicycle storage.

COMPARISON WITH PREVIOUS SCHEME
25

The design and external appearance of the proposed building is very similar to that
approved under DC/20/117479: which was granted on 26th November 2020 for the
demolition of 46 Ringmore Rise, SE13, and the construction of a two storey plus
basement building, consisting of 1x four bedroom dwelling, with an associated two
bedroom annexe, including provision of cycle and refuse storage, 1x off-street parking
space including a new vehicular crossover, and associated landscaping.

26

The key material difference is that the proposal is now for two individual self-contained
dwellings comprising two distinct planning units.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
27

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on 14 December 2021.

28

4 number responses received, comprising 4 objections.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

By virtue of the relative design, size,
proportion and position, the proposed
development would detrimentally affect
the character and streetscape of
Ringmore Rise

108

Decrease in size of rear garden

112

would result in an overbearing
development and reduce sunlight
reaching, and considerably reduce the
outlook from neighbours

141

Loss of privacy

148

The proposal for the demolition of an
existing dwelling is contrary to Lewisham’s
Planning policy on the loss of existing
habitable dwellings.

49

Two dwellings would result in
overdevelopment

61

Groundwater flooding / localised drainage
impacts and land stability issues

163

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 115

29

A number of other comments were also raised as follows:

30

This is the applicant’s 20th application - This is not an issue that is material to planning.
Applicants are entitled to assessment of any proposal.

31

Restrictive covenant in the deeds which only allows one dwelling - This is not an issue
that is material to planning. It is a civil issue.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
32

The following internal consultees were notified on 10 December 2020.

33

Highways: Did not comment.

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
34

The following External Consultees were notified on 10 December 2020:

35

Thames Water: No objections, subject to informative notes.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
36

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
37

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

38

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

39

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE



National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 116



National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
40

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
41

Lewisham SPG/SPD:




42

Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)
Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (February 2015)

London Plan SPG/SPD:









Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
London’s Foundations (2012)
Character and Context (June 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
Housing (March 2016)
Energy Assessment Guidance (October 2018)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
43

The main issues are:









Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 117

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

44

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

45

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

46

The London Plan at Table 4.1 sets a 10 year housing completion target of 16,670 new
homes between 2019 and 2029 for Lewisham, and London Plan Policy H1 requires
boroughs to optimise the potential for housing delivery on all suitable and available
brownfield sites through their planning decisions.

47

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) speaks of the need for delivering
a wide choice of high quality homes, which meet identified local needs (in accordance
with the evidence base), widen opportunities for home ownership, and create
sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.
Discussion

48

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing two bedroom dwelling, and the
construction of a new building consisting of two four bedroom dwellings.

49

The existing building is of no historical or architectural merit, and it could be demolished
through an application for demolition prior approval. Furthermore a planning application
for its demolition and the construction of a new building has been approved recently.

50

Therefore officers consider the principle of demolition to be acceptable, subject to the reprovision of housing on site.

51

As two new family sized dwellings would be provided, the principle of development is
acceptable. There would be a net increase of one family sized dwelling which would
make a small contribution to Lewisham’s housing supply.

52

The acceptability of the scheme is subject to a proposed building of an appropriate scale
and design, which would have an acceptable impact on the surrounding area, including
on the amenities of neighbours and the local highways network. These matters are
discussed in the following sections of this report.

HOUSING
53

This section covers: (i) the contribution to housing supply, including density; (ii) the
dwelling size mix; (iii) the standard of accommodation; and (iv) total affordable housing
proposed and its tenure split.
Contribution to housing supply
Policy

54

National and regional policy promotes the most efficient use of land.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 118

55

LPP D2 sets out that the density of development proposals should consider, and be
linked to, the provision of future planned levels of infrastructure and be proportionate to
the site’s connectivity and accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport to jobs
and services (including both PTAL and access to local services).

56

London Plan Policies H1 and D6 support the most efficient use of land and development
at the optimum density. Defining optimum is particular to each site and is the result of the
design-led approach. Consideration should be given to: (i) the site context; (ii) its
connectivity and accessibility by walking and cycling and existing and planned public
transport (including PTAL); and (iii) the capacity of surrounding infrastructure.
Discussion

57

The proposal would provide two four bedroom dwellings, and contribute one additional
dwelling to the housing market.

58

Table 2 below sets out the measures of density criteria required by the supporting text to
LPP D3 (para 3.3.22 of the LP) for all sites with new residential units.
Table [ 2 ]: Measures of Density

Criteria

Value

Criteria/area

Site Area (ha)

A 0.05

n/a

Units

W2

40

Habitable rooms

X 12

240

Bedrooms

Y8

160

Bedspaces

Z 11

220

Summary

59

Policy D6 of the Draft London Plan states for London to accommodate the growth
identified in this Plan in an inclusive and responsible way every new development needs
to make the most efficient use of land. This will mean developing at densities above
those of the surrounding area on most sites. The design of the development must
optimise density.

60

Whether the scale of development is appropriate for the site and surrounding area, the
impact on neighbouring occupiers, and accessibility are all relevant factors when
determining optimum density, and these are considered in following sections of this
report.

61

It is considered therefore that the proposed increased density on this site is acceptable,
and would not result in an over-intensification of the site, subject to assessment of the
following matters.

Residential Quality
General Policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 119

62

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

63

The main components of residential quality are: (i) space standards; (ii) outlook and
privacy; (iii) overheating; (iv) daylight and sunlight; (v) noise and disturbance; (vi)
accessibility and inclusivity; and (vii) children’s play space.
Internal space standards
Policy

64

The ‘Technical housing standards – nationally described space standards’ sets out the
minimum floorspace requirements for dwellings.

65

DMP 32 ‘Housing design, layout and space standards’ and LPD6 of the London Plan
require housing development to be of the highest quality internally, externally and in
relation to their context. These polices set out the requirements with regards to housing
design, seeking to ensure the long term sustainability of the new housing provision.
Discussion

66

The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes.
Table [ 3 ]: Internal space standards – proposed v target

67

Unit type (min
req. GIA)

Unit size
Room sizes (m²) (min
(GIA) (sqm) req.)

Amenity space
(m²)

House
1

4b6p, 4 storey
(121)

204

Bed 1 (d) – 11.5 (11.5)
Bed 2 (s) – 9.4 (7.5)
Bed 3 (s) – 13
Bed 4 (d) – 15.7

130

House
2

4b5p, 4 storey
(112)

189

Bed 1 (d) – 12 (11.5)
Bed 2 (s) – 9.7 (7.5)
Bed 3 (s) – 13.2
Bed 4 (s) – 10

100

The proposed dwellings would both exceed the minimum required floor areas for the
number of bedrooms and occupants, and the individual room sizes would also exceed
the minimum requirements. In this respect occupants of the proposed dwellings would
be provided with a high standard of residential amenity.

Outlook & Privacy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 120

Policy

68

London Plan Policy D1(8) requires development to achieve ‘appropriate outlook, privacy
and amenity”. Policy D4 seeks to maximise the provision of dual-aspect dwellings (i.e.
with openable windows on different elevations).

69

DMP 32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its future residents.
Discussion

70

The new dwellings would have at least dual aspects and good levels of glazing serving
all rooms. It is therefore considered appropriate levels of outlook would be provided to all
dwellings.

71

The proposed dwellings would not be directly overlooked by existing neighbouring
properties, and therefore the levels of privacy would be acceptable.

72

Overall the levels outlook and privacy provided to future residents would be acceptable,
in line with Policy DM32.
Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

73

The London Housing SPD and the Lewisham Alterations and Extensions SPD promote
access to sunlight and natural daylight as important amenity factors, particularly to living
spaces. LPP Table 3.2 states that site layout, orientation and design of dwellings should
provide privacy and adequate daylight for residents.
Discussion

74

Due to the good levels of glazing proposed on multiple elevations for each of the
proposed dwellings, and the fact the majority of living rooms would have southerly facing
aspects, the proposed dwellings would be provided with acceptable levels of natural
daylight.

75

No BRE study has been submitted in support of the application, but considering the
scale of the proposal, and the above, officers are satisfied the proposal would be
provided with acceptable levels of daylight and sunlight.
External space standards
Policy

76

LPPD6H requires all new one bedroom dwellings to be provided with at least 5m² private
external amenity space, and another 1m² for each additional occupant.
Discussion

77

Table 3 shows that all dwellings would be provided with well in excess of the minimum
required external amenity space. The rear gardens would be large, and suitable for
children’s play. This is considered to be acceptable, and the provision of external
amenity space would be acceptable and in line with DMP32 and PLPPD6.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 121

Access
Policy

78

DMP32 states that new residential development should be designed to ensure that
internal layout and external design features ensure that housing is accessible to all
intended users.
Discussion

79

The external access to the new houses will be via a step free slightly inclined path from
the pavement. It is noted the existing property is accessed via steps from the driveway
down to entrance level.

80

The proposed house and annexe entrances would be accessed by a main internal lobby
at street level, with steps leading down to lower, and up to upper ground levels internally.

81

The submitted design and access statement confirms that internally all areas will
conform to Part M(1) of the building regulations and the staircase can accommodate for
future use, a stair lift with minimal adaption.

82

Officers therefore consider the proposal to be suitably accessible. Notwithstanding,
accessibility is also assessed at the building control phase for a development of this
scale.
Summary of Residential Quality

83

The proposed units would be of a high quality standard of accommodation and meet with
the quality considerations of the London Plan and local policy and guidance.

Housing conclusion
84

The proposal would contribute one additional family dwelling to the Borough’s housing
targets in a residential location, making efficient use of land and optimising density.

URBAN DESIGN
General Policy

85

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.

86

Policies D1 and D2 of the London Plan (2021), require development to have regard to
the form, function and structure of an area and the scale, mass and orientation of
surrounding buildings.

87

CSP 15 outlines how the Council will apply national and regional policy and guidance to
ensure highest quality design and the protection or enhancement of the historic and
natural environment, which is sustainable, accessible to all, optimises the potential of
sites and is sensitive to the local context and responds to local character.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 122

88

DMP 30 requires planning applications to demonstrate a site specific response which
creates a positive relationship with the existing townscape whereby the height, scale and
mass of the proposed development relates to the urban typology of the area.

Appearance and character
Policy

89

In terms of architectural style, the NPPF encourages development that is sympathetic to
local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape
setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (para
130).

90

London Plan Policy D3 states that development should enhance local context by
delivering buildings and spaces that positively respond to local distinctiveness through
their layout, orientation, scale, appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and
emerging street hierarchy, building types, forms and proportions. Proposals should be of
high quality, with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough
consideration to the practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through
appropriate construction methods and the use of attractive, robust materials which
weather and mature well.

91

DM Policy 30 requires planning applications to demonstrate a site specific response
which creates a positive relationship with the existing townscape whereby the height,
scale and mass of the proposed development relates to the urban typology of the area.

92

DM Policy 32 expects new residential development to be attractive and neighbourly.
Discussion

93

Firstly it is noted that the height, massing and scale of the proposed building is
commensurate with the building that has been granted planning permission under
DC/20/117479.

94

One side of the proposed roof would be hipped, and the other would have a gable end,
which is consistent with the existing permission.

95

The single side gable roof form, although not symmetrical when viewing the property
from the front, would not be a highly visible element when viewed from the street. The
property would be set back by 9m from the street, and down from street level, due to the
slope of the front garden, and the existing ground levels. Therefore when approaching
from the east, due to existing boundary treatments the roof would be hardly visible.
Notwithstanding, the gable end is not considered to appear overly bulky, and it would not
cause visual harm to the surrounding area. The height of the proposed building is
considered to be acceptable, as it respects surrounding development.

96

The proposal includes a lower ground and ground floor rear extension with a flat roof,
with a depth of 3.7m from the rear elevation, and a height of 4.1m at the eaves. Although
this is relatively high for a rear extension, it is due to the sloping nature of the garden.

97

The rear roof slope would include 2 dormers. These would have an acceptable
appearance, and they are in line with the guidance for rear dormers set out in the
Alterations and Extensions SPD.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 123

98

The proposal also includes a basement with lightwells to the front, and an excavated
lower ground terrace to the rear. The basement excavations would create two lightwells
to the front, one either side of the proposed access to the front doors. The lightwells
would be terraced. The maximum depth of the lightwell below the existing driveway
would be approximately 3.7m, and 3.2m forwards the front elevation.

99

The alterations and extension SPD states that front lightwells will usually be acceptable
where the following factors can be adequately addressed: impact on character of the
property and the street; usable space for refuse and cycle storage; provision of soft
landscaping and drainage. It goes on to state that they should not extend more than
1.5m from the original front of the property, or be more than one third of the width of the
original property. Basement development must not materially harm local character or
add visual clutter.

100

In this case, the lightwells would extend more than 3m from the front of the original
property; however, there is an existing area of excavation between the front elevation,
and the back of the driveway, which extends 1.8m from the front elevation. The visual
impact of the new lightwells would therefore not be significant, and it would not be
harmful to the appearance of the property or local character. The 9m set back of the
property, and existing set down from the street would further reduce the visual impacts.

101

Similarly, although the width of the lightwells in total would be greater than one-third the
property width, the whole area to the front of the property is already 2m lower than the
ground level of the driveway area directly in front of it, and there would be no additional
horizontal excavation in front of the property.

102

The lightwell windows would match and align with those above at ground floor level,
which would minimise their visual impact. Nonetheless, these windows would be
approximately 2.5m lower than the retaining wall of the driveway, and it is considered the
basement windows would not be highly visible from the street.

103

The lightwells would be terraced at varying heights to allow for various planting. The
planting scheme will be secured by condition, which will further soften any impact of the
proposed lightwells, and ensure appropriate integration with the street scene.

104

The proposed site plan indicates space for cycle and refuse storage, as well as one offstreet car parking space, and tree planting and soft landscaping, which is in line with the
SPD guidance.

105

To conclude, the introduction of the basement would not harm the appearance of the
property or the surrounding area, as the lightwells to the front would be hardly
perceptible from street level, due to the existing ground level changes to the front of the
house.

106

It is also noted that lightwells of the same scale and appearance were approved under
application DC/20/117479.

107

The scale of the proposal overall would not exceed that of the new dwelling that was
granted planning permission under DC/20/117479, and the design is very similar.

108

The scale, massing and appearance of the proposal is therefore considered to be
acceptable, and the proposed building would have an acceptable impact on the
character of the surrounding area.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 124

Layout
Policy

109

The Alterations and Extensions SPD states that basement development must retain
sufficient garden space, and usable front garden space for soft landscaping, refuse and
cycle storage, where necessary.

110

DMP 25 requires the submission of a landscape scheme, including 5 years of
management and maintenance of high quality hard and soft landscapes and trees.

111

DMP32 requires the siting and layout of new residential development to respond
positively to the site specific constraints and opportunities as well as to the existing
context of the surrounding area. They must also meet the functional needs of future
residents.
Discussion

112

As a result of the proposed development sufficient rear garden space would be retained.
Furthermore, the front garden would still be large enough to accommodate one off-street
parking space, as well as refuse and cycle storage for the proposed house.

113

The proposed site plan indicates planting of several trees and soft landscaped areas,
within and around the terraced lightwells, as well as towards the front of the site.

114

As existing the front garden consists of mostly hard landscaping, and the majority of it is
at a significantly higher level than the floor level of the house, meaning there is a
retaining wall and steep drop of approximately 1.6m, however there is a slope down one
side between the road and the existing garage. The proposed front garden would
improve the appearance at the front of the property compared to the existing situation.

115

The final details of the proposed scheme of landscaping and front boundary treatment
will be secured through condition. Subject to suitable details, the proposed scheme of
landscaping would be compliant with DMP25 and DMP32.
Detailing and Materials
Policy

116

Policy D3 of the London Plan requires development proposals to be of high quality, with
architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough consideration to the
practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through appropriate
construction methods and the use of attractive, robust materials which weather and
mature well.
Discussion

117

The walls of the proposed house would be finished in render. The majority of
surrounding houses are finished externally in render, and therefore the use of render is
considered to be acceptable. The proposed roof tiles, and aluminium framed windows
are also appropriate. In order to ensure high quality and durable materials are used, a
condition requiring a full schedule and specifications of materials to be submitted for
approval is recommended.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 125

Urban design conclusion
118

In summary, the proposed building is considered to be a high quality, site specific
response. It is of an appropriate height and scale, and would use high quality materials.
The design of the proposal is therefore acceptable, and in line with the aforementioned
policies.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

119

NPPF Paragraph 110 states that planning decisions should ensure safe and suitable
access to the site for all users, and that any significant impacts from the development on
the transport network, or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.

120

Para 111 of the NPPF states ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on
transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or on the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’.

121

CSP 14 ‘Sustainable movement and transport’ promotes more sustainable transport
choices through walking, cycling and public transport. It adopts a restricted approach on
parking to aid the promotion of sustainable transport and ensuring all new and existing
developments of a certain size have travel plans.

122

The site has a PTAL rating of 2, on a scale of 0 (worst) to 6b (best) accessibility to public
transport, meaning it is has average accessibility to public transport.

Local Transport network, Access and car parking
Policy

123

The NPPF requires safe and suitable access for all users. Paragraph 110 states that in
assessing application for development it should be ensured that appropriate
opportunities to promote suitable transport modes can – or have been taken up and that
amongst other things safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.
Paragraph 111 states development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

124

LP Policy T6, CS Policy 14 and DMLP Policy 29 identifies that car limited development is
be supported.
Discussion

125

Due to the scale of development, the proposal would not have a significant impact on the
local transport network in terms of capacity of the road network, or public transport.

126

There is an existing crossover to access the driveway and garage, and the front
forecourt is mostly hardstanding.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 126

127

It is proposed to provide one off-street car parking space, accessed from the existing
crossover.

128

The provision of one parking space for two dwellings is consistent with Policy T6 of the
London Plan, which sets maximum parking standards, depending on the level of
accessibility. For a site with a PTAL of 2 the maximum standards are 0.5 spaces per
dwelling.

129

No parking survey has been submitted, but officers are satisfied the addition of one
dwelling, would not result in harmful levels of parking stress in the surrounding area.
During construction

130

A Construction Management Plan to set out a programme of works for demolition and
construction, and to detail numbers and frequency of deliveries at each stage and the
types and size of vehicles carrying out these operations is recommended to be secured
by condition.

131

During assessment of the previous proposal DC/20/117479, which was for works of a
commensurate scale to those now proposed, it was determined by the highways officer
that vehicles would not be able to turn into the existing driveway without overrunning the
kerb and it is therefore likely that some damage will occur to the footway. The applicant
is therefore required to pay for the construction of a temporary heavy-duty crossover and
any subsequent repair works. Additional temporary traffic management measures are
likely to be required to prevent vehicles from parking opposite the site as a large vehicle
would need to use the full width of the carriageway to turn in to the site.

132

A condition requiring a Section 278 agreement to be entered into prior to
commencement is therefore recommended, which would secure the required highways
works, before works commence. This is consistent with the previous permission for a
similar development at the site.

133

Subject to details submitted in respect of the construction management plan, and
Section 278 agreement, officers consider the impact on the local highway network to be
acceptable, in line with CSP14

Cycle parking, Servicing and refuse
Policy

134

Policy T5 of the Publication London Plan states development proposals should create a
healthy environment in which people choose to cycle, and should provide cycle parking
in accordance with the minimum standards set out in table 10.2.

135

Development should give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within
the scheme and with neighbouring area. Development should create places that are
safe, secure and attractive, minimising the scope for conflicts between pedestrians,
cyclists and vehicles.
Discussion

136

Bicycle storage would be provided for each dwelling in stores to the front, with 2 spaces
for each. This is consistent with Policy T5 of the London Plan. To ensure these are
secure and dry, final details are recommended to be secured by condition.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 127

Transport impact conclusion
137

The proposal would have an acceptable impact on the local transport network, in line
with the above mentioned policies.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

138

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the Publication London Plan
PLPPD3, the Core Strategy (CP15), the Local Plan (DMP32) and associated guidance
(Housing SPD 2017, GLA).

139

The main impacts on amenity arise from: (i) overbearing enclosure/loss of outlook; (ii)
loss of privacy; (iii) loss of daylight within properties and loss of sunlight to amenity
areas; and (iv) noise and disturbance.
Enclosure and Outlook
Policy

140

Policy DM32 expects new residential development to result in no harmful increased
sense of enclosure and no significant loss of outlook to neighbouring dwellings.
Discussion

141

The side elevation of the proposed building would be the same distance from the
boundary shared with Nos.30, 32 and 34 Horniman Drive as the existing garage – 1m.
The rear elevation of No.32, the closest property to the side extension, would be at least
24m away, and these properties are located uphill, so the additional mass of the building
would have no significant impact on the outlook of these properties, and it would not
cause any enclosing impacts.

142

The rear extension element would be at least 2m from the shared boundary with No.44,
and 3m from its side elevation. There is an existing 2-storey extension at No.44, and the
proposed house would not extend rearwards of this. Therefore it would have no
significantly harmful impacts on the outlook of the rear facing windows at ground floor
level.

143

Notwithstanding this assessment, it is also noted that existing permission for proposals
of the same scale as the current proposal have been previously assessed as having an
acceptable impact on neighbouring outlook and sense of enclosure.

Privacy
Policy

144

DMP32(1)(b) expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its neighbours.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 128

Discussion

145

The front and rear facing windows at first floor level would have a similar impacts of
overlooking as the existing property, and the impacts would be similar to the majority of
normal detached dwellings, there would be not be any proposed windows facing towards
neighbouring properties’ rear elevations.

146

A window would be installed in each side elevation at first floor level, however these
would serve bathrooms, and would be obscure glazed, so would not cause issues of
overlooking to neighbours.

147

It is noted that as originally submitted, the proposal included a roof terrace at first floor
level. Officers advised the applicant to remove this element as it would not be
acceptable, due to possible overlooking issues for neighbours.

148

In light of the above, the impact to neighbouring privacy would be acceptable, in line with
the development plan.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

149

The Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight
and Sunlight’ 2011, sets out standardised criteria for the assessment of planning
applications including the 25 degree, and 45 degree ‘rules’.
Discussion

150

The main front and rear elevations of the proposed house would align with the existing
house on site.

151

There would be no impact on daylight and sunlight to Horniman Drive properties, due to
the separation distance from their rear elevations and the side boundary with the host
property.

152

Due to the separation distance of the lower ground and ground floor rear protrusion from
the boundary with No.44, together with the southerly orientation of the gardens, there
would not be any significant impact on daylight and sunlight to their garden or internally.

153

Notwithstanding this assessment, it is also noted that proposals of the same scale as the
current proposal have been previously assessed as having an acceptable impact on
neighbouring daylight and sunlight.

Noise and disturbance
Policy

154

DM policy 32 requires new residential development to be neighbourly, and development
in residential areas should not result in harm to existing residents through unsociable
noise and disturbance.
Discussion

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 129

155

As this is residential area the proposed residential use is compatible and the levels of
domestic noise generated are unlikely to be significantly harmful to neighbouring
residents.

Impact on neighbours conclusion
156

The impact on neighbouring residential amenity has been assessed against the relevant
policies and guidance, and no significant harm has been identified to neighbouring
occupiers’ residential amenity.

Flood Risk
Policy

157

The property is in Flood Risk Zone 1, meaning the risk of river flooding is low.

158

The Alterations and Extensions SPD states that basement development must support
sustainable drainage and not increase the instances of flooding or exacerbate drainage
problems. It goes on to state that Development in flood zones 2 and 3, and in areas of
localised flooding, are to be accompanied by a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment,
prepared by a suitably qualified professional.
Discussion

159

In this case the proposal is in Flood Risk Zone 1, so a site-specific Flood Risk
Assessment is not required.

160

However, as there has previously been some anecdotal comments suggesting there
could be some historic ground water flooding risk in the area, the previous application
was approved subject to the condition that a below ground survey report be submitted to
and approved in writing by the council.

161

These will include the existing ground conditions and how these will affect the
foundation, structural and drainage designs (civils). The survey will be expected to look
at the ground make up and any presence of below ground water. The survey and
detailed design for both structural and civil engineering will be carried out by a specialist
engineer who will also be a specialist / hydrologist / geologist.

162

As a result of this survey and detailed design, detailed method statements would be
provided and detailed monitoring and proactive contingency plans of what action will be
taken should an unexpected underground water source be found / disrupted.

163

The Council’s Flood Resilience manager was consulted on the submitted document
during assessment of a previous application for basement development on site
(DC/18/106932), and raised no objection to the scheme, subject to discharge of a
suitably worded, pre-commencement condition requiring the results of the surveys, and
any proposed mitigation that is required to minimise the risks to be submitted to and
approved by the Council.

164

The proposed front garden has significant areas of soft landscaping, and the hard
landscaping paving slabs will be required to be permeable, an improvement on the
existing situation. The proposed rear garden is predominantly grass, as existing. The
final details of soft and hard landscaping are proposed to be secured by condition.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 130

165

Subject to submission of suitable details relating to landscaping, and the ground
condition survey, the risk of impacts to localised flooding would be suitably mitigated in
line with Policy 10: Managing and reducing the risk of flooding of the Core Strategy
(2011); and the Alterations and Extensions SPD (2019).

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
166

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

167

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

168

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

169

£22,680 Lewisham CIL and £11,340 MCIL is estimated to be payable on this application,
subject to any valid applications for relief or exemption, and the applicant has completed
the relevant form. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
170

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

171

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

172

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

173

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 131

have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

174

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

175

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

176

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
177

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

178

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

179

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 132

Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

180

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new building with residential use.
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1 are
not considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
181

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

182

The proposed residential development would achieve a number of the urban design and
spatial planning objectives set out in the Core Strategy, including the following planning
merits to which significant weight is attached:
-

Increasing the housing potential of a residential site, including one additional family
sized dwelling.

-

Comprising an appropriate scaled and high quality building that takes account of the
existing context, including neighbouring residential amenity.

-

The scale of the proposed development is acceptable, and the building has been
designed to respond to the context and constraints including adjacent residential
development.

-

The proposal would optimise the potential of the site and the development would
provide a high standard of accommodation for future residents of the proposed family
sized homes.

183

Given the acceptability of the proposed use and policy compliance, the proposal is
considered to be in accordance with the development plan as a whole.

184

The NPPF is underpinned by a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Officers consider that with the recommended planning conditions in place, the scheme is
consistent with national policy.

185

In light of the above, the application is recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION
186

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 133

Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application plans,
drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
1294/TR/01; Site Location Plan; 1294/EX-03; 1294/EX-10; 1294/EX-11; 1249/PL-05;
1249/PL-13 Received 10 December 2020;
1294-PL-10 Rev.B; 1294-PL-11 Rev.B Received 19 October 2021;
1294-PL-12 Rev.B; 1249-PL-13 Rev.A; 1294-PL-14 Rev.A Received 20 October 2021
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

3.

No development shall commence on site until a scheme to minimise the threat of dust
pollution during site clearance and construction works (including any works of
demolition of existing buildings) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the demolition
and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise possible
noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties, including the adjacent
school and to comply with Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction of the
London Plan (March 2021).

4.

No development shall commence on site until a Construction Logistics Management
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The plan shall demonstrate the following:(a)

Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.

(b) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle trips to the
site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of construction vehicle activity.
(c)

Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.

The measures specified in the approved details shall be implemented prior to
commencement of development and shall be adhered to during the period of
construction.
Reason: In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply with
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and
Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction of the London Plan (March 2021).
5.

No development above ground shall commence on site until a detailed schedule and
specification of all external materials and finishes, windows and external doors and
roof coverings to be used on the building have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the building(s) and to comply with Policy 15 High quality

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 134

design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character.
6.

(a)

No development above ground level shall commence until details of proposals
for the storage of refuse and recycling facilities for each residential unit hereby
approved, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

(b)

The facilities as approved under part (a) shall be provided in full prior to
occupation of the development and shall thereafter be permanently retained and
maintained.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the provisions
for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding the amenities
of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance with Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham waste management
requirements (2011).
7.

(a)

Prior to above ground works drawings showing hard landscaping of any part of
the site not occupied by buildings (including details of the permeability of hard
surfaces) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

(b)

All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under part
(a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of
the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management in the London
Plan ( March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy
(June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) Policy 25
Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character.
8.

(a)

(b)

No development shall commence on site until :(i)

A full below ground condition survey report, prepared by a suitably
qualified engineer, to characterise and risk assess the site, to include the
existing hydrological ground conditions and make up, and whether the
presence of below ground water has been identified, has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

(ii)

The report must identify how the existing ground conditions will affect the
foundation, structural and drainage designs, and any required mitigation
against increased possibility of flooding that may be found.

(iii)

Developement shall not commence until the required mitigation pursuant
to part (ii) has been agreed in writing, and the development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved measures.

If during any works on the site, ground water is encountered which has not
previously been identified, the Council shall be notified immediately and the
terms of paragraph (a), shall apply to the new groundwater. No further works
shall take place on that part of the site or adjacent areas affected, until the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 135

requirements of paragraph (a) have been complied with in relation to the new
ground water.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding in accordance with Policies 5.12
Flood risk management and 5.13 Sustainable drainage of the London Plan (2016);
Objective 6: Flood risk reduction and water management, and Policy 10: Managing
and reducing the risk of flooding of the Core Strategy (2011); and the Alterations and
Extensions SPD (2019).
9.

(a) Prior to the commencement of the development, an agreement pursuant to S278
of the Highways Act 1980 shall be entered into for the following works:


The construction of a temporary heavy duty crossover and any subsequent
repair works to reinstate the crossover, once works have been completed.



Any additional temporary traffic management measures, as and if required by
Lewisham Highway technicians, to prevent vehicles from parking opposite the
site (because a large vehicle may be required to use the full width of the
carriageway to turn in to the site).

(b) The heavy duty crossover, and any required additional traffic management
measures works, shall be implemented prior to commencement of the
development.
(c) Repair works, including reinstatement of a standard crossover shall be completed
prior to occupation of the residential development hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the free flow of traffic or
conditions of general safety along the neighbouring highway and to comply with the
Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011).
10.

(a)

A scheme of soft landscaping (including details of any trees or hedges to be
retained and proposed plant numbers, species, location and size of trees and
tree pits) and details of the management and maintenance of the landscaping
for a period of five years shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority prior to construction of the above ground works.

(b)

All planting, seeding or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting and
seeding seasons following the completion of the development, in accordance
with the approved scheme under part (a). Any trees or plants which within a
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the details of
the proposal and to comply with Core Strategy Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets, Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core
Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 25 Landscaping and trees and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).
11.

(a)

Details of the proposed boundary treatments including any gates, walls or
fences shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority prior to construction of the above ground works.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 136

(b)

The approved boundary treatments shall be implemented prior to occupation of
the buildings and retained in perpetuity.

Reason: To ensure that the boundary treatment is of adequate design in the
interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).
12.

No extensions or alterations to the building(s) hereby approved, whether or not
permitted under Article 3 to Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying
that Order) of that Order, shall be carried out without the prior written permission of
the local planning authority.
Reason: In order that, in view of the nature of the development hereby permitted, the
local planning authority may have the opportunity of assessing the impact of any
further development and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011).

13.

Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), the use of
the flat roof on the building hereby approved shall be as set out in the application and
no development or the formation of any door providing access to the roof shall be
carried out, nor shall the roof area be used as a balcony, roof garden or similar
amenity area.
Reason: In order to prevent any unacceptable loss of privacy to adjoining properties
and the area generally and to comply with Policy 15 High Quality design for Lewisham
of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 31 Alterations and extensions to
existing buildings including residential extensions, DM Policy 32 Housing design,
layout and space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).

14.

The whole of the car parking accommodation shown on drawing nos. 1249/PL-10
Rev.B hereby approved shall be provided prior to the occupation of any dwelling and
retained permanently thereafter.
Reason: To ensure the permanent retention of the space(s) for parking purposes, to
ensure that the use of the building(s) does not increase on-street parking in the
vicinity and to comply with Policies 1 Housing provision, mix and affordability and 14
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (June 2011), DM Policy 29
Car Parking of the Development Management Local Plan, (November 2014), and
Policy T6.1 Car parking and Table 10.3 of the London Plan (March 2021)

15.

No deliveries in connection with construction works shall be taken at or despatched
from the site other than between the hours of 8 am and 6 pm on Mondays to Fridays
and 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays.
No work shall take place on the site other than between the hours of 8 am and 6 pm
on Mondays to Fridays and 8 am and 1 pm on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or
Public Holidays.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 137

Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of adjoining occupants at unsociable
periods and to comply with Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration, and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and
space standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
a)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the detailed
advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application, positive
discussions took place which resulted in further information being submitted.

b)

As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form' to
the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must be
submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure to
follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on CIL is
available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-forplanning-permission/application-process/Pages/Community-InfrastructureLevy.aspx

c)

In preparing the scheme of dust minimisation, reference shall be made to the London
Councils Best Practice Guide: The Control of Dust and Emissions from Construction
and Demolition. All mitigation measures listed in the Guide appropriate to the size,
scale and nature of the development will need to be included in the dust minimisation
scheme.

d)

The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require approval
by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application forms are
available on the Council's web site.

e)

You are advised that this permission must not be construed as overriding any legal
rights which the existing tenant of the property may have.

F)

Thames Water advise the following:
“A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water
Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he
will undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit
enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by
telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk .
Application forms should be completed on line via
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http://www.thameswater.co.uk__;!!CVb4j_0G!BLlrFQ63D
obZ04fELFexF1lc9pc-29P-xF1UqVsM1GvYdWHZMVjAQSijbU3Ula-yNPWRmw$ .

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 138

Please refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers; Groundwater discharges
section.
Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from
Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you require further
information please refer to our website.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewaterservices__;!!CVb4j_0G!BLlrFQ63DobZ04fELFexF1lc9pc-29PxF1UqVsM1GvYdWHZMVjAQSijbU3Ula8HZ4hGGA$
As required by Building regulations part H paragraph 2.36, Thames Water requests
that the Applicant should incorporate within their proposal, protection to the property
to prevent sewage flooding, by installing a positive pumped device (or equivalent
reflecting technological advances), on the assumption that the sewerage network may
surcharge to ground level during storm conditions. If as part of the basement
development there is a proposal to discharge ground water to the public network, this
would require a Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water. Any
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution
under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer
to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken to minimise groundwater
discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames
Water's Risk Management Team by telephoning 02035779483 or by emailing
trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk . Application forms should be completed on line via
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http://www.thameswater.co.uk__;!!CVb4j_0G!BLlrFQ63D
obZ04fELFexF1lc9pc-29P-xF1UqVsM1GvYdWHZMVjAQSijbU3Ula-yNPWRmw$ .
Please refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers; Groundwater discharges
section.
The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Waters
underground assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if
appropriate measures are not taken. Please read our guide 'working near our assets'
to ensure your workings are in line with the necessary processes you need to follow if
you're considering working above or near our pipes or other
structures.https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developi
ng-a-large-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!BLlrFQ63DobZ04fELFexF1lc9pc-29PxF1UqVsM1GvYdWHZMVjAQSijbU3Ula9tAvGmGQ$ . Should you require further
information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to Friday,
8am to 5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court, Vastern
Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB
If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, it's important you
let Thames Water know before you start using it, to avoid potential fines for improper
usage. More information and how to apply can be found online at
thameswater.co.uk/buildingwater.
The proposed development is located within 15m of Thames Waters underground
assets, as such the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate
measures are not taken. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to ensure
your workings are in line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you're
considering working above or near our pipes or other structures.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 139

pipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!BLlrFQ63DobZ04fELFexF1lc9pc-29PxF1UqVsM1GvYdWHZMVjAQSijbU3Ula9tAvGmGQ$ . Should you require further
information please contact Thames Water. Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk
Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head
(approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames
Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the
design of the proposed development.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
187

(1) Submission drawings and documents

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
188

Samuel James, samuel.james@lewisham.gov.uk, 020 8314 3722

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 140

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

46 Ringmore Rise, SE23 3DE
Application No. DC/20/119404
Page 143

The demolition of 46 Ringmore Rise SE13 and the
construction of a two storey plus basement, plus roof space
semi-detached building consisting of 2x four bedroom
dwellings, together with the provision of cycle and refuse
storage, 1 off-street parking space and associated
landscaping.
This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of X

Page 144

Site Location Plan

END

2 of X

Page 145

Contextual View From North-East

END

3 of X

Page 146

Contextual View from North West

END

4 of X

Approved front elevation (DC/20/117479:

Current proposal:

Page 147

Current proposal (street elevation):

Proposed Front Elevation

END

5 of X

Approved rear elevation (DC/20/117479):

Current proposal:

Page 148

Proposed Rear Elevation

END

6 of X

Current proposal:

Page 149

Approved east side
elevation
(DC/20/117479:

Proposed Eastern Elevation

END

7 of X

Current proposal:

Page 150

Approved west side
elevation
(DC/20/117479:

Proposed Western Elevation

END

8 of X

Page 151

Proposed Ground Floor Plan and Landcscaping

END

9 of X

Proposed Second Floor:
Proposed First Floor:

Proposed Lower Ground:
Page 152

Proposed Lower Ground and First Floor Plans

END

10 of X

Key Material Planning Considerations:

Page 153

•
•
•
•

Principle of Development / Housing provision
Urban Design
Transport and Highways impacts
Impact on Neighbouring Residential Amenity

Summary

1111 of 14

Page 154

Existing Rear Elevation Photograph

END

12 of X

Page 155

View towards No.44 Ringmore Rise (left) and 32/34 Horniman Drive (right)

END

13 of X

Page 156

Rear of Nos. 32 & 34 Horniman Drive from shared boundary

END

14 of X

Agenda Item 6

Planning Committee B

Report title:

19 HAREDON CLOSE, LONDON, SE23 3TG
Date: 02nd Dec 2021
Key decision: No
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Forest Hill
Contributors: Zahra Rad

Outline and recommendations

The report has been brought before the committee for a decision due to the
submission of four objections from neighbouring properties.

Page 157

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/120670
Application Date:

02 March 2021

Applicant:

Enviroform Associates

Proposal:

Construction of a first floor rear extension at 19 HAREDON
CLOSE, SE23, together with a loft extension

Background Papers:

Submission drawings and documents

Designation:

PTAL 3
Air Quality Local Open Space Deficiency
Not in a Conservation Area
Not a Listed Building

Screening:

N/A

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

1

The application relates to an end of terrace property at the bottom of Haredon Close at
No 19. The site is an irregular shaped plot and benefits from a moderate size back and
side garden. The existing property benefits from a two storey side projection on the
southern elevation and a single storey lean-to extension to its rear.

2

The property is not located within a conservation area, nor is it close to a listed building
or non-designated heritage asset.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 158

Character of area

3

The area is predominantly residential in nature and comprises of mostly terraced
properties.
Surrounding area

4

The One Tree Hill allotments and Camberwell New Cemetery are approximately 200m to
the north-west of the subject site. There are local shopping parades 200m to the west
(Burnt Ash) and 800m to the south at Grove Park.
Transport

5

The property is within 10 minutes walking distance from Honor Oak Park Station, and
has a PTAL rate of 3.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
6

DC/10/073766/FT - Lawful Development Certificate in respect of the construction of a
single storey extension to the rear of 19 Haredon Close SE23. Granted 16 Jun 2010.

7

DC/15/094298 - The construction of a two storey extension to upper ground floor and
first floor to the rear of 19 Haredon Close SE23. Withdrawn on 22/03/2016.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
8

The proposal is for the construction of an additional first floor on top of the existing
extension, with a dormer to the top of the proposed sloped roof. The first floor extension
would have the same width and depth of the exiting single storey extension at the
ground floor (3m x 3m).

9

The proposed extension would have a slopped roof which is the continuation of the
existing roof on this side at the top of the projection, with a dormer extension. The
existing loft would be converted to a habitable space by constructing a dormer with a
depth of 2m, a height of 1.25m with a flat roof which, would set back from the eaves by
1m. The total height of the proposed back projection would be 7.75m (including the
existing single storey extension) from the garden level which would be 1.7m lower than
the existing roof.

10

One window would be introduced to the first floor side elevation, which would serve the
additional dining room space with a similar opening style to the existing windows to the
side, but with smaller size. One window to the dormer would be introduced which serves
the new bedroom at the loft level.

11

The material to be used would be brick veneer to timber framed walls on the first floor
and tile cladding to timber framed walls on the upper extension. The windows are
proposed to be uPVC framed.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 159

Figure 1 Proposed Rear Elevation

Figure 2 Proposed Side Elevation

CONSULTATION
PRE-APPLICATION ENGAGEMENT
No pre-application advice was sought from the council regarding the proposal. As the
scheme is a householder, no pre-application consultation with the local community was
required.

APPLICATION PUBLICITY
12

Site notices were displayed on 16 March 2021.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 160

13

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area, the relevant ward
Councillors on 04 March 2021.

14

Five responses were received, comprising four objections.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

Not beneficial for the cul de sac: The
house is of multiple occupation and with
this comes multiple vehicles which will
park on Haredon Close which is a cul de
sac with only limited space.

47

Overlooking/loss of privacy: the window to
the side will directly overlook to the back
gardens

38 and 45

Layout and density of building: change the
original development by extending to the
side

34

Design, appearance and materials: would
present an extremely overbearing brick
wall, resulting poor visual amenity

37

Comments in support

15

None

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
16

No internal consultees were notified due to the nature of this application

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
17

No external consultees were notified due to the nature of this application

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
18

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 161

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
19

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

20

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

21

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
22

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
23

Lewisham SPG/SPD:



24

Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)

London Plan SPG/SPD:




Character and Context (June 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 162

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
25

The main issues are:





Principle of Development
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

26

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

27

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.
Principle of development conclusions

28

The Development Plan is generally supportive of people extending or altering their
homes. The principle of development is supported, subject to details.

29

Objections highlighted the use of the property as HMO. The application site is in use as
a single family dwellinghouse. The application proposes householder development and
the use of the property is not material to the planning decision.

URBAN DESIGN
General Policy

30

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

31

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

32

DMLP 30, Urban design and local character states that all new developments should
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity. The London Plan, Core Strategy and DMLP policies further reinforce the
principles of the NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality urban design.

Appearance and character
Policy

33

DMP 31 states that extensions will not be permitted where they would adversely affect
the architectural integrity of a group of buildings as a whole or cause an incongruous
element in terms of the important features of a character area.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 163

Discussion

34

The scheme has been assessed against sub-paragraphs at 4.3 ‘Two storey extensions’
of the Alterations and Extensions SPD which sets out guidance for two storey rear and
side extensions. The SPD states that scheme should:

 demonstrate that the characteristics and integrity of the host property is
maintained/enhanced and that the impact on neighbouring properties is not
significant.

35

The proposed extension to the rear and the alterations to the side elevation would not be
visible from the Haredon Close due to the layout of the application site. An objection
highlighted that the development would change the original appearance of the property.
It is noted the extending the property to the side and rear is established and the existing
position is lawful. On balance and given the existing position, the proposed scheme is of
a modest scale and effectively extends an existing extension. It is not considered to
harm the character of the area as it would only be partially visible from the side garden of
the application site, the far end of the back garden at Boveney Road and partially visible
from the back garden of the other properties at Haredon Close.

36

The first floor would align with the side and rear elevation of the existing side extension,
with the same material and features. The total height of the proposed back projection
would be 7.75m from the garden level which would be 1.7m lower that the existing roof
facing the cul de sac, which complies with SPD guidance.

37

Although the proposed development would add to the bulk and mass of the main
building its appearance is similar to the existing side elevation, and would be compatible
with the characteristics of the area. Therefore, the bulk and the scale of the proposal
would remain sufficiently subordinate to the host building and are considered
acceptable.

38

The window to the side would have similar style of the existing one to the side but is
proposed to be smaller (1.2m x 1.3m), therefore this insertion would not change the
architectural character of the host building. The window would serve the dining room
and would be facing towards the back gardens of the properties on Boveney Road at
oblique angles. Its impact on the neighbours will be assessed below. The rear dormer
window would serve the new bedroom, and would be obscure. While officers accept that
dormer roof extensions are not a typical feature of the post war terraces in the area, they
are a common feature of the houses along Boveney Road.

39

The proposed materials would be similar to the existing, which would not harm the
appearance of the host building.

Urban design conclusion
40

In summary, the extension, due to its design and use of material, would preserve the
character and appearance of the host dwelling and would be in keeping with the
character and appearance of the area. The design of the scheme is supported.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 164

41

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. At para 185 it states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health and living conditions

42

LPP D3 states that development proposals should deliver appropriate outlook, privacy
and amenity as well as mitigating noise levels. The Core Strategy (CP15), the Local Plan
(DMP 31) and associated guidance (Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019).

43

The Council has published the Alterations and Extensions SPD (2019) which establishes
generally acceptable standards relating to these matters (see below), although site
context will mean these standards could be tightened or relaxed accordingly.
Discussion

44

The proposed development would be at the side of the existing terrace and due to the
difference in levels and the layout of the terrace, the proposed scheme would not be
visible from No 16-18 Haredon Close. The development would be somewhat visible
from the far end of the back gardens of No 16 to 18 Haredon Close, but due to its
location and scale it is not considered to have any adverse impact in terms of sunlight
and daylight or privacy of these gardens.

45

Objections were raised in terms of amenity impact of the proposal on the back gardens
of Nos 67, 69 and 71 Boveney Road. However due to the layout of the properties, a
minimum distance of 3.8m from the side fence, and a 23m distance from rear face of the
dwellings on Boveney Road, and given the existing mature trees and the greenery, the
proposed extension and alterations on the side elevation would be expected to have
commensurate impacts to the existing two storey side extension on the amenities of
neighbours living at Nos 67, 69 and 71 Boveney Road. This assessment accounts for
the slope of the land.

46

The proposed developments would be on the other side of the adjoining neighbour at No
18 Haredon Close and would not have any impact on the amenities of the neighbours
living at No 18.

47

An objection was raised regarding the use of the property and its impact on parking
stress on the cul de sac by the occupiers of No 19. The additional storey would not
change the status of the property, and no new planning unit is proposed. The issue of
parking stress does not fall to be considered and is not material to the planning decision.
The proposal presents a modest rear extension to a single family house.

Impact on neighbours conclusion
48

The proposed development, would not have adverse impact on the amenities of its
neighbours, in terms of creating a sense of enclosure, impact on day light/ sun light and
impact on privacy and is therefore acceptable.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 165

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
49

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

50

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

51

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

52

CIL is chargeable on the net additional floor space of all new development. Since the
proposal is not providing additional floor space CIL is not payable on this development.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
53

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

54

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

55

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

56

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 166

57

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

58

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

59

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
60

In determining this application, the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

61

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

62

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

63

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a single storey rear extension. The
rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1 are not
considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 167

CONCLUSION
64

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

65

The proposed alterations to the building are acceptable in terms of scale, form, and
design.

66

The proposal would have no unacceptable impact on neighbouring properties in terms of
overlooking, loss of daylight/sunlight, noise or disturbance. There would be no significant
negative impact on the local transport network or parking.

67

In light of the above, it is recommended that planning permission is approved.

RECOMMENDATION
68

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
ENV/F0/01/011/000; ENV/F0/01/011/001; ENV/F0/01/011/002;
ENV/F0/01/011/003; ENV/F0/01/011/004; ENV/F0/01/011/005;
ENV/F0/01/011/006
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 168

INFORMATIVES
1)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
no pre-application advice was sought. However, as the proposal was clearly in
accordance with the Development Plan, permission could be granted without any
further discussion.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
69

Submission Drawings

70

Submission Technical Reports and Documents

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
71

Report author: Zahra Rad (Planning Officer)
Email: Zahra.Rad@lewisham.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 831 49153

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 169

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 171

This page is intentionally left blank

19 HAREDON CLOSE,
LONDON, SE23 3TG
Page 173

Construction of a first floor rear extension at 19 HAREDON
CLOSE, SE23, together with a loft extension.

Application Ref No. DC/21/120670
This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
END

1 of X

Site Location Plan

Page 174

END

2 of X

Site Location Arial- Context

Page 175

END

3 of X

Views from Haredon Close

Page 176

END

4 of X

4

Arial Views Showing the Rear Elevation And Back Garden

Page 177

END

5 of X

Existing and Proposed Rear Elevation

Page 178

END

6 of X

6

Existing and Proposed Side Elevations

Page 179

END

7 of X

Key Planning Considerations

Page 180

• Principle of Development
• Urban Design
• Impact on Adjoining Properties

END

8 of X

8

The Side Elevation And Back Garden at Boveney Road

Page 181

END

9 of X

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Planning Committee C
Report title:

7 WALLER ROAD, LONDON, SE14 5LE
Date: 2nd December 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1

Ward(s) affected: Telegraph Hill
Contributors: Thomas Simnett

Outline and recommendations
This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal. The
report has been brought before Committee for a decision as an objection from a society
was received.

Page 183

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/119485
Application Date:

7 December 2020

Applicant:

Town Planning Bureau Agent on behalf of Applicant

Proposal:

The reconfiguration and change of use of 7 Waller Road, SE14 to
provide three self-contained flats, together with the construction of
a single storey extension to the rear elevation, a dormer extension
to the rear roofslope, one rooflights in the front roofslope,
replacement front elevation windows, replacement roof slate, bin
and cycle storage and associated hard and soft landscaping to the
front elevation.

Background Papers:

(1) Submission drawings
(2) Submission technical reports and documents
(3) Internal consultee responses

Designation:

PTAL 6
Air Quality

Screening:

n/a

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

1

The application site is located on the east side of Waller Road, near to the junction with
Queen’s Road. It is occupied by a two storey with basement Victorian single family midterrace dwellinghouse built of London stock brick with a canted bay featuring uPVC top
hung casement windows topped with a turret to the right of the front door.

2

The rear of the property is visible from Rutts Terrace, a housing estate road that services
Myrtle House off Erlanger Road. The property benefits from a long rear garden and
features a three-storey rear outrigger.

3

The site is currently in mixed use as a House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) comprised
of five bedsits and two self-contained one-bedroom flats.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 184

Figure 1 – Site location Plan

Character of area

4

The properties along this street are typical of the Victorian era and are mostly comprised
of long terraces of two storey plus basement dwellings, some of which have been split
into flats. There is also a block of flats, Sydney House, and a primary school opposite
Sherwin Road.
Heritage/archaeology

5

The property is located within the Telegraph Hill Conservation Area, the building nor any
of the buildings in the vicinity are listed at local or national level, but it is subject to an
Article 4(2) Direction.
Surrounding area

6

The application property is approximately 0.2 mi from New Cross Road which provides
various shops, other facilities and services.
Local environment

7

It is also within an Air Quality Management Area.
Transport

8

The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score of 6a on a scale of 16b, 1 being lowest and 6b the highest. The application site is approximately 0.4 mi from
New Cross Gate train station.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
9

DC/18/110123: The reconfiguration of 7 Waller Road, SE14 to provide three selfcontained flats, together with the construction of a single storey rear extension, a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 185

mansard-style roof extension incorporating a Juliet balcony to the rear roofslope and two
rooflights to the front roofslope. Refused on 14 June 2019 (and subsequently dismissed
at appeal) for the following reasons:

10

11



The proposed rear roof extension, by reason of its scale, bulk and design,
would be an incongruous, visually intrusive form of development that would
fail to respect the architectural integrity and form of the original roof, being
harmful to the character and appearance of the host building and the wider
Telegraph Hill Conservation Area,



The overall standard of accommodation, by reason of the failure to provide
private external amenity space for Flat 3, would fail to represent an acceptable
standard of residential accommodation

The above decision was dismissed at appeal on 10 December 2019. The Inspector
found:


“…the roof extension would harm the appearance of the property.
Subsequently, it would detract from the heritage significance of the
conservation area which lies in part with the form, scale, materials and detailing
of its buildings.”



“…no private open space would be provided in association this flat [Flat 3]. The
SPG does allow for the provision of additional internal floor area in
compensation, however this would not be provided, as the flat only meets the
minimum floor space requirement of 50sqm… …The appeal proposal would
therefore result in cramped accommodation which would not be the highquality housing that the SPG and policy plan for. Consequently, the flat would
provide fail to provide suitable living conditions for future occupiers.”

DC/06/61803: The alteration and conversion of 7 Waller Road SE14 to provide 2 one
bedroom and 1 three bedroom self-contained maisonettes, together with the installation
of replacement timber framed sash windows – Granted 12 June 2006.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
12

The current application is for the alteration and conversion of the large HMO to provide
two 2-bed, 3-person flats and one 1-bed, 2-person flat.

13

Flat 1 would be a two-bedroom unit which would be arranged over the lower and upper
ground floors and would be accessed via the existing door in the lower ground floor bay.
Flat 2 would be arranged over the upper ground floor and first floor and would be
accessed by the main entrance at ground floor level. Flat 3 would be arranged over the
first and second floors and would be accessed by the main entrance at ground floor
level. Both entrances would be accessed from Waller Road.

14

To facilitate the conversion a rear roof extension and single storey rear extension are
proposed. The roof extension would measure 2.0m deep x 1.2m high x 1.8m wide and
would be clad in lead. The single storey rear extension would measure 4.2m deep x

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 186

3.8m wide x 2.5m high. The extension would feature stock bricks to match the existing
and would have a pitched roof. An amendment was received reducing the number of
rooflights to the front from two to one conservation style roof lights; the rooflight would be
provided to allow for additional natural light to the new second floor habitable room.

15

A number of improvements were sought during the application process to the front
elevation to mitigate against the increase in refuse bins; the proposed improvements
include replacing the existing uPVC windows with double glazed timber sash windows,
planting behind front boundary wall, lower ground floor door replaced with timber
alternative, path replaced with traditional Victorian tiles, concrete step to the front
replaced with stone, front garden resurfaced with gravel, lightwell repaired and new brick
solider course added, brickwork will be cleaned and repointed, masonry surrounds will
be repaired and re-painted, red paint removed from front stairs. The existing poor quality
roof tiles will be replaced with natural slate tiles throughout.

COMPARISON WITH PREVIOUS SCHEME
16

The key difference compared to the refused application DC/18/110123 is that the large
over dominant rear dormer/roof extension has been removed and replaced with a
smaller dormer window. The amenity issue will be resolved by providing access to a
communal garden, while there are slight privacy problems the ground floor flat in terms
of other residents walking past their windows this has been mitigated by using obscure
glazing, see Figures 2 and 3 below for comparison.
Figure 2 – Rear Elevation of refused scheme (DC/18/110123)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 187

Figure 3 – Proposed Rear Elevation (Current Scheme)

17

Further changes include a deeper single-storey rear extension which allows for the
reconfiguration of the units to ensure it meets the London Plan standards.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
18

Site notices were displayed on 07 October 2021 and a press notice was published on 30
December 2020.

19

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area on 22 December
2020 and the relevant ward Councillors and Telegraph Hill Society were notified on 21
December 2020.

20

Telegraph Hill Society: raised objections.
Table 1: Issues raised by amenity society

Material Planning Consideration

Details

Principle of Development
Loss of HMO accommodation

See paras 44 to 48

Housing
Standard of accommodation is poor

See paras 56 to 60

Urban design
Front rooflights are inappropriate

See para 82 and 83

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 188

Rear dormer would impact on
conservation area and group of
terraces

See paras 76 to 79

Lack of window details – wrong
glazing pattern and no indication of
form detail

See para 80 and 81

Transport
Bin storage inappropriate location

21

See para 106 and 107

Comments were received that also considered non-material with regards to the drawings
showing stretcher bond to the proposed extension which is inappropriate for a property
of this age. An informative will be added to advise the applicant that Flemish bond
should be used instead.

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
22

The following internal consultees were notified on 21 December 2021.

23

Highways: no comments were received.

24

Conservation: not consulted as the type of proposal does not require their comments.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
25

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

26

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
27

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

28

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

29

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 189

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
30

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
31

Lewisham SPG/SPD:


32

Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019)

London Plan SPG/SPD:



Housing (March 2016)

OTHER MATERIAL DOCUMENTS


Telegraph Hill Conservation Area Character Appraisal

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
33

The main issues are:







Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Transport
Impact on Adjoining Properties

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 190

34

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

35

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.

36

Lewisham is defined as an Inner London borough in the London Plan, which sets out the
Mayor of London’s vision for Inner London. This includes among other things sustaining
and enhancing its recent economic and demographic growth; supporting and sustaining
existing and new communities; addressing its unique concentrations of deprivation;
ensuring the availability of appropriate workspaces for the area’s changing economy;
and improving quality of life and health.
Policy

37

National, regional and local planning policies all indicate that development should aim to
make the most effective use of land. Indeed, the London Plan makes housing a priority.

38

The current London Plan outlines through Policy H1 that there is a pressing need for
more homes in London and that a genuine choice of new homes should be supported
which are of the highest quality and of varying sized and tenures in accordance with
Local Development Frameworks. Residential developments should enhance the quality
of local places and take account of the physical context, character, density, tenure and
mix of the neighbouring environment.

39

LPP H2 states that boroughs should increase the contribution of small sites (below 0.25
hectares) to meeting London’s housing needs and sets a ten-year target for Lewisham of
3,790 new homes.

40

The Core Strategy (CSP) recognises the Borough’s need for housing and outlines the
objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 2009/2010 and 2025. The London
Plan (LPP) at Policy H1 increases Lewisham’s ten-year (2019/20 - 2028/29) housing
target at 16,670, or 1,667 as an annualised average. Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ that links to Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing
Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of new housing to meet local need.

41

CSP SP 1 defines the location of the site as within an Area of Stability and Managed
Change (ASMC) and thus CSP SP 5 is relevant to this site. This states that the ASMC
will deliver approximately 2,590 additional new homes over the period of the Core
Strategy (2011-2026). This accounts for approximately 14% of the borough’s
requirement in order to meet local housing need. This will be achieved by making the
best use of previously developed land in the borough through infill development provided
that it is designed to complement the character of surrounding developments, the design
and layout make for suitable residential accommodation, and it provides for garden and
amenity space.

42

DMP 3 states that the Council will refuse planning permission for the conversion of a
single-family house into flats except where environmental conditions mean that the
single-family house is not suitable for family accommodation.

43

DMP 6 states that the council will resist the loss of good quality Houses in Multiple
Occupation.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 191

Discussion

44

Housing is a priority issue for all London boroughs and the Core Strategy welcomes the
provision of additional housing. Development Management Policy 3 refers to the
conversion of single-family dwellings, but as this property is currently arranged and
established as a 9-unit House of Multiple Occupation (HMO), the policy does not apply.

45

DMP 6 is directly applicable to this case and states that the Council will resist the loss of
good quality HMOs. The supporting text to the policy at paragraph 2.39 states that it is
important that the standard of HMO accommodation is of a good quality, this means that
sufficient internal space in accordance with the standards outlined in DM Policy 32
(Housing design, layout and space standards), provision of amenity space for the
occupants, and no significant adverse amenity impacts to the adjacent and/or
surrounding residential neighbourhood.

46

The existing HMO is considered to be of poor quality that provides a sub-standard level
of accommodation for residents, the layout is not conducive to its use as an HMO. The
lower ground floor rooms have a ceiling height of 2.0m, which is below the required
height of 2.5m as set out in the London Plan.

47

The proposed development would result in three dwellings that have a good standard of
accommodation with an improved internal layout that would result in three high quality
dwellings.

48

The proposed development would result in the net addition of two residential units, which
would make a modest contribution to local housing targets. This is a planning merit that
would carry weight within the overall planning balance. However, that weight is limited by
the modest scale of development and size of the units.
Principle of development conclusions

49

In light of the above, Officers consider the loss of the HMO to be acceptable given it is
not considered to be of a good quality as set out in DM Policy 6. The proposed
dwellings would all have a good standard of accommodation and access to external
amenity space. While the two additional residential units would be modest in scale it
would contribute towards local housing targets and is therefore a planning merit.

HOUSING
50

This section covers the standard of accommodation.

Residential Quality
General Policy

51

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

52

LPP D6 requires new homes to meet specific space and other standards. In addition,
DMP 32 requires all new residential developments to provide accommodation of a good

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 192

size, a good outlook, with acceptable shape and layout of rooms, with main habitable
rooms receiving direct sunlight and daylight, and adequate privacy.

53

The main components of residential quality are: (i) internal and external space
standards; (ii) outlook and privacy and overheating; (iii) daylight and sunlight.
Internal and external space standards
Policy

54

LPP D6 seeks to achieve housing development with the highest quality internally and
externally in relation to their context. Minimum space standards are set out in Table 3.1
of the London Plan.

55

The Technical Housing Standards (2015), Mayors Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG), London Plan Policy D6 and DM Policy 32 set out or make reference to
the minimum space standards required for amenity space to achieve housing
development that provides the highest quality of space externally in relation to its
context. Standard 4.10.1 of the Mayor’s Housing SPG states that ‘a minimum of 5sqm of
private outdoor space should be provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1sqm
should be provided for each additional occupant’.
Discussion

56

The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes.
Table 2: Internal space standards – proposed v target

No. of
persons

2 storey
dwelling
proposed
(target)
m2

Bedroom
size
proposed
(target)
m2

Bedroom
size
proposed
(target)
m2

Amenity
space
proposed
(target)
m2

Built-in
storage
proposed
(target)
m2

Unit

No of
bedrooms

1

2b

3p

70 (70)

13 (11.5)

11 (7.5)

0 (6)

2.25 (2)

2

1b

2p

62 (58)

22 (11.5)

n/a

15.5 (5)

1.8 (1.5)

3

2b

3p

72 (70)

17.5 (11.5)

11(7.5)

0 (6)

9.8 (2)

57

The proposed units would meet the requirements of LPP D6 in terms of total floor space.

58

The proposal would also meet the requirements of LPP D6 in terms of the size of
bedrooms with the double bedrooms of all three units above the minimum requirement.
The bedrooms would also be policy compliant in terms of the width of the rooms. The
floor to ceiling height of the dwellings would be 2.5m in accordance with DMP 32 and
LPP D6, while the storage would also comply.

59

Although there had been concerns raised by objections to the proposals in terms of the
standard of accommodation, two of the proposed flats have a greater GIA than the
requirements of LPP D6 and one has the policy required amount, Officers therefore
consider the standard of accommodation to be acceptable.

60

DM Policy 32 requires all new dwellings to be provided with a readily accessible, secure,
private and usable external space and include space suitable for children's play. Given
that the proposed units would be derived from the conversion of an existing building,

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 193

officers are satisfied that the provision of private amenity space for all units would be
impractical. Flat 2 would have its own private amenity space that is three times the
minimum requirement, whilst Flat 1 and 3 would have a shared amenity space that
measures 76sqm which would offset any failure to prove private amenity space.

Housing conclusion
61

Overall, the proposed development would provide a good standard of residential
accommodation in compliance with LPP D6 and DMP.

URBAN DESIGN AND IMPACT ON HERITAGE ASSET
General Policy

62

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.

63

LPP D3 expects the highest quality materials and design appropriate to context.

64

Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham repeats the necessity to
achieve high quality design but also confirms a requirement for new developments to
minimise crime and the fear of crime.
Policy

65

Heritage assets may be designated—including Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings,
Scheduled Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens, archaeological remains—or
non-designated.

66

Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
gives LPAs the duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.

67

Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

68

CSP 16 ensures the value and significance of the borough’s heritage assets are among
things enhanced and conserved in line with national and regional policy.

69

DMLP 30 - Urban design and local character states that all new developments should
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity. The London Plan, Lewisham Core Strategy and Lewisham DMLP policies
further reinforce the principles of the NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality
urban design. DM Policy 33 seek to protect and enhance the Borough’s character and
street frontages through appropriate and high-quality design.

70

DMP 36 echoes national and regional policy and summarises the steps the borough will
take to manage changes to Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 194

Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens so that their value and significance as
designated heritage assets is maintained and enhanced.

71

Further guidance is given in Telegraph Hill Conservation Area Character Appraisal.
Discussion
Single storey rear extension

72

The extension would extend 4.2m from the outrigger rear elevation of the host property
and across the full width. The entirety would be within the curtilage of the subject site
and contained to the rear. It would have a height along the boundary with No. 5 of 2.5m.
Officers raise no concerns with the height of the proposed extension in terms of design.

73

Officers consider the proposed extension to be of a modest scale and is sensitively
designed not to obscure the windows at the first-floor level and remains subservient to
the host building.

74

The extension would be built using yellow brick which matches the host building, whilst
the pitched roof will be finished with natural slate. The glazing system, rooflights and
box guttering would all match the existing materials in the host property. The materials
are considered good quality and would complement the existing character of the
building.

75

The proposed extension would comply with the relevant guidance in terms of its scale,
siting and the use of materials to match existing, would result in a modest, and
inoffensive scale and design, appropriate for the application building and its setting.
Dormer window

76

Although the amenity society commented that the proposed dormer window would be
inappropriate due to no other dormer windows in this terraces roofscape, Officers
consider given the very limited public viewpoints of the rear elevation of the host property
it would not give rise to harm to the conservation area. In reaching this conclusion
Officers have regard to the Inspector’s decision letter (20 December 2019) which did not
raise an issue with the principle of a dormer window, instead finding that the specific
dormer proposed was harmful.

77

The proposed dormer window is significantly smaller than that dismissed at appeal. It
would be sufficiently set in from the party walls, set up from the eaves and set down from
the ridge. The dormer windows would be centrally located within the roofscape and clad
in lead.

78

The fenestration pattern shows a clear hierarchy between the different levels, a condition
is recommended to ensure that further details of the windows are provided including
1:20 detailed drawings and vertical and horizontal section drawings.

79

Given the above, the proposal is considered to be a subordinate addition that would be
of traditional form and would relate sensitively to the host building and the wider
conservation area. It is noted that the proposal is in accordance with the requirements of
the Alterations and Extensions SPD.
Front elevation alterations

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 195

80

In principle the replacement timber sash windows that would replace the uPVC windows
in the front elevation is acceptable given it would reinstate a material and style of window
that is more in keeping with the conservation area.

81

However, comments were received by the amenity society that the proposed glazing
pattern to the replacements were incorrect and no indication of window horn was
provided. Officers recommend a condition to ensure further details on glazing pattern,
horn detail and section drawings of the proposed windows are supplied for approval.

82

Even though the amenity society objected to the front rooflights as the current terrace of
houses of which 7 Waller Road is one has no front roof lights, there are other examples
of conservation style rooflights to the front roofscape of Waller Road.

83

The two rooflights are excessive and not the ‘minimum necessary‘ as required in the
Alterations and Extensions SPD. They would unduly clutter the roofscape of this house
and the wider group. The local precedent would be for one rooflight above the entrance
door. Officers requested amendments to remove one of the rooflights which is now
considered acceptable.

84

In light of the increase in refuse and recycling bins to the front garden the applicant has
proposed a number improvements to the front elevation and roof that Officers consider
would improve the character of the host property and conservation area.

85

The proposed replacement roofing material with natural slate is considered an
improvement on the existing roofing material, this improvement is subject to further
details which would be secured by way of condition to ensure the slate tiles are an
appropriate choice.

86

It is also proposed that the lower ground floor flat door would be replaced with a timber
alternative that is more in keeping with the conservation area. Officers consider this to
be acceptable subject to further details on deign and materials.

87

The concrete step that abuts the pavement would also be removed and replaced with a
traditional stone step. The existing stairs to the front of the property are painted a red
colour. The applicant proposes that this is stripped off to reveal the natural stone
underneath. The poor quality blue metal step balustrade would be replaced with a
traditional metal rail painted black, further details would be secured by way of condition
to ensure that it is appropriate for the conservation area. Officers consider these
improvements to be acceptable and are welcomed.

88

The applicant proposes that the brickwork would also be cleaned and repointed as part
of the overall scheme of works to the property, Officers consider this to be acceptable.

89

The front garden would also be resurfaced using gravel, replacing the existing concrete
hardstanding, Officers not only consider this to be an improvement in terms of urban
design but would also be a sustainable urban drainage benefit. The existing non-original
red and black tiles would be removed and replaced with a black and white traditional
Victorian path leading to the front of the property. Further details would also be secured
by way of condition to ensure suitability with the conservation area.

90

The applicant also proposes the masonry window surrounds would be repaired and repainted, together with repairs to the front light well which a new brick soldier course
would be added.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 196

91

Additional improvements are planned such as the painting of the front door, removal of
the gas meter box and cabling to the front elevation that do not require planning
permission which together with the other alterations would improve the appearance of
the front elevation and offset the harm caused by the refuse bins. Overall, Officers
consider these improvements to be acceptable in principle but further details are
required to ensure they match the design and quality expected for a property located in a
conservation area. These conditions would be worded so that these improvements are
implemented prior to the first occupancy of the development.
Summary

92

There would be limited public viewpoints of the proposed works to the rear of the
property and as such Officers consider that the current proposal would lead to no harm
to the Telegraph Hill Conservation Area. The proposed front elevation improvements
elevation would help to enhance the appearance of the host property and conservation
area and offset the harm caused by the increase in refuse bins to the front of the
property.

93

Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment, are satisfied
the proposal would improve the character or appearance of Telegraph Conservation
Area.

Urban design conclusion
94

The proposed building and extension are considered compliant with the design
principles articulated within DMPs 30 and 31 by virtue of the subservient scale and
massing and combination of historically appropriate and high-quality contemporary
design features. A condition is recommended securing the windows and detailed
drawings for the dormer window, together with details on materials and balustrade.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

95

Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of para 102. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

96

Para 109 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”.

97

Regionally, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (‘the MTS’, GLA, March 2018) sets out the
vision for London to become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport
become the most appealing and practical choices. The MTS recognises links between
car dependency and public health concerns.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 197

98

Policy T1 of the London Plan (2021) sets out the Mayor’s strategic approach to transport
which aims to encourage the closer integration of transport and development. This is to
be achieved by encouraging patterns and nodes of development that reduce the need to
travel, especially by car; seeking to improve the capacity and accessibility of public
transport, walking and cycling; supporting measures that encourage shifts to more
sustainable modes and appropriate demand management; and promoting walking by
ensuring an improved urban realm.

99

Core Strategy Policy 14 ‘Sustainable movement and transport’ promotes more
sustainable transport choices through walking, cycling and public transport. It adopts a
restricted approach on parking to aid the promotion of sustainable transport and
ensuring all new and existing developments of a certain size have travel plans.

Local Transport Network
Policy

100

The NPPF at paragraph 102 states that significant impacts on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion) should be mitigated to an acceptable degree.
Discussion

101

The application site is located within a highly accessibly area within walking distance of
24 hour bus and train services. This is reflected in the PTAL rating of 6a, which is the
second highest. Therefore, Officers are satisfied that the addition of two further
residential units could be absorbed within the existing transport network

Servicing and refuse
Policy

102

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road.

103

CSP13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.

104

DMLP 29 requires new development to have no negative impact upon the safety and
suitability of access and servicing.

105

Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion

106

A refuse store for the development would be provided in the front garden providing
storage space for refuse, food waste and recycling bins. No further details were
submitted with the application to ensure that the storage facilities for waste and recycling
containers meets at least BS5906:2005 standard. In light of this, Officers consider it
reasonable to secure the proposed details by condition.

107

An objection was raised by the amenity society with regards to the placement of bins to
the front garden in such a way that it would block the architecture of the lower ground

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 198

floor windows. The existing situation is one where bins are stored in the front garden.
This application proposes the same arrangement, but with a new hedge to be planted
behind the existing and retained low front boundary wall. This would afford more
screening of the bins, which is considered an improvement on the existing situation.
Officers note the conversion to three flats would increase the number of bins from 3 to a
minimum of six wheelie bins and three food waste bins. Although there appears to be
sufficient space to accommodate that number of bins in the revised layout, Officers are
concerned about the visual harm to the streetscape resulting from the increase in bins.

108

Officers have sought improvements to the front elevation which were detailed in
paragraph 15 that would mitigate and offset the harm caused by the bins. Therefore,
Officers on balance consider the proposed refuse arrangements to be satisfactory
subject to further details and if the improvements to the front elevation are implemented
prior to first occupancy. This will be secured by way of condition.

Transport modes
Cycling
Policy

109

Development should give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within
the scheme and with neighbouring area. Development should create places that are
safe, secure and attractive, minimising the scope for conflicts between pedestrians,
cyclists and vehicles

110

Cycle storage space should be provided in accordance with LPP T5, table 10.2 and
London Cycle Design Standards. Developments should provide secure, integrated,
convenient and accessible cycle parking facilities in line with the minimum standards.
Discussion

111

Each unit would be provided with cycle storage for two bikes in the shared garden to the
rear in accordance with the requirements of Table 10.2 of the London Plan. A condition
is recommended to ensure that the store is secured and provided prior to occupation.
Private cars
Policy

112

LPP T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMP 29 require developments to take a restrained
approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent excessive car
parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport use. Table
10.3 of the London Plan sets the maximum car parking standards for residential
developments.
Discussion

113

The proposal does not include any off-street parking, which is supported given the high
PTAL rating. There is not CPZ in operation on Waller Road and therefore it is not
possible to restrict cars from being parked in the surrounding area. The proposed
development would result in no increase in the amount of occupiers to that currently
existing. As such, officers consider that the change in the dwelling mix would not give
rise to any significant highways impacts, in terms of parking given that the proposed
tenure make up would likely result in less car users being on site.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 199

Transport impact conclusion

114

In summary, the proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on
the surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the
conditions recommended above.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

115

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. At para 180 it states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health and living conditions. This is reflected in relevant policies of
the London Plan, the Core Strategy (CP15), the Local Plan (DMP32) and associated
guidance (Housing SPD 2016, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

116

This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (D3), the Core Strategy (CP15),
the Local Plan (DMP 31) and associated guidance (Alterations and Extensions SPD
2019).

117

The Council has published the Alterations and Extensions SPD (2019) which establishes
generally acceptable standards relating to these matters (see below), although site
context will mean these standards could be tightened or relaxed accordingly.

118

The main impacts on amenity arise from: (i) overbearing enclosure/loss of outlook; (ii) loss
of privacy; (iii) loss of daylight within properties and loss of sunlight to amenity areas; and
(iv) noise and disturbance.
Discussion

119

The proposal involves the construction of a single storey extension to the rear which
would abut the boundary with 5 Waller Road. The relatively modest 4.2m depth
combined with the 2.5m height would mitigate any significant impact to living conditions
at no.5. The extension would be set in sufficiently from the boundary with 9 Waller Road
preventing any adverse impacts on living conditions.

120

The proposed dormer would not worsen existing overlooking of surrounding properties
given that there is existing overlooking from the windows on the first floor. Outlook from
the rooflights would be to the sky, away from the neighbouring properties. Therefore, it is
considered that the proposal would not result in loss of privacy. The rear dormer is not
considered to have a significant impact on the amenity of the adjoining properties given
its siting within the footprint of the building.

121

The amenity society raised objections in terms of privacy as when the residents of Flat 1
and 3 use the communal garden area and/or cycle stores they would have to walk past
the windows to the ground floor outrigger which forms part of Flat 2. Officer’s note that
the plans show these side elevation windows of Flat 2 would be obscured, a condition is
recommended to ensure these windows remain obscure up to 1.7m from the floor.

122

Officers raise no objections on the grounds of noise and disturbance from the change of
use given that the amount of occupiers proposed would remain the same, and the
building would retain its domestic use.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 200

Impact on neighbours conclusion
123

Therefore, the application is deemed to be acceptable in terms of residential amenity
and compliant with DM Policy 31.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
124

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

125

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

126

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

127

This application does not attract CIL.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
128

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

129

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

130

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

131

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 201

are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

132

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

133

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

134

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no /minimal impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
135

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

136

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

137

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 202

138

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new building with residential uses.
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1,
Article 1 are not considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
139

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

140

The proposed loss of HMO accommodation is considered acceptable given the
application property is located within in an Area of Stability of Managed Change in
accordance with DM Policy 6. The proposal would also result in the addition of two
residential units, which would make a modest contribution to local housing targets.

141

On balance the standard of accommodation is acceptable given that the proposed units
would be above the standards as set out in LPP D6 and there would be shared amenity
space also.

142

The proposed alterations to the front elevation would enhance the host property and
conservation area, whilst the single storey rear extension is subordinate in scale and
constructed out of materials to match the existing. Officers consider it to be acceptable
and would have an acceptable impact on neighbouring amenity. The dormer window is
considered acceptable and its impact on the conservation area would be limited due to
limited public viewpoints.

143

The proposal would provide adequate bin and cycle store subject to conditions.

RECOMMENDATION
144

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans, drawings and documents hereby approved and as detailed below:
Sustainability Statement; Heritage, Planning, Design and Access Statement; Site
Location Plan; Block Plan; E.001; E.002; E.011 (Received 07 December 2020)
URB-488-FN1; P.320 REV A (Received 04 November 2021)
D.301 REV D; D.302 REV E; P.301 REV H; P.302 REV; P.311 REV J (Received
08 November 2021)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 203

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning authority.
3)

EXTERNAL FACING MATERIALS AND FINISHES
(a) A detailed schedule and specification including manufacturer's literature or
detailed drawings, in respect of the following, shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Council prior to the commencement of works:
i) external facing materials and finishes;
ii) balustrade;
iii) roof coverings;
(b) The relevant part of the works shall then be carried in accordance with the
approved details prior to first occupation of the development and retained
thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the building and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design
for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management.

4)

OBSCURE GLAZING
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that
Order), the new windows to be installed in the side elevation of the ground
outrigger projection hereby approved shall be fitted as obscure glazed to a
minimum of Level 3 on the ‘Pilkington Scale’ up to 1.7m from ground level and
retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To avoid the direct overlooking of adjoining properties and consequent
loss of privacy thereto and to comply with DM Policy 31 Alterations and
extensions to existing buildings including residential extensions, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014).

5)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground
level) shall commence until details of refuse and recycling facilities
including food waste bin been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
b) The facilities as approved under part (a) of this condition shall be provided
in full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 204

design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).
6)

CYCLE STORAGE
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground
level) shall commence until detail of the cycle parking facilities that are
safe, covered and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
b) The cycle parking facilities approved under part (a) of this condition shall
be provided in full and made available for use prior to occupation of the
development and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 14:
Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011) and DM Policy
24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

7)

SOFT LANDSCAPING
(a) A scheme of soft landscaping (including details of any trees or hedges to be
retained and proposed plant numbers, species, location and size of trees
and tree pits) and details of the management and maintenance of the
landscaping for a period of five years shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to construction of the above
ground works.
(b)

All planting, seeding or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting and
seeding seasons following the completion of the development, in
accordance with the approved scheme under part (a). Any trees or plants
which within a period of five years from the completion of the development
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Core Strategy Policy 12 Open space
and environmental assets, Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Core
Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 25 Landscaping and trees and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).
8)

DORMER ARCHETECTURAL DETAILS
(a)

Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development prior to
completion of the dormer window superstructure shall commence until
detailed elevation drawing of the dormer window showing the materials,
glazing and opening pattern of the window at a scale 1:20 and detailed
drawings (to a scale of 1:5) of the details (frames and glazing bars), in
particular a horizontal section and vertical sections have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority

(b)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 205

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
detailed treatment of the proposal and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local
character.
9)

WINDOW ARCHETECURAL DETAILS
(a)

Notwithstanding the details hereby approved, no development prior to
completion of the superstructure shall commence until detailed elevation
drawing of the proposed window replacements showing the horn, glazing
and opening pattern of the window at a scale 1:20 and detailed drawings (to
a scale of 1:5) of the details (frames and glazing bars), in particular a
horizontal section and vertical sections have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority

(b)

All replacement window works which form part of the approved scheme
under part (a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
detailed treatment of the proposal and to comply with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and
local character.
10)

HARD LANDSCAPING
(a)

Prior to above ground works drawings showing hard landscaping of any
part of the site not occupied by buildings (including details of the
permeability of hard surfaces) shall be submitted and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.

(b)

All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under
part (a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management
in the London Plan ( March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 206

INFORMATIVES
1)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
positive discussions took place which resulted in further information being
submitted.

2)

You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in accordance
with the "London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for Control of Pollution
and Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites" available on the Lewisham
web page.

3)

The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require
approval by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application
forms are available on the Council's web site

4)

The applicant is advised that the existing bonding is Flemish Bond and any new
development should match this where possible.

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
145

Thomas Simnett; Thomas.simnett@lewisham.gov.uk; 020 8314 6284

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 207

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 209

This page is intentionally left blank

7 Waller Road
SE14 5LE
Page 211

Application No. DC/20/119485

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
1 1 of 30

Page 212

Site Location Plan

2 2 of 30

Page 213

Existing Street View

3 3 of 30

Page 214

Proposed rear elevation

4 4 of 30

Page 215

Proposed section elevation

5 5 of 30

Page 216

Proposed lower ground floor and ground floor plans

6 6 of 30

Page 217

Proposed first and second floor and roof plan

7 7 of 30

Key planning considerations
Page 218

•
•
•
•
•

Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport

8 8 of 30

Page 219

Proposed front elevation

9 9 of 30

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Planning Committee C

Report title:

Nelsons Archway, Brigade Street, London, SE3 0TW
Date: 2nd December 2021
Key decision: No.
Class: Part 1
Ward(s) affected: Blackheath
Contributors: Max Curson, Planning Officer

Outline and recommendations
This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above
proposal. The report has been brought before Committee for a decision as more
than three individual objections have been received from local residents.

Page 221

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/121093
Application Date:

09 March 2021

Applicant:

Rodway Planning Consultancy Limited on behalf of J.Sage Builders
Limited

Proposal:

Change of use from lock up / open storage yard (Use Class B8) to an
office (Use Class E) including the construction of a roof over the whole
site and all associated works at Nelsons Archway, Brigade Street, SE3.

Background Papers:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Designation:

Air Quality Management Area
Area of Archaeological Priority
PTAL 5
Major District Centre
Sustainable Drainage

Submission drawings
Submission technical reports and documents
Internal consultee responses
Statutory consultee responses

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use
The Brigade Street is an S shaped road. The application site is located to the north-east
part of the road. The site is known as Nelsons Archway and it comprises an open air
storage unit located behind the wall.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 222

Figure 1: site location plan

Character of area
The surrounding area is mix-use with residential and commercial premises.
Heritage/archaeology
The site is within the Blackheath Conservation Area. In addition to this the site is an Area
of Archaeological Priority.
Surrounding area
The site is located approximately 130m from the Heath.
Tranquil Vale and Montpelier Vale are approximately 160m away and they provide
various shops, other facilities and services.
Local environment
The site falls within Air Quality Management Area and Sustainable Drainage Area.
Transport

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 223

The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score of 5 on a scale of 1-6b,
1 being lowest and 6b the highest. It is 160m from Blackheath Station and the
Blackheath town centre.
Brigade Street is included in Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) BHA, which covers this part
of Blackheath Mon-Sat 9am-7pm.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
There is no relevant planning history.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
The application proposes to change the use of the site from lock up / open storage yard
(Use Class B8) to an office (Use Class E) including the construction of a roof over the
whole site and all associated works.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 224

Figure 2: extract from proposed plan

The proposed roof would be a green (sedum) roof which includes overall roof thickness
and loadings. The application included a maintenance schedule in the proposed
drawings. For simplicity it is suggested that access would be over the front parapet wall
for maintenance.

CONSULTATION
APPLICATION PUBLICITY
Site notices were displayed on 21/05/21 and a press notice was published on 12/05/21.
Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on 05/05/21 and 14/06/21.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 225

The Blackheath Society did not comment.
Four (4) responses were received, three (3) in objection and one (1) in comment.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

Diminished security as the proposed roof
would provide easy access to other sites

See para 39

Diminished amenity from the first floor of
neighbouring properties

See para 40

There are existing parking issues caused
by constant deliveries and both residents
and employees trying to utilise the limited
parking

See para 57

The street is not suitable for commercial
development

See para 31

General Comments
Comment

Para where addressed

Query about party wall and what it means

This is not a planning matter. Officers
explained via email what a party wall is
and sent the Explanatory Booklet on Party
Walls to the customer

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
The following External Consultees were notified on 11/02/21:
Ward Councillors: no response received.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 226

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.
The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE
The National Policy and Guidance comprises:




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
Lewisham SPG/SPD:



Alteration and Extensions SPD (April 2019)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main issues are:








Principle of Development
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 227

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at Paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.
The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.
Policy
National, regional and local planning policies all indicate that development should aim to
make the most effective use of land.
LP Policy E1, Part B, states that increase in the current stock of offices should be
supported in the location in Part C and D of the policy. Those locations include the CAZ,
NIOD and other nationally significant office locations. Outside of these areas provision
should be increased in town centres and other existing office clusters supported by
improvements to walking, cycling and public transport connectivity.
Discussion
The application site is currently a lock up / an open storage yard (Use Class B8). The
submission indicates that this space in underused.
The proposed development would provide approximately 18sqm of enclosed office
space that includes a kitchenette, WC and cycle parking. The provision of office space is
supported and subject to detailed consideration that will be discussed below. The
proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle.
Principle of development conclusions
The proposed land use would deliver development plan objectives for the area and
would better utilise an underused site. Overall, it is considered that the principle of
development would comply with the development plan.

URBAN DESIGN
Urban Design Policy
The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve.
LP Policy D4; CS Policy 15; and DMLP DM30 states that all new developments should
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity.
Heritage Policy
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 gives
LPAs the duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of Conservation Areas.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 228

Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.
LP Policy HC1; CS Policy 16; and DMP 36 ensures the value and significance of the
borough’s heritage assets are among things enhanced and conserved in line with
national and regional policy.
Discussion
The proposal would re-develop the site by installing a roof and a rainwater pipe to the
front elevations to drain the roof. There is no objection to the installation of the proposed
rainwater pipe.
Concerns have been raised following consultation on the application. These include
objections regarding the design of the roof and security. Following the objections the
applicant amended the plans and provided additional details on the proposal. This
included changing the design of the roof to a green (sedum) roof. The revised drawings
were designed following the architect’s discussions with a structural engineer, who
advised on the details of the grass roof, including confirming the weight and structural
requirements can be supported on the timber roof proposed. The submitted revised
drawings include a maintenance schedule which is considered appropriate.
Officers note that structural and ground works are to be undertaken as part of the
proposal. The application site is located within an Area of Archaeological Priority. As
such, a condition will be attached to ensure a programmed of archaeological works are
undertaken ahead of development.
Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment, are satisfied
the proposal would lead to a degree of enhancement of the character and appearance of
Blackheath Conservation Area.

Urban design conclusion
As identified in the above analysis, Officers are satisfied that the proposed development
would have a positive impact on the surrounding area and on designed heritage assets.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy
Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of para 104. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 229

Para 111 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe”.
Regionally, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (‘the MTS’, GLA, March 2018) sets out the
vision for London to become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport
become the most appealing and practical choices. The MTS recognises links between
car dependency and public health concerns.
The Core Strategy, at Objective 9 and CSP14, reflects the national and regional
priorities.

Local Transport Network
Policy
The NPPF at paragraph 110 states that significant impacts on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion) should be mitigated to an acceptable degree.
Discussion
The application site has a PTAL of 5, which is an excellent level of public transport
accessibility. Officers are satisfied that the modest scale of development would prevent
the need for any mitigation in terms of increased transport capacity and that any impacts
to the local transport network could be accommodated within the existing transport
services and infrastructure.

Servicing and refuse
LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road.
CSP13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.
Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion
Commercial waste needs to be disposed of properly. This must be carried out by a
licensed waste carrier, even if it is only a small amount. The Council provide a
commercial waste and recycling service for local businesses. A condition would be
added to ensure that commercial waste collection is arranged and in operation.

Transport modes
Cycling
Policy
Business officers required to provide cycle parking in accordance with the requirements
of Policy T5 and Table 10.2 of the London Plan.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 230

Discussion
The property would be provided with cycle storage for two internal bikes in accordance
with the requirements of Table 10.2 of the London Plan. A condition is recommended to
ensure that the store is secured and provided prior to occupation.
Private cars
Policy
LPP T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMP 29 require developments to take a restrained
approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent excessive car
parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport use. Table
10.3 of the London Plan sets the maximum car parking standards for residential
developments.
Discussion
Concerns have been raised over parking as there are existing parking issues caused by
constant deliveries and both residents and employees trying to utilise the limited parking.
The application site is in a PTAL 5 area, which indicates excellent to public transport.
The provision of a car-free development would be compliant t with the principles of the
development plan and as such is supported. Given the small scale of the development
and the existing use officers are satisfied that the proposal would not create significant
parking stress in the area that would require for this to be controlled by special
measures.

Construction impact
Policy
LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road. Additionally, LPP T7 requires that construction
logistic plans should be development in accordance with TfL guidance.
Discussion
The site constraints, including the narrowness of Brigade Street and the lack of space on
the site for storage of materials and receiving deliveries, impose practical concerns for
the construction phase of the development. Therefore a detailed Construction Logistics
Management Plan (“CLMP”) is required to confirm that all vehicles can approach, pull
into and out of the designated loading area without overriding any kerbs or blocking the
highway. A traffic management plan and further details of protection and temporary
arrangements for pedestrians, including access to neighbouring properties would also be
required within the plan. A site plan showing the location of storage for materials would
be required. These details would be secured within the CLMP, to be agreed prior to the
commencement of any works on site, including any site clearance or demolition.

Transport impact conclusion
In summary, the proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on
the surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the
conditions recommended above.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 231

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy
NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. At para 180 it states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health and living conditions.
The NPPF at para 174(e) states decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural
and local environment by preventing new and existing development from contributing to,
being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of soil, air , water or noise pollution or land instability. At para 185 of the NPPF states
that planning decisions should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse
impacts resulting from noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life.
This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D3), the Core Strategy
(CP15), the Local Plan (DMPs 32 and 33) and associated guidance.
LPP D3 states that development proposals should deliver appropriate impacts to
outlook, privacy and amenity as well as mitigating noise levels.
Further guidance is given in the London Plan Housing SPG 2017
Enclosure, Outlook, Privacy, Daylight and Sunlight
Policy
The NPPF does not express particular standards for daylight and sunlight.
Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of blocks is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.
DMP 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for its neighbours. Additionally, the justification for DMP 32 at
paragraph 2.250 advises that there should be a minimum separation of 21m between
directly facing habitable room windows on main rear elevations.
Discussion
The proposal is to re-develop the site by installing a roof with a rooflight and a rainwater
pipe to the front elevations to drain the roof. The nature of the proposals will not result in
an adverse impact on neighbouring amenity and no residential amenity issues in terms
of overbearing impact, privacy, outlook, loss of daylight and sunlight.

Noise and disturbance
Policy
NPPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create
additional noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing
acoustic environment.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 232

Discussion
The introduction of new office within a mix-area is not considered to result in any
significant long-term material impacts in terms of noise and disturbance.
The construction phase of development is likely to introduce short-term disturbances to
the surrounding properties, however Officers do not consider that to be a material
planning consideration in this case due to the modest scale of development. Hours of
noisy work are controlled by other legislation.
Turning to the security concerns, the existing wall is 3m in height and it could be climbed
at present and used to enter the neighbouring properties. As such, Officers consider that
the proposal would not increase the chance of burglary.

Impact on neighbours conclusion
The impact of the proposed use, impacts upon privacy, overshadowing, daylight, sunlight
and noise are all considered to comply with the provisions of the development plan and
relevant supporting guidance insofar as amenity is concerned.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Sustainable Urban Drainage
Policy
LPP SI13 expects development to achieve greenfield run-off rates in accordance with
the sustainable drainage hierarchy.
CSP 10 requires applicants demonstrate that the most sustainable urban drainage
system that is reasonably practical is incorporated to reduce flood risk, improve water
quality and achieve amenity and habitat benefits.
Discussion
The existing site makes no contribution to the sustainable urban drainage given that it is
entirely covered by hardstanding. The proposal includes a green sedum roof which
contributes to the sustainability of a building. A green roof significantly reduces the need
for air conditioning in summer and provides insulation in the winter. A condition would be
added to ensure that the green roof is installed in line with the approved drawings.

Sustainable Infrastructure conclusion
The proposal is acceptable in terms of sustainable development, subject to conditions.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
General Policy
Contributing to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing
pollution is a core principle for planning.
The NPPF and NPPG promote the conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment (chapter 15) and set out several principles to support those objectives.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 233

The NPPF at para 185 states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as
the sensitivity of the site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.

Air pollution
Policy
NPPF para 174 states decisions should among other things prevent new and existing
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of air pollution. Development should,
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality.
Proposals should be designed and built to improve local air quality and reduce the extent
to which the public are exposed to poor air quality. Poor air quality affects people’s living
conditions in terms of health and well-being. People such as children or older people are
particularly vulnerable.
LPP SI1 states new development amongst other requirements must endeavour to
maintain the best ambient air quality (air quality neutral) and not cause new
exceedances of legal air quality standards.
CSP 7 reflects the London Plan. CSP 9 seeks to improve local air quality. DMP 23 sets
out the required information to support application that might be affected by, or affect, air
quality.
Further guidance is given in the Mayor of London’s Air Quality Strategy.
Discussion
The site is located in an Air Quality Management Area. The proposal is modest in scale
and benefits from a green sedum roof. As such, it is not considered to materially worsen
the existing air quality nor expose new sensitive receptors to unacceptable air quality
impacts.

Natural Environment conclusion
The proposal is acceptable in terms of natural environment, subject to conditions.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.
The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 234

The applicant has completed the relevant form. £0 Lewisham CIL and £3,330.0 MCIL is
estimated to be payable on this application, subject to any valid applications for relief or
exemption. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.
The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 235

key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance
The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.
Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.
This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new buildings for residential use.
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1,
Article 1 considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

CONCLUSION
This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.
The principle of changing to the use of the site to an office is supported as it is situated
in a sustainable urban area and would make better use of the site.
The proposed development is acceptable in terms of its scale, form, design, material and
impact on heritage assets including the conservation area.
The proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on neighbours in terms of
overlooking, loss of daylight/sunlight, noise or disturbance. It is also considered that the
proposal would not negatively impact on the local transport network or parking.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 236

In light of the above, it is recommended that this planning permission is approved subject
to conditions and informatives.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the following
conditions and informatives:

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans and drawings hereby approved and as detailed below:
2027/01 (Existing elevation and floor plan) received on 30 March 2021.
2027/04 (Site Location Plan); Block Plan (2027/05); and received on 30 March
2021 received on 6 May 2021.
2027 (Green sedum roof detail) and 2027/03B (Proposed elevation, floor and roof
plan) received on 23 July 2021.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning

3)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
a) Prior to occupation of the office building details of disposal of refuse and
recycling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
b) The facilities as approved under part (a) of this condition shall be provided
in full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance with
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 237

4)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN
Prior to commencement of any works on site, including any site clearance or
demolition, the Construction Management and Logistic Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include the
following:a) Confirmation that vehicles that would be used during construction of the
development can approach, pull into and out of the designated loading area
without overriding any kerbs or blocking the highway
b) A site plan showing the location of storage for materials
c) Dust mitigation measures.
d) The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities
e) Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process
f) Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts
which shall demonstrate the following:(i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii)
Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction relates activity.
(iii)
Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement including any
temporary arrangements for pedestrians, including access to neighbouring
properties
g) Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).
h) (Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction
Management Plan requirements and any Environmental Management Plan
requirements (delete reference to Environmental Management Plan
requirements if not relevant).
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise
possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to comply
with Policy SI1 Improving air quality and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and
construction of the London Plan (March 2021).

5)

CYCLE STORAGE
a) The cycle parking facilities as shown on submitted drawing (number
2027/03B) received on 23 July 2021shall be provided in full and made
available for use prior to occupation of the development and maintained
thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021) and Policy
14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011).

6)

ARCHAEOLOGY
No development shall commence on site until the developer has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. Such a scheme shall be commensurate to the scale of
the intrusion arising from the works approved.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 238

Reason: In light of the excavation of new foundations and to ensure adequate
access for archaeological investigations in compliance with Policies 15 High quality
design for Lewisham and 16 Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic
environment of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Policy HC1 Heritage
conservation and growth of the London Plan (March 2021)
7)

LIVING ROOF
a) The green (sedum) roof shall be installed in line with submitted drawing
(number 2027) received on 23 July 2021.
b) The green (sedum) roof shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space
of any kind whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential
maintenance or repair, or escape in case of emergency.
c) Evidence that the roof has been installed in accordance with (a) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
the first occupation of the development hereby approved.
Reason: To comply with Policy G5 Urban greening in the London Plan (March
2021) , Policy 10 managing and reducing flood risk and Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24
Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
1)

CIL
As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form'
to the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must
be submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure
to follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on
CIL is available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/applyfor-planning-permission/application-process/Pages/CommunityInfrastructure-Levy.aspx

2)

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all applicants in a
positive and proactive way through specific pre-application enquiries and the
detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On this particular application,
no pre-application advice was sought. However, positive discussions took place
which resulted in further information being submitted.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
1)

Submission drawings

2)

Submission technical reports and documents

3)

Statutory consultee responses

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 239

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
Report author: Max Curson (Planning Officer)
Email: max.curson@lewisham.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 8314 7219

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 240

Page 241

This page is intentionally left blank

Nelsons Archway, Brigade Street
SE3 0TW
Application No. DC/21/121093
Page 243

The Change of use from lock up / open storage yard (Use Class B8) to an office (Use
Class E) including the construction of a roof over the whole site and all associated works
at Nelsons Archway, Brigade Street, SE3.

This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
1 1 of 30

Page 244

Site Location Plan

2 2 of 30

Page 245

Existing Aerial View

3 3 of 30

Page 246

Proposed North Elevation
and Section

4 4 of 30

Page 247

Proposed Floor Plan and Roof Plan (1:50)

5 5 of 30

Page 248

Proposed Green Roof Section

6 6 of 30

Key planning considerations
Page 249

• Principle of Development
• Urban Design
• Impact on living conditions of neighbours

7 7 of 30

Page 250

Aerial View

8 8 of 30

Page 251

Existing North Elevation

9 9 of 30

Page 252

Existing Floor Plan and Section

1010 of 30

Agenda Item 9

Planning Committee C
Report title:

LAND TO THE REAR OF, 29 LADYWELL ROAD, LONDON, SE13 7UW
Date: 02 December 2021
Key decision: No.
See “Legal Requirements” in the guidance for more information.
Class: Part 1
See “Legal Requirements” in the guidance for more information.
Ward(s) affected: Lewisham Central
Contributors: Max Curson

Outline and recommendations
This report sets out the Officer’s recommendation of approval for the above proposal. The
report has been brought before Committee for a decision as three individual objections
have been received from local residents.

Page 253

Application details
Application reference number(s): DC/21/123398
Application Date:

09 September 2021

Applicant:

Lotta Nyman

Proposal:

Demolition of two garages on land at the rear of 29 Ladywell Road
SE13 and the construction of a one storey house incorporating
basement and associated landscaping.

Background Papers:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Designation:

Area of Archaeological Priority
PTAL 6a
Flood Risk Zone 2 and 3
Local Open Space Deficiency
St Mary’s Conservation Area and Article 4
Air Quality
Major District Centre

Screening:

Not applicable.

Submission drawings
Submission technical reports and documents
Internal consultee responses
Statutory consultee responses

SITE AND CONTEXT
Site description and current use

1

The application site is located to the rear of No 29 Ladywell Road, an end-of-terrace
dwellinghouse on the junction of Ladywell Road and Church Grove. There are two
single-storey garages with a forecourt on the site. The garages are accessed from
Church Grove.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 254

Figure 1: Site Plan

Character of area

2

The surrounding area is predominantly residential with similarly built terraced dwellings
situated on Church Grove and Ladywell Road.

3

Houses here form attractive stock brick terraces with medium-size front gardens. The
terrace houses retained good cohesive appearance. They form part of the view into the
conservation area from the railway bridge and they are the only residential houses in the
conservation area.
Heritage/archaeology

4

The site is within the St Marys Conservation Area and is subject to an Article 4 direction.
In addition to this the site is an Area of Archaeological Priority. The Grade II listed
Playtower (former Ladywell Baths) are close to the site, while the terraces on Ladywell
Road and Church Grove are considered non-designated heritage assets (NDHAs).
Surrounding area

5

The site is located approximately 200m from the entrance to the Ladywell Fields Park.
Lewisham High Street is 0.2miles away and it provides various shops, other facilities and
services
Local environment

6

The site falls within Flood Risk Zone 2 and 3 as shown on the Environmental Agency
maps.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 255

7

It is also within an area of Local Open Space Deficiency and Air Quality Management
Area.
Transport

8

The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score of 6a on a scale of 16b, 1 being lowest and 6b the highest. It is less than 200m from Ladywell Station and
about 700m from Lewisham Town Centre.

9

Church Grove is included in Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) B, which covers this part of
Ladywell and Lewisham Central Mon-Sat 9am-6.30pm.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
10

Application DC/20/117753 for “Demolition of two garages on land at the rear of 29
Ladywell Road and the construction of part 1/part 2 storey house incorporating
basement and associated landscaping” was received in July 2020 and refused in
October 2020 for the following reasons:
1)

The proposed development by reason of its siting, height, scale, bulk and design
would result in a form of development that does not maintain or enhance the
special historic character and appearance of the building, which is a nondesignated heritage asset. The development would fail to preserve or enhance the
character and appearance of the St Mary’s Conservation Area, affecting the setting
of the application building and its contribution to the immediate area and wider
conservation area. For this reason the proposal does not accord with paragraph
124, 184 and 192 of the NPPF (2019); Policies 7.4 ‘Local character’ and 7.6
‘Architecture’ of the London Plan (2016); Policies 15 ‘High quality design for
Lewisham’ and 16 ‘Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic
environment’ of the Core Strategy (2011); DM Policies 30 ‘Urban design and local
character’, 31 ‘Alteration and extensions to existing building including residential
extensions’, 32 ‘Housing design, layout and space standards’, 36 ‘New
development, changes of use and alterations affecting designated heritage assets
and their setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient
monuments and registered parks and gardens’ and 37 ‘Non designated heritage
assets including locally listed buildings, areas of special local character and areas
of archaeological interest’ of the Development Management Local Plan (2014);
and the Alterations and Extension Supplementary Planning Document (2019).

2)

The proposed development would by reason of its siting, scale, height result in
development that would have an adverse impact on No. 29 Ladywell Road in
terms of being visually intrusive and overbearing, and result in an unreasonable
sense of enclosure and unacceptable harmful impact on outlook from the windows
in its rear elevation and its rear garden. As such, the proposal is contrary to
paragraph 124 of the NPPF (February 2019); Policy 7.6 ‘Architecture' of the
London Plan (March 2016); Policies 15 ‘High quality design for Lewisham’ of the
Core Strategy (June 2011); DM Policy 31 'Alteration and extensions to existing
building including residential extension'; DM Policy 32 'Housing design, layout and
space standards' of the Development Management Plan (November 2014), and
the Alterations and Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2019).

3)

The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the proposed development would not
result in an unacceptable increase on on-street parking stress or demonstrate that
it would not have a detrimental impact on the safe and efficient operation of the

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 256

adjacent public highway. Accordingly, the proposal is contrary to Policies 6.12
“Road network capacity” and 6.13 “Parking” of the London Plan (March 2016) and
Policy 14 “Sustainable movement and transport” of the Lewisham Core Strategy
(June 2011).

11

A subsequent application DC/21/119932 dated 11 December 2020 was withdrawn by
the applicant.

CURRENT PLANNING APPLICATION
THE PROPOSALS
12

The application proposes the demolition of the existing garages, excavation below
ground to form a basement and construction of a one-bedroom two-person, two-storey
dwellinghouse, with only one storey visible above ground.

Figure 2: Extract from Design and Access Statement

13

The dwelling would have a flat roof and be finished in a London stock brick.

14

The basement would contain the kitchen, living and dining space opening onto a sunken
terrace. At ground floor there would be a double bedroom, bathroom and small study
area. Cycle and refuse storage would be provided in separate stores. Rooflights would
provide some additional lighting to the basement and ground floor levels.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 257

COMPARISON WITH PREVIOUS SCHEME
15

The refused scheme, shown in figure 3 below, was larger than the current proposal in
both footprint and height. It was for a two-bedroom dwellinghouse with two storeys
above ground, with a correspondingly larger footprint and greater presence on the site.

Figure 3: Previously refused scheme

Figure 4: Current proposal

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 258

CONSULTATION
PRE-APPLICATION ENGAGEMENT
16

No pre-application engagement was undertaken.

APPLICATION PUBLICITY
17

Site notices were displayed on 25 September 2021 and a press notice was published on
29 September 2021.

18

Letters were sent to residents and business in the surrounding area and the relevant
ward Councillors on 21 September 2021.

19

Three responses were received, comprising three objections.
Comments in objection
Comment

Para where addressed

A building in such a location would not be
in keeping with the character of the street.

76-84

It would reduce the width of the alleyway
to access the garages on Ladywell Road,
increasing the likelihood of traffic
accidents.

103

The design of the development would not
enhance or preserve Church Grove or the
wider conservation area.

76-84

Having a development with a basement is
not safe in a flood zone.

132-136

Church Grove is under parking stress. The
existing area in front of the garages is
often used as overflow parking. Its loss will
intensify parking issues.

100-106

The proposed development would be
overlooked by No.29 Ladywell Road.

59, 120

20

A further comment was received regarding the loss of a turning area. The site is private
land and not part of the public highway. It therefore does not function as a formal turning
area and Officers do not consider this to be a relevant consideration.

21

A further comment was received stating that granting permission would lead to further
development in other mews. Each planning decision will made on the merits of each
individual application. As such, this is not a material planning

INTERNAL CONSULTATION
22

The following internal consultees were notified on 20 September 2021.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 259

23

Conservation: no objection subject to conditions. See paras 76-84 for further details.

24

Highways: no objection subject to conditions and applicant entering into s106. See paras
100-106 for further details.

EXTERNAL CONSULTATION
25

The following External Consultees were notified on 20 September 2021.

26

Environment Agency: raised no objections subject to conditions. See paras 132-136 for
further details.

27

Thames Water: raised no objection subject to informatives.

28

Ladywell Society: did not provide comments.

POLICY CONTEXT
LEGISLATION
29

Planning applications are required to be determined in accordance with the statutory
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38(6) Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and S70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990).

30

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990: S.66/S.72 gives the LPA
special duties in respect of heritage assets.

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
31

A material consideration is anything that, if taken into account, creates the real possibility
that a decision-maker would reach a different conclusion to that which they would reach
if they did not take it into account.

32

Whether or not a consideration is a relevant material consideration is a question of law
for the courts. Decision-makers are under a duty to have regard to all applicable policy
as a material consideration.

33

The weight given to a relevant material consideration is a matter of planning judgement.
Matters of planning judgement are within the exclusive province of the LPA. This report
sets out the weight Officers have given relevant material considerations in making their
recommendation to Members. Members, as the decision-makers, are free to use their
planning judgement to attribute their own weight, subject to aforementioned directions
and the test of reasonableness.

NATIONAL POLICY & GUIDANCE




National Planning Policy Framework 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014 onwards (NPPG)
National Design Guidance 2019 (NDG)

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 260

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
34

The Development Plan comprises:







London Plan (March 2021) (LPP)
Core Strategy (June 2011) (CSP)
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) (DMP)
Site Allocations Local Plan (June 2013) (SALP)
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014) (LTCP)

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
35

Lewisham SPG/SPD:



St Mary’s Conservation Area Supplementary Planning Document (2006)

OTHER MATERIAL DOCUMENTS


Small Site Supplementary Planning Document (2021)

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
36

The main issues are:










Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment
Planning Obligations

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT
General policy

37

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) at paragraph 11, states that there is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be
approved without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

38

The London Plan (LP) sets out a sequential spatial approach to making the best use of
land set out in LPP GG2 (Parts A to C) that should be followed.
Policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 261

39

National, regional and local planning policies all indicate that development should aim to
make the most effective use of land. Indeed, the London Plan makes housing a priority.

40

The Core Strategy (CSP) recognises the Borough’s need for housing and outlines the
objectives to achieve 18,165 new dwellings between 2009/2010 and 2025. The London
Plan (LPP) at Policy H1 increases Lewisham’s ten-year (2019/20 - 2028/29) housing
target at 16,670, or 1,667 as an annualised average. Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial
Policy 1 ‘Lewisham Spatial Strategy’ that links to Core Strategy Objective 2 ‘Housing
Provision and Distribution’ supports the delivery of new housing to meet local need.

41

LPP H2 states that boroughs should increase the contribution of small sites (below 0.25
hectares) to meeting London’s housing needs and sets a ten year target for Lewisham of
3,790 new homes.

42

DMP 33 sets out the requirements for a variety of sites within residential areas that may
come forward for development. Development on these sites require careful consideration
due to the need to preserve the quality and amenity of residential areas. The main types
of sites are infill sites, backland sites, back gardens and amenity area.
Discussion

43

Officers consider this to be an Infill Site for the purposes of DMP 33, as it has a wide
street frontage with access to Church Grove. There is an existing structure that severs
this land from the garden of the frontage property and the open space beyond that is laid
out for vehicle parking. No loss of amenity space would arise from this development.

44

The proposal would involve the loss of two garage space. The existing garages are no
longer considered fit for purpose due to their limited width. The technical note states the
garages are not used for storing vehicles and the hard-standing has not been used by
the landowner for several years. This is the information that has been given to the
applicant from the current site owner and officers have no evidence to dispute this
assertion. As such, the loss off the garages is considered acceptable.

45

The scheme would provide one additional residential dwelling. Although the contribution
to the overall housing market would be small, this is a welcome contribution to the
current annual target for Lewisham.

46

In light of the above, the proposed redevelopment of this site is consistent with the
direction of the NPPF, policies in the adopted and intended to publish London Plan and
the various documents in the Lewisham development plan.
Principle of development conclusions

47

In light of the above, the proposed redevelopment of this site is consistent with the
Development Plan, subject to detail, and is considered a planning merit to which
moderate weight is attached.

HOUSING
48

This section covers the standard of accommodation.

Residential Quality
General Policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 262

49

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D6), the Core
Strategy (CS P15), the Local Plan (DMP 32) and associated guidance (Housing SPD
2017, GLA; Alterations and Extensions SPD 2019, LBL).

50

LPP D6 requires new homes to meet specific space and other standards. In addition,
DMP 32 requires all new residential developments to provide accommodation of a good
size, a good outlook, with acceptable shape and layout of rooms, with main habitable
rooms receiving direct sunlight and daylight, and adequate privacy.

51

The main components of residential quality are: (i) space standards; (ii) outlook and
privacy; (iii) overheating; (iv) daylight and sunlight; (v) noise and disturbance; (vi)
accessibility and inclusivity; and (vii) children’s play space.
Internal and external space standards
Policy

52

LPP D6 seeks to achieve housing development with the highest quality internally and
externally in relation to their context. Minimum space standards are set out in Table 3.1
of the London Plan.
Discussion

53

The table below sets out proposed dwelling sizes.
Table 1: Internal space standards – proposed v target

No of
No. of
2 storey
bedrooms persons dwelling
(proposed
(target))
1b 2p

59 (58)

Bedroom size
sqm
(proposed
(target))

Amenity space
sqm (proposed
(target))

Built-in
storage
(proposed
(target))

11.7 (11.5)

6.5 (5)

3.2 (1.5)

54

The proposed house would meet the requirements of LPP D6 in terms of total
floorspace.

55

The proposal would also meet the requirements of LPP D6 in terms of the size of
bedrooms with the double bedroom measuring 11.7sqm. The bedrooms would also be
policy compliant in terms of the width of the rooms. The floor to ceiling height of the
dwellings would be at least 2.5m in accordance with DMP 32 and LPP D6, while the
storage would also comply.

56

The sunken terrace would provide 6.5sqm of external amenity space, which exceeds the
5sqm minimum required by LPP D6. This is therefore acceptable.
Outlook, Privacy and Overheating
Policy

57

DMP 32 expects all new development to provide a satisfactory level of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for both its future residents, which is also supported by the Mayors
Housing SPD. Furthermore, the London Plan Policy D6 requires the highest standards

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 263

of design and construction to be achieved, including the avoidance of single-aspect
units.

58

London Plan Policies D6 and SI4 seek to avoid internal overheating through design,
materials, construction and operation of the development. The Mayor’s Housing SPG
also demonstrates that development proposals should achieve an appropriate design of
dwellings to avoid overheating without heavy reliance on energy intensive mechanical
cooling systems.

59

The Small Sites SPD (2021) notes that the architecture of small sites will often need to
work harder to protect and achieve privacy and outlook of neighbours and at the same
time provide adequate privacy and outlook to the new residents. The design and the
condition to require obscure glazed window facing No.29, will ensure the privacy of the
residents in maintained.
Discussion

60

The main living space would have somewhat restricted outlook into a sunken terrace,
however the ground floor would have good outlook to the east. On balance this is
acceptable, in light of the constrained nature of the site and the overall good standard of
accommodation otherwise.

61

The dwelling would benefit from good levels of privacy.

62

The dwelling would be dual aspect and the windows on the ground floor would be
screened with a lattice of bricks. These measures are considered sufficient to avoid
unacceptable overheating in this instance, having regard to the modest scale of the
development.
Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

63

DM Policy 31 (1) (b) expects new development to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy,
outlook and natural lighting for its future residents.
Discussion

64

Officers consider the daylight and sunlight levels would be acceptable. No assessment
has been provided but it is not considered necessary for this scheme given its modest
scale and the benefits identified in the Design and Access Statement, namely: full height
windows facing south at basement level, triple aspect ground floor, use of rooflights in
upper hallway, bedroom and shower room and to the kitchen and staircase.

Housing conclusion
65

Overall, the proposed development would provide a good standard of residential
accommodation in compliance with LPP D6 and DMP 32.

URBAN DESIGN
General Policy

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 264

66

The NPPF at para 126 states the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve.

67

LPP D3 requires new development proposals to enhance local context by delivering
buildings and spaces that positively respond to local distinctiveness through their layout,
orientation, scale, appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and emerging
street hierarchy, building types, forms and proportions.

68

Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham repeats the necessity to
achieve high quality design but also confirms a requirement for new developments to
minimise crime and the fear of crime.

69

DMLP DM30, Urban design and local character states that all new developments should
provide a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development
in the vicinity. The London Plan, Lewisham Core Strategy and Lewisham DMLP policies
further reinforce the principles of the NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality
urban design. DM Policy 33 seek to protect and enhance the Borough’s character and
street frontages through appropriate and high-quality design.
Heritage Policy

70

Section 72 of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
gives LPAs the duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.

71

Relevant paragraphs of Chapter 16 of the NPPF set out how LPAs should approach
determining applications that relate to heritage assets. This includes giving great weight
to the asset’s conservation, when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset. Further, that where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset that harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.

72

LPP HC1 states that development should among other things conserve and incorporate
heritage assets where appropriate. Where it would affect heritage assets, development
should be sympathetic to their form, scale, materials and architectural details.

73

CSP 16 ensures the value and significance of the borough’s heritage assets are among
things enhanced and conserved in line with national and regional policy.

74

DMP 36 echoes national and regional policy and summarises the steps the borough will
take to manage changes to Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments and Registered Parks and Gardens so that their value and significance as
designated heritage assets is maintained and enhanced.

75

DMP 37 seeks to ensure that the value and significance of the borough’s nondesignated heritage assets are protected so that they may continue to contribute to the
richness of the borough’s historical environment and inform future development and
regeneration.
Discussion

76

The Conservation Officer’s full comments constitute part of the background papers. In
summary, the St Mary’s Conservation Area Character Appraisal describes Church Grove

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 265

as “a small cul-de-sac with particular charm, due mainly to the well planted front
gardens, smartly painted houses and survival of distinctive sash windows”. No 29 is the
eastern end of a group with No’s 29-41 and 43-53. All of these buildings and those in
Church Grove are identified as making a positive contribution to the Conservation Area
and are considered NDHA).

77

The development site is the former rear garden to No 29, and is therefore of significance
in forming the setting for this building. It reveals the historic pattern of development and
allows views of the rears of Ladywell Road houses from Church Grove.

78

Officers consider the existing situation on the site detracts from the character and
appearance of the St Mary’s Conservation Area. There is no objection to the demolition
and redevelopment of the site provided that development is sensitive to the appearance
and character of the surrounding area.

79

The former Ladywell baths (now known as the Playtower, Grade II listed) terminates the
view from the northern end of Church Grove, and the proposed development would be
seen in the foreground of this view.

80

The height and flat roofed form are sensitive to the historic pattern of development. It
reads as a subordinate structure, continuing the scale of the boundary wall of no. 29.
The cut-out entrance area at the northern end responds to the building line and gardens
of the terrace to the north, and mitigates the transition between set-back buildings and
buildings on the back edge of pavement. The form is a series of cuboids, relatively
simple as befits its location but enhanced by the texture of the brickwork, with hit and
miss brickwork to the glazed areas, and recessed headers to the solid Flemish bonded
area. This, and the use of London Stock Brick, would help the building to sit comfortably
in the streetscene and not attract undue attention away from the historic street or harm
the symmetry of the existing arrangement.

81

Timber doors and aluminium framed windows are appropriate to the design of the
building. It would have a blue roof with a sedum matt which is considered to improve the
appearance of the site when viewed from the upper floors of the houses on Ladywell
Road.

82

In terms of impact on listed buildings, the proposal would preserve the historic integrity of
the view south along Church Grove towards the Playtower, responding to the historic
pattern of development that forms the edges of view, and not encroach into the view or
unduly draw attention away from the historic buildings. Turning to the impact on NDHAs,
the proposal would sit comfortably at their rear, representing an appropriately
subordinate scale and form. It would allow views of the rears of Nos 29-41 Ladywell
Road, and would not block views of the Church Grove terrace to the north. The cut-out
corner responds well to the pattern of front gardens and building line of this terrace.

83

The proposal includes basement excavation which could disturb archaeological
deposits. Historic England have confirmed they have no objections to this proposal on
archaeological grounds. GLAAS have confirmed that the proposal is unlikely to have a
significant effect on heritage assets of archaeological interest.

84

Officers consider that the current proposal maintain the character and appearance of the
St Mary’s Conservation Area, subject to a materials condition to confirm the colour of the
London Stock Brick (yellow would be most appropriate) and the colour/finish of the
timber doors and aluminium framed windows.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 266

Urban design conclusion
85

Officers, having regard to the statutory duties in respect of listed buildings in the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the relevant
paragraphs in the NPPF in relation to conserving the historic environment, are satisfied
the proposal would maintain the character and appearance of Conservation Area.

TRANSPORT IMPACT
General policy

86

Nationally, the NPPF requires the planning system to actively manage growth to support
the objectives of para 104. This includes: (a) addressing impact on the transport
network; (b) realise opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure; (c)
promoting walking, cycling and public transport use; (d) avoiding and mitigating adverse
environmental impacts of traffic; and (e) ensuring the design of transport considerations
contribute to high quality places. Significant development should be focused on locations
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and a choice of
transport modes.

87

Para 111 states “Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds
if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe”.

88

Regionally, the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (‘the MTS’, GLA, March 2018) sets out the
vision for London to become a city where walking, cycling and green public transport
become the most appealing and practical choices. The MTS recognises links between
car dependency and public health concerns.

89

The Core Strategy, at Objective 9 and CSP14, reflects the national and regional
priorities.

Local Transport Network
Policy

90

The NPPF at paragraph 104 states that significant impacts on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion) should be mitigated to an acceptable degree.
Discussion

91

The application site has a PTAL of 6a, which is an excellent level of public transport
accessibility. Officers are satisfied that the modest scale of development would prevent
the need for any mitigation in terms of increased transport capacity and that any impacts
to the local transport network could be accommodated within the existing transport
services and infrastructure.

Servicing and refuse
Policy

92

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 267

93

CSP13 sets out the Council’s waste management strategy for new development and
states that major developments should be designed to incorporate the existing and
future long-term needs of waste management and disposal.

94

Storage facilities for waste and recycling containers should meet at least BS5906:2005
Code of Practice for waste management in Buildings in accordance with London Plan
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016) standard 23.
Discussion

95

A refuse store for the development would be provided at the front of the site close to the
entrance. The store would house two standard (240l) wheelie bins, which would be
sufficient to meet the refuse and recycling requirements for the development. No space
is indicated for food waste, however. This can be addressed via a condition, should
Members be minded to grant planning permission.

96

The store is located at the back edge of the footpath on Church Grove which is within
the 10m accepted by Lewisham Council. As such, the refuse and recycling facilities are
considered acceptable, subject to the aforementioned condition.

Transport modes
Cycling
Policy

97

Residential development I required to provide cycle parking in accordance with the
requirements of Policy T5 and Table 10.2 of the London Plan.
Discussion

98

The property would be provided with cycle storage for two bikes in accordance with the
requirements of Table 10.2 of the London Plan. A condition is recommended to ensure
that the store is secured and covered and provided prior to occupation.
Private cars
Policy

99

LPP T6 supported by CSP 14 and DMP 29 require developments to take a restrained
approach to parking provision to ensure a balance is struck to prevent excessive car
parking provision that can undermine cycling, walking and public transport use. Table
10.3 of the London Plan sets the maximum car parking standards for residential
developments.
Discussion

100

No off-street parking is proposed, and theoretically the proposal results in the loss of offstreet parking.

101

The site is in a PTAL 6a area, which indicates excellent to public transport. The provision
of a car-free development would be complaint with the principles of the development
plan and as such is supported.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 268

102

Parking survey data was provided within the Parking Technical Note. The document was
prepared by Lime Transport as part of their January 2021 technical note and was carried
out in accordance with the Lambeth Methodology on two consecutive nights in midDecember 2020.

103

Objectors have raised concerns that the site currently contributes to parking capacity
and its loss would exacerbate existing parking stress. The technical note states the
garages are not used for storing vehicles and the hard-standing has not been used by
the landowner for several years. This is the information that has been given to the
applicant from the current site owner and officers have no evidence to dispute this
assertion. In addition, the land is private, and not part of the public realm, thus would not
be considered to restrict the access road to other nearby garages.

104

Another issue that was highlighted by objectors is that the survey was undertaken during
a national lockdown.

105

Officers agree with the conclusion of the technical note. The results confirm the roads
within the vicinity of the application site experience high levels of parking stress. Whilst
parking impact on the survey area are acceptable, the site has the potential to add
parking stress on Church Grove. Therefore it is considered necessary to secure a
planning obligation to restrict the rights of future residents to a parking permit for the
CPZ. This would be via a legal agreement or unilateral undertaking under S106 of the
Act.

106

The applicant would be required by condition to remove the existing crossover and
reinstate the footway on the site frontage, should Members be minded to grant planning
permission.

Construction impact
Policy

107

LPP T7 states that development proposals should facilitate sustainable freight
movement by rail, waterways and road. Additionally, LPP T7 requires that construction
logistic plans should be development in accordance with TfL guidance.
Discussion

108

The site constraints, including the narrowness of Church Grove and the lack of space on
the site for storage of materials and receiving deliveries, impose practical concerns for
the construction phase of the development. Therefore a detailed Construction Logistics
Management Plan (“CLMP”) is required to confirm that all vehicles can approach, pull
into and out of the designated loading area without overriding any kerbs or blocking the
highway. The CMP should have regard for the other consented development on Church
Grove, and consider the cumulative impact of construction activity on the residents of
Church Grove. A traffic management plan and further details of protection and temporary
arrangements for pedestrians, including access to neighbouring properties would also be
required within the plan. A site plan showing the location of storage for materials would
be required. These details would be secured within the CLMP, to be agreed prior to the
commencement of any works on site, including any site clearance or demolition.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 269

Other
109

Highway Officer requested that further details of the boundary treatment is required, with
particular reference to the wall between the proposed entrance to the property and the
adjacent rear access road. The boundary wall adjacent to the entrance should not
obscure visibility for vehicles using the rear access road. Visibility splays should be
provided in accordance with the standards in ‘Manual for Streets’. In addition, the
boundary treatment adjacent to the rear access road should be extended to include the
north side of the steps that provide access to the property. The proposed arrangement
could result in turning vehicles overrunning the steps if they aren’t protected by a
boundary treatment. This detail would be secured by a planning conditions.

Transport impact conclusion
110

In summary, the proposed development is considered to have an acceptable impact on
the surrounding highway and transport network subject to the imposition of the
conditions recommended above.

LIVING CONDITIONS OF NEIGHBOURS
General Policy

111

NPPF para 130 sets an expectation that new development will be designed to create
places that amongst other things have a ‘high standard’ of amenity for existing and
future users. At para 183 it states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health and living conditions.

112

The NPPF at para 174(e) states decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural
and local environment by preventing new and existing development from contributing to,
being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels
of soil, air , water or noise pollution or land instability. At para 180(a) of the NPPF states
that planning decisions should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse
impacts resulting from noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life.

113

This is reflected in relevant policies of the London Plan (LPP D3), the Core Strategy
(CP15), the Local Plan (DMPs 32 and 33) and associated guidance.

114

LPP D3 states that development proposals should deliver appropriate impacts to
outlook, privacy and amenity as well as mitigating noise levels.

115

Further guidance is given in the London Plan Housing SPG 2017
Enclosure, Outlook and Privacy
Policy

116

Overbearing impact arising from the scale and position of blocks is subject to local
context. Outlook is quoted as a distance between habitable rooms and boundaries.
Privacy standards are distances between directly facing existing and new habitable
windows and from shared boundaries where overlooking of amenity space might arise.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 270

117

DMP 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of privacy, outlook
and natural lighting for its neighbours. Additionally, the justification for DMP 32 at
paragraph 2.250 advises that there should be a minimum separation of 21m between
directly facing habitable room windows on main rear elevations.
Discussion

118

The properties most likely to be impacted by the proposal are Nos 29 and 31 Ladywell
Road. Other properties are considered sufficiently far from the site, or situated in such a
way relative to the site, that no harm would arise.

119

The proposed building is modest in scale and would be 3.6m to the eaves. The location,
mass and height of the building would mean that it would be in view from the
neighbouring properties. The rear elevation of No 29 Ladywell Road is approximately 9m
away at ground floor and 12m at first floor from the proposed building. Officers consider
that the proposed property would have no harmful effect on the outlook from No 29. A
short section (3.3m) of wall directly alongside the garden of No 31 would be 3.6m high,
substantially higher than is normally permitted for outbuildings. Given the depth of the
garden and the denser morphology of this part of the borough, this is considered
acceptable.

120

Concerns have been raised in respect of overlooking of No 29. This would not arise as
the window facing that direction would be obscure glazed; accordingly, the fact the
distance between facing walls is less than 21m is not a reason to refuse the scheme. A
condition is recommended to secure this, along with a condition to remove other relevant
permitted development rights from this dwellinghouse, including the right to convert to an
HMO, in light of the context of the surrounding area.

Daylight and Sunlight
Policy

121

The NPPF does not express particular standards for daylight and sunlight.

122

DMP 32 expects new developments to provide a ‘satisfactory level’ of natural lighting for
its neighbours.
Discussion

123

The scale and position of the proposed dwelling relative to neighbouring properties’
habitable rooms and their amenity spaces is such that no adverse impact on their
daylight or sunlight is likely to arise.

Noise and disturbance
Policy

124

PPG states LPAs should consider noise when new developments may create additional
noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing acoustic
environment.
Discussion

125

The introduction of new residential properties within a residential area is not considered
to result in any significant long-term material impacts in terms of noise and disturbance.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 271

The construction phase of development is likely to introduce short-term disturbances to
the surrounding properties, however Officers do not consider that to be a material
planning consideration in this case due to the modest scale of development. Hours of
noisy work are controlled by other legislation.

Impact on neighbours conclusion
126

The proposed development would not cause any unreasonable harm to the
neighbouring properties.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Living roofs

127

The proposed development would have a blue roof with a sedum matt.

Flood Risk
Policy

128

NPPF para 159 expects inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding to be
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk. Para 167 states
development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where mitigation
measure can be included.

129

LPP SI12 expects development proposals to ensure that flood risk is minimised and
mitigated.

130

CSP 10 requires developments to result in a positive reduction in flooding to the
Borough.

131

Further guidance is given in the NPPG and the GLA Sustainable Design and
Construction SPG.
Discussion

132

The site is located in Flood Zone 2 and 3 which is defined as having a ‘high probability’
of river and sea flooding by the 'flood risk and coastal change' section of the national
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (Table 1: flood zones of the flood zone and flood risk
tables).

133

The proposed development – namely, residential accommodation – would be classified
as ‘more vulnerable’, according to the ‘flood risk and coastal change’ section of the
national PPG (Table 2: flood risk vulnerability classification of the flood zone and flood
risk tables).

134

The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (“FRA”) prepared by Andy
Clay Consulting (dated December 2020) and the FRA addendum by Andy Clay
Consulting (dated March 2021). The proposed development has been designed to
prevent a loss of flood storage volume by keeping the area of basement level the same
area as the existing garages. The ground floor would be elevated above the existing
ground level by 0.3m. The roof of the proposed building would have a blue roof which
would help to retain water and slow run-off.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 272

135

There may be other sources of flooding which affect this site – such as surface water
and groundwater flooding – which are not within our direct remit, but nevertheless could
be important considerations for managing flood risk for the proposed development.
Indeed, consideration of other sources of flooding may be necessary to inform suitable
mitigation measures to reduce the impact of any such flooding. Under the Flood &
Water Management Act 2010, the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has the lead role in
such flooding matters.

136

Lewisham’s SFRA (Level 1) states that “where a basement is proposed as part of a
larger dwelling in Flood Zone 3a, covenants need to be put in place to prevent future
alteration of the basement to ‘more vulnerable’ uses without further consideration of the
associated flood risk” (Paragraph 4.2.7). The Environment Agency’s lack of objection to
this scheme relies on such a covenant to be put in place. A planning obligation is the
appropriate means to secure this. The EA have also requested four other conditions,
one of which overlaps with a condition suggested by Officers to comply with ground
contamination. The other three relate to further details of the basement wall and to
drainage systems, and for the development to be carried out in accordance with the
submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Flood Risk Assesment Addendum.

Sustainable Urban Drainage
Policy

137

The NPPF at para 165 expects major development to incorporate sustainable urban
drainage systems (SUDS) unless there is clear evidence it is inappropriate.

138

LPP SI13 expects development to achieve greenfield run-off rates in accordance with
the sustainable drainage hierarchy.

139

CSP 10 requires applicants demonstrate that the most sustainable urban drainage
system that is reasonably practical is incorporated to reduce flood risk, improve water
quality and achieve amenity and habitat benefits.
Discussion

140

The proposal includes a blue sedum roof roof. The existing site makes no contribution to
the sustainable urban drainage given that it is either covered by an existing garage or
hardstanding. Given the size of the site there is limited opportunity to secure
improvements. In light of this, Officers consider it reasonable to secure the proposed
improvements by condition.
Sustainable Infrastructure conclusion

141

The proposal is acceptable in terms of sustainable development, subject to obligation
and conditions.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
General Policy

142

Contributing to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing
pollution is a core principle for planning.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 273

143

The NPPF and NPPG promote the conservation and enhancement of the natural
environment (chapter 15) and set out several principles to support those objectives.

144

The NPPF at para 183 states decisions should ensure that new development is
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative
effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as
the sensitivity of the site or wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.
Green spaces and trees
Policy

145

NPPF para 174 expects development to contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment.

146

CSP 12 seeks to protect trees and prevent the loss of trees of amenity value, with
replacements where loss does occur.

147

DMP 25 sets out the required information for landscaping plans and their management,
along with the information required to support development affecting trees.
Discussion

148

The proposal includes plants within the courtyard and cycle store roof, provision of bat
and bird boxes and brown/blue roofs. The existing site makes no contribution to the
natural environment and given the size of the site there is limited opportunity to secure
improvements. In light of this, Officers consider it reasonable to secure the proposed
improvements by condition.

Ground pollution
Policy

149

Failing to deal adequately with contamination could cause harm to human health,
property and the wider environment (NPPG, 2014). The NPPF at para 174 states
decisions should among other things prevent new and existing development from
contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by,
unacceptable levels of soil pollution. Development should help to improve local
environmental conditions.

150

The NPPF states decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment by remediating and mitigating contaminated land, where appropriate (para
174). Further, the NPPF at para 183 and NPPG states decisions should ensure a site is
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising
from contamination.

151

DMP 28 reflect national policy and is relevant.
Discussion

152

No ground investigation has been provided with the application. Officers consider this is
appropriate given the low risk that the site has been exposed to contamination, given its
residential use. While the risk is very low, there is the possibility that volatile organic
compounds have leaked from vehicles over the years, so it is appropriate to impose a

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 274

condition requiring approval of remediation measures should any contamination be
encountered during works.

Air pollution
Policy

153

NPPF para 174 states decisions should among other things prevent new and existing
development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of air pollution. Development should,
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air quality.
Proposals should be designed and built to improve local air quality and reduce the extent
to which the public are exposed to poor air quality. Poor air quality affects people’s living
conditions in terms of health and well-being. People such as children or older people are
particularly vulnerable.

154

LPP SI1 states new development amongst other requirements must endeavour to
maintain the best ambient air quality (air quality neutral) and not cause new
exceedances of legal air quality standards.

155

CSP 7 reflects the London Plan. CSP 9 seeks to improve local air quality. DMP 23 sets
out the required information to support application that might be affected by, or affect, air
quality.

156

Further guidance is given in the Mayor of London’s Air Quality Strategy.
Discussion

157

The site is located in an Air Quality Management Area. The proposal introduces a new
sensitive receptor (residential use). In mitigation, the site is set back from, and screened
by the existing properties fronting, Ladywell Road. It is also modest in scale and benefits
from triple aspect windows. For these reasons it is not consider to materially worsen
existing air quality nor expose new sensitive receptors to unacceptable air quality
impacts.

Natural Environment conclusion
158

The proposal is acceptable in terms of Natural Environment, subject to conditions.

LOCAL FINANCE CONSIDERATIONS
159

160

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a local
finance consideration means:



a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided to
a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or



sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment of
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 275

161

The CIL is therefore a material consideration.

162

£5,220.00 Lewisham CIL and £3,448.93 MCIL is estimated to be payable on this
application, subject to any valid applications for relief or exemption, and the applicant
has completed the relevant form. This would be confirmed at a later date in a Liability
Notice.

EQUALITIES CONSIDERATIONS
163

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the equality
duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability,
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

164

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the
need to:



eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act;



advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;



foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

165

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is a
matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

166

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical Guidance on
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council must
have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is drawn
to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance
also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that
are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without
compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publicationdownload/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england

167

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:







The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
Engagement and the equality duty
Equality objectives and the equality duty
Equality information and the equality duty

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 276

168

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including the
general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what public
authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, as well as
recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed guidance on
key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources are available
at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty-guidance

169

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate specifically to
any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it has been concluded
that there is no impact on equality.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
170

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits
authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting in a way which
is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. ‘’Convention’’ here
means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were
incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention
rights are likely to be relevant including:




Article 8: Respect for your private and family life, home and correspondence
Protocol 1, Article 1: Right to peaceful enjoyment of your property

171

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as
Local Planning Authority.

172

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts are
acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention Rights will be
legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in
the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and duties. Any interference with a
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. Members must therefore,
carefully consider the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider public
interest.

173

This application has the legitimate aim of providing a new buildings for residential use.
The rights potentially engaged by this application, including Article 8 and Protocol 1,
Article 1 considered to be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

LEGAL AGREEMENT
174

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that in dealing with planning
applications, local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning
obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address
unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. It further states that where
obligations are being sought or revised, local planning authorities should take account of
changes in market conditions over time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 277

to prevent planned development being stalled. The NPPF also sets out that planning
obligations should only be secured when they meet the following three tests:
(a)

Necessary to make the development acceptable

(b)

Directly related to the development; and

(c)

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

175

Paragraph 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (April 2010) puts the
above three tests on a statutory basis, making it illegal to secure a planning obligation
unless it meets the three tests.

176

The following matter is necessary to be secured by a Legal Agreement or Unilateral
Undertaking:



177

Removal of rights to a parking permit for the CPZ in which the property is situated
Covenants to prevent future alteration of the basement to ‘more vulnerable’ uses
without further consideration of the associated flood risk

Officers consider that the obligations outlined above are appropriate and necessary in
order to mitigate the impacts of the development and make the development acceptable
in planning terms. Officers are satisfied the proposed obligations meet the three legal
tests as set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (April 2010).

CONCLUSION
178

This application has been considered in the light of policies set out in the development
plan and other material considerations.

179

The principle of developing the site for an additional residential dwelling in a sustainable
urban location is acceptable and in accordance with the Development Plan, and weight
is given to this planning merit.

180

The proposed development is acceptable in terms of its scale, form, design, material and
impact on heritage assets including the conservation area, the NDHA and nearby listed
buildings.

181

The proposal would have no unacceptable impact on neighbour in terms of overlooking,
loss of daylight/sunlight, noise or disturbance. It was also considered that the proposal
would not negatively impact on the local transport network or parking.

182

In light of the above, it is recommended that this planning permission is approved subject
to conditions and informative.

RECOMMENDATION
183

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to a S106 Legal
Agreement or Unliteral Undertaking and to the following conditions and informatives:

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 278

CONDITIONS
1)

FULL PLANNING PERMISSION TIME LIMIT
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2)

APPROVED PLANS
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the application
plans and drawings hereby approved and as detailed below:
ex 001; ex 002; ex 003; 001; 100; 101; 200; 201; 300 received on 13 January
2021.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application and is
acceptable to the local planning

3)

MATERIALS

a) Notwithstanding eh submitted plans and information, prior to
commencement of development no development (above ground level /
beyond the superstructure) shall commence until details of colour of the

London Stock Brick and the colour/finish of the timber doors and
aluminium framed windows have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
b) The scheme shall be constructed in those materials as approved under
part (a) of this condition and in full accordance with state relevant plans
mentioned in Condition 2.
Reason: To ensure that the design is delivered in accordance with the details
submitted and assessed so that the development achieves the necessary high
standard and detailing in accordance with Policies 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character.
4)

REFUSE AND RECYCLING
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground level
/ beyond the superstructure) shall commence until details of refuse and
recycling facilities including food waste bin have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b) The facilities as approved under part (a) of this condition shall be provided
in full prior to occupation of the development and shall thereafter be
permanently retained and maintained.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
provisions for recycling facilities and refuse storage in the interest of safeguarding

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 279

the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and the area in general, in compliance
with Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character and Core Strategy Policy 13 Addressing Lewisham
waste management requirements (2011).
5)

CYCLE STORAGE
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground level
/ beyond the superstructure) shall commence until detail of the cycle
parking facilities that are safe, covered and weatherproofed shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
b) The cycle parking facilities approved under part (a) of this condition shall
be provided in full and made available for use prior to occupation of the
development and maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate provision for cycle parking and to comply
with Policy T5 cycling and Table 10.2 of the London Plan (March 2021) and Policy
14: Sustainable movement and transport of the Core Strategy (2011).

6)

CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PLAN
Prior to commencement of any works on site, including any site clearance or
demolition, the Construction Management and Logistic Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan shall include the
following:a) Confirmation that vehicles that would be used during construction of the
development can approach, pull into and out of the designated loading
area without overriding any kerbs or blocking the highway
b) Demonstrate that the CMP have regard for the other consented
development on Church Grove, and consider the cumulative impact of
construction activity on the residents of Church Grove.
c) A site plan showing the location of storage for materials
d) Dust mitigation measures.
e) The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities
f) Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate noise and
vibration arising out of the construction process
g) Details of construction traffic movements including cumulative impacts
which shall demonstrate the following:(i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii)
Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction relates activity.
(iii)
Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement including any
temporary arrangements for pedestrians, including access to neighbouring
properties
h) Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised personnel).
i) (Details of the training of site operatives to follow the Construction
Management Plan requirements and any Environmental Management
Plan requirements (delete reference to Environmental Management Plan
requirements if not relevant).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 280

Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will minimise
possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties and to
comply with Policy SI1 Improving air quality and Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing
and construction of the London Plan (March 2021).
7)

OBSCURE GLAZED WINDOWS
The window serving bathroom and the window facing the rear elevation of No 29
Ladywell Road as shown on Plan PL2 200 and PL2 201 shall be fitted with
translucent glazing (not a film applied on the glass).
Reason: To avoid the direct overlooking of adjoining properties and consequent
loss of privacy thereto and to comply with DM Policy 31 Alterations and
extensions to existing buildings including residential extensions, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards, DM Policy 32 Housing design,
layout and space standards, and Policy 33 Development on infill sites, backland
sites, back gardens and amenity areas of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).

8)

REMOVAL OF PART 1 PD RIGHTS
The development allowed under Article 2, Schedule 2, Classes, A, B, C, D, E, F,
G, H of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order
2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) of that Order,
shall not be carried out without the prior written permission of the local planning
authority.
Reason: In order that, in view of the nature of the development hereby permitted,
the local planning authority may have the opportunity of assessing the impact of
any further development and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011).

9)

REMOVAL OF PART 3, CLASS L PD RIGHTS
The development allowed under Article 2, Schedule 2, Class L of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) of that Order, shall not be carried
out without the prior written permission of the local planning authority.
Reason: In order that, in view of the nature of the development hereby permitted,
the local planning authority may have the opportunity of assessing the impact of
any further development and to comply with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011).

10)

LIVING ROOF
a) Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development (above ground level
/ beyond the superstructure) shall commence until details of the blue roof
with sedum planting is submitted to and approved in writing by the local

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 281

planning authority. The drawing shall include section, landscaping design
(number, species, etc.).
b) The roofs shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any kind
whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential maintenance or
repair, or escape in case of emergency.
c) Evidence that the roof has been installed in accordance with (a) shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to
the first occupation of the development hereby approved.
Reason: To comply with Policy G5 Urban greening in the London Plan (March
2021) , Policy 10 managing and reducing flood risk and Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24
Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
11)

HARD AND SOFT LANDSCAPING
a) Prior to superstructure works drawings showing soft and hard landscaping
of any part of the site not occupied by buildings (including details of the
permeability of hard surfaces) shall be submitted and approved in writing
by the local planning authority.
b) All hard landscaping works which form part of the approved scheme under
part (a) shall be completed prior to occupation of the development.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
details of the proposal and to comply with Policies SI 12 Flood risk management
in the London Plan (March 2021), Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of
the Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) Policy 25 Landscaping and trees, and DM Policy 30 Urban
design and local character.

12)

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY CONDITION 1
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) by Andy Clay Consulting (dated December 2020) and the
submitted FRA addendum by Andy Clay Consulting (dated March 2021) and the
following mitigation measure detailed within:


finished ground floor levels shall be set no lower than 11.69 metres above
Ordnance Datum (mAOD) (Sections 5.4, 5.15 and 7.9 within the submitted
FRA; pages 2 to 5 inclusive within the submitted FRA addendum).

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the development and occupants, in line
with the London Borough of Lewisham’s Core Strategy (Policy 10).

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 282

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY CONDITION 2

13) Prior to commencement of development, details of the covenant on the basement

element of the development must be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Environment Agency. The
covenant should state that the basement level is at an increased risk of flooding
and the finished floor level of the basement is situated significantly below the
modelled flood level including consideration for climate change.
Reason: The purpose of the covenant is to communicate the potential flood risk to
future occupants, informing their decisions, thereby reducing the risk of flooding to
said occupants, in line with the London Borough of Lewisham’s Core Strategy
(Policy 10).
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY CONDITION 3
Prior to commencement of development, further evidence that the basement wall

14) will sufficiently protect the basement level from flooding over the 100 year lifetime
of the development must be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority, in consultation with the Environment Agency. As part of the
submission, the following information should be provided:



details of the basement wall;
a maintenance plan detailing annual inspection and outlining what
maintenance may be required to maintain the wall to a degree where flood
risk is mitigated. The measures shall be implemented as approved, and be
retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the
development.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the development and occupants, in line
with the London Borough of Lewisham’s Core Strategy (Policy 10).
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY CONDITION 4
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
15) present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has been
submitted to, and been approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development
site, in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Paragraph 174).
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY CONDITION 5
No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water drainage in to the ground
are permitted other than with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an assessment of the risks
16)
to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not
put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 283

of water pollution caused by mobilised contaminants, in line with the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Paragraph 174).

INFORMATIVES
1)

FLOOD WARNING
You are advised that occupants of the proposed development register with the
Environment Agency’s flood warning service, in order that they may prepare
themselves in the case of a flood event.

2)

GROUNDWATER AND LAND CONTAMINATION
The Environment Agency notes that the site is situated over a Secondary Aquifer
and within a groundwater Source Protection Zone (SPZ1).
If there is a reason to believe contamination could be an issue, applicants should
provide proportionate but sufficient site investigation information (a risk
assessment) prepared by a competent person to determine the existence or
otherwise of contamination, its nature and extent, the risks it may pose and to
whom/what (the ‘receptors’) in order that these risks can be assessed and
satisfactorily reduced to an acceptable level. The National Quality Mark Scheme
for Land Contamination Management (NQMS) accredits competent persons with
regard to assessing and reporting land contamination issues.

3)

WASTE
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning
significant work near our sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of
damage. We'll need to check that your development doesn't limit repair or
maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The
applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!CvArIuPt5Jb2KM4g46EuP5_k7iJmfGhCcrO5GK4Xiqr6NMXNeDjR1bWh8VYLh0XDzmWag$
Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from
Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you require further
information please refer to our website.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewaterservices__;!!CVb4j_0G!CvArIuPt5Jb2KM4g46EuP5_k7iJmfGhCcrO5GK4Xiqr6NMXNeDjR1bWh8VYLh3Ucy_QXQ$
As required by Building regulations part H paragraph 2.36, Thames Water
requests that the Applicant should incorporate within their proposal, protection to
the property to prevent sewage flooding, by installing a positive pumped device
(or equivalent reflecting technological advances), on the assumption that the
sewerage network may surcharge to ground level during storm conditions. If as

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 284

part of the basement development there is a proposal to discharge ground water
to the public network, this would require a Groundwater Risk Management Permit
from Thames Water. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and
may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We
would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken to
minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should
be directed to Thames Water's Risk Management Team by telephoning
02035779483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk . Application
forms should be completed on line via
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http://www.thameswater.co.uk__;!!CVb4j_0G!CvArIu
Pt5Jb2KM4g46Eu-P5_k7iJmfGhCcrO5GK4Xiqr6NMXNeDjR1bWh8VYLh2jqpfWw$. Please refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers; Groundwater
discharges section.
We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken
to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Groundwater
discharges typically result from construction site dewatering, deep excavations,
basement infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site remediation. Any
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution
under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. Should the Local Planning
Authority be minded to approve the planning application, Thames Water would
like the following informative attached to the planning permission: "A Groundwater
Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for discharging
groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed
illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit
enquiries should be directed to Thames Water's Risk Management Team by
telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk .
Application forms should be completed on line via
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http://www.thameswater.co.uk__;!!CVb4j_0G!CvArIu
Pt5Jb2KM4g46Eu-P5_k7iJmfGhCcrO5GK4Xiqr6NMXNeDjR1bWh8VYLh2jqpfWw$. Please refer to the Wholsesale; Business customers; Groundwater
discharges section.
4)

WATER
There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do
NOT permit the building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're
planning significant works near our mains (within 3m) we'll need to check that your
development doesn't reduce capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities during
and after construction, or inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The
applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-ourpipes__;!!CVb4j_0G!CvArIuPt5Jb2KM4g46EuP5_k7iJmfGhCcrO5GK4Xiqr6NMXNeDjR1bWh8VYLh0XDzmWag$
The applicant is advised that their development boundary falls within a Source
Protection Zone for groundwater abstraction. These zones may be at particular
risk from polluting activities on or below the land surface. To prevent pollution, the
Environment Agency and Thames Water (or other local water undertaker) will use
a tiered, risk-based approach to regulate activities that may impact groundwater
resources. The applicant is encouraged to read the Environment Agency's

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 285

approach to groundwater protection (available at
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/groundw
ater-protection-position-statements__;!!CVb4j_0G!CvArIuPt5Jb2KM4g46EuP5_k7iJmfGhCcrO5GK4Xiqr6NMXNeDjR1bWh8VYLh1eQE8iWw$) and may wish
to discuss the implication for their development with a suitably qualified
environmental consultant.
Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m
head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum
pressure in the design of the proposed development.
5)

CIL
As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on commencement of the
development. An 'assumption of liability form' must be completed and before
development commences you must submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form'
to the council. You should note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must
be submitted and determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure
to follow the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on
CIL is available at: - http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/applyfor-planning-permission/application-process/Pages/CommunityInfrastructure-Levy.aspx
STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING
The applicant be advised that the implementation of the proposal will require
approval by the Council of a Street naming & Numbering application. Application
forms are available on the Council's web site.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
184

(1) Submission drawings
(2) Submission technical reports and documents
(3) Internal consultee responses
(4) Statutory consultee responses

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
185

Report author: Max Curson (Planning Officer)
Email: max.curson@lewisham.gov.uk
Telephone: 020 8314 7219

Is this report easy to understand?
Please give us feedback so we can improve.
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
Page 286

Page 287

This page is intentionally left blank

Land to the rear of 29 Ladywell Road
SE13 7UW
Page 289

Application No. DC/21/123398
Demolition of two garages on land at the rear of 29 Ladywell Road SE13
and the construction of a one storey house incorporating a basement and
associated landscaping.
This presentation forms no part of a planning application
and is for information only.
1 1 of 30

Page 290

Site Location Plan

2 2 of 30

Page 291

Existing Aerial View

3 3 of 30

Page 292

Proposed Design

4 4 of 30

Page 293

Proposed Design

5 5 of 30

Page 294

Proposed Floor PLans

6 6 of 30

Page 295

Comparison between previously
refused scheme.

7 7 of 30

Key planning considerations
Page 296

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Principle of Development
Housing
Urban Design
Impact on Adjoining Properties
Transport
Sustainable Development
Natural Environment

8 8 of 30

Page 297

View from Church Grove

9 9 of 30

This page is intentionally left blank

Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE C

Report Title
Contributors
Date

ADDENDUM - LAND TO THE REAR OF 29 LADYWELL ROAD, SE13
MAX CURSON
02 DECEMBER 2021

ADDENDUM
1

This is an addendum to the Planning Committee C agenda published 25 November
2021 for the upcoming meeting on 02 December 2021.

2

The addendum provides details of a dismissed of appeal APP/C5690/W/21/3273257
relating to application DC/20/117753. This appeal decision was published on 25
November 2021, the morning of agenda publication. The appeal decision is included in
full at Appendix AD1.

3

The appeal decision in is respect of the previously refused scheme noted in the
committee report. The appeal has been dismissed and Lewisham’s decision to refuse
the previous scheme has been upheld.

4

Officer note it is permissible under the planning system for the applicant to appeal the
previous refusal and concurrently proceed with a live application for an amended
proposal. A discussion of the implications of the Inspector’s decision to the current
scheme is below.

ITEM 9 - LAND TO THE REAR OF 29 LADYWELL ROAD, SE13
5

Application DC/20/117753 was for construction of a two-storey two-bedroom
dwellinghouse at the same location as the current site. It was larger than the current
scheme in both footprint and height and had a greater presence on the site. An
assessment of the main appeal issues is below.
Impact on Conservation Area and Listed building

6

The Planning Inspector concludes that the setting of the Grade II listed former Ladywell
Baths would not be harmed by the appeal proposal. However, due to its scale and layout
it would have adversely impacted the character and appearance of the St Mary’s
Conservation Area. The current proposal is a materially different scheme with a reduced
height and a flat roof. As such, officers consider the Planning Inspector’s comments on
the heritage impact on the appeal proposal are consistent with the current proposal
being acceptable as the scale and layout have been amended and reduced.
Amenity of Adjoining Occupiers

7

The Planning Inspector concluded that the appeal scheme would not impact the living
conditions of neighbours. Given the current application is smaller in height and scale,
Officers believe that the current proposal would also not impact the living conditions of
neighbours.
Parking

8

The Planning Inspector concluded that the proposed parking arrangements of the appeal
site would not be harmful to the on-street parking capacity or to the safe or efficient
operation of the highway network in the vicinity of the site. The current application
proposes a car free development. The Heads of Terms for a S106 agreement to prevent
future owners and occupiers of the application site to acquire a parking permit to the
CPZ. Officers therefore consider the appeal decision confirms the current proposal
would not be harmful in transport terms.
Page 299

Conclusion
9

The Planning Inspector’s comments do not alter the recommendation to approve the
current scheme. The harm identified by the Inspector regarding the impact to heritage
assets has been overcome with an amended design as set out in the committee report.
The appeal decision is a material consideration for members and supports the officer
recommendation to approve the current proposal.

10

Planning Officers therefore consider the proposal is compliant with the development
plan.

Page 300

Appeal Decision
Site Visit made on 12 October 2021
by R E Jones BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 25 November 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/C5690/W/21/3273257
Land to the rear of 29 Ladywell Road, Lewisham, London SE13 7UT
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Miss Lotta Nyman against the decision of London Borough of
Lewisham.
The application Ref DC/20/117753, dated 31 July 2020, was refused by notice dated
22 October 2020.
The development proposed is demolition of two garages and erection of a one storey
house with room in the roof and basement and associated landscaping.

Decision
1.

The appeal is dismissed.

Preliminary Matters
2.

A parking survey has accompanied the appeal. This information was not before the
Council when it determined the application. Nonetheless, the details submitted do
not alter the proposal, whilst the Council have had an opportunity to provide
comments. I have therefore assessed the appeal on the basis of the additional
information.

3.

The Council’s refusal notice refers to the effect on a non-designated heritage asset.
However, I have not been referred to this elsewhere in the submitted evidence. In
the absence of any further details, I have proceeded to assess the proposal in the
context of the Council’s other concerns relating to the setting of the Grade II listed
former Ladywell Baths and the St Mary’s Conservation Area.

4.

Between the determination of the planning application and the appeal coming
before me, the new London Plan1 and a revised Framework2 were published. The
Council has subsequently indicated that Policies D1, D6, H2, H3, HC1, T4 and T6 of
the new Plan are relevant to this appeal. The views of the appellant have been
sought on these and I have had regard to their comments in my findings. Similarly,
both main parties have had an opportunity to comment on the revised Framework.

Main Issues
5.

The main issues are:
•

1
2

Whether the proposed development would preserve or enhance the
character of appearance of the St Mary’s Conservation Area (CA) and the
setting of the Grade II listed building known as the former Ladywell Baths;

The London Plan 2021
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 301

Appeal Decision APP/C5690/W/21/3273257

•

The effect of the proposed development on the living conditions of the
occupiers of No 29 Ladywell Road, with particular reference to outlook; and

•

The effect of the proposed development on highway safety with particular
regard to parking conditions in the vicinity.

Reasons
The significance of the CA and nearby listed building
6.

The CA’s significant features include the Grade II listed St Mary’s Church, a group
of Edwardian civic buildings along Ladywell Road and the uniform Victorian terrace
housing lining Ladywell Road and Church Grove.

7.

In the case of Church Grove, I noted during my site visit, that it contained two
lines of painted terrace properties, with distinctive sash windows, marginally set
back from the road. The intervening space between the houses and the street, is
occupied by attractive front gardens containing trees and shrubs that are either
enclosed by low walls, fencing or hedgerow. The symmetry and uniform alignment
of the terraces along with the neatly arranged front boundaries and gardens make
an important contribution to the CA’s significance.

8.

The appeal site comprises a small parcel of vacant land and a single storey garage
building with a frontage onto Church Grove. It is located in the intervening space
between the rear garden of No 29 Ladywell Road (No 29) and the end of terrace
dwelling, No 20 Church Grove (No 20). The garage building has a modest scale and
low-key appearance that is consistent with other buildings located along a rear
service lane behind the dwellings fronting Ladywell Road.

9.

In the context of the CA, the appeal site does not have the same attractive
appearance as the nearby terrace dwellings. Yet, the partially vacant land along
with the garage’s low profile and utilitarian appearance, help to reveal and open up
views of the attractive terrace, when observed from Church Grove and its junction
with Ladywell Road further to the south. Accordingly, the appeal site makes a small
albeit important contribution to the significance of the CA.

10. Located a short distance to the south and fronting Ladywell Road is the Grade II
listed former Ladywell Baths. This is a distinctive red-brick Gothic Revival building
with a round tower sitting between two unsymmetrical bays on the front elevation.
The building’s significance is derived in part from its striking frontage and the
historical role it played as a civic building of cultural importance to the local
community.
11. Church Grove forms part of the listed building’s wider setting and from here
looking south towards its frontage, the flank walls of the end terrace dwellings at
Nos 27 and 29 Ladywell Road along with the street’s boundary structures, help to
frame a large portion of the listed building’s frontage. Given the close proximity of
the existing garage building at the appeal site to the edge of the footway, the
appeal site forms part of that collective built interface with the road that helps to
frame and reveal the listed building’s historical importance from Church Grove. On
this basis the appeal site makes a small albeit valued contribution to the setting of
the listed building from Church Grove, and accordingly its significance.
The effect on the CA and the setting of the listed building
12. The proposed dwelling’s frontage would line up along the back of Church Grove’s
footway, thus having a more advanced position to the road than the existing
garage. The appeal dwelling would also be taller, while having a more prominent

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 3022

Appeal Decision APP/C5690/W/21/3273257

pitched roof set marginally below the roof eaves of No 20, located a short distance
to the north. From the junction with Ladywell Road, the taller and more protruding
appeal building, would partially block views of the attractive sequence of front
gardens along Church Grove’s western frontage while visually jarring against the
rhythm of the uniform terrace dwellings. As a consequence, the scale and layout of
the proposal would have the effect of harmfully eroding the visual interest and
setting of this part of Church Road, whilst being at odds with the prevailing pattern
of development.
13. The appellant considers that the proposal would have an acceptable low-key design
that would be in keeping with the character of the garages to the rear of Ladywell
Road, while enhancing the built edge to Church Road and the rear service lane.
However, it would be larger in scale and more prominent from Church Road than
those other buildings. In addition, its greater built form would unacceptably blunt
the relatively open and revealing views of the terrace, particularly from the south.
14. Whilst the harmful effect of the proposal would predominantly be experienced from
the south this does not diminish its harm upon the heritage asset. Moreover, I note
that the appellant considers that the view of the proposal in context with the
terrace along Church Grove would only be fleeting along Ladywell Road. But this
would be the main view into the street, through what is a large gap in Ladywell
Road. Views from here might be short lived for some passers-by. That said, the
proposal’s position and height would noticeably blunt and obscure views of the
repetitive terrace and attractive front gardens that define the street’s built
typology.
15. The Officer’s report refers to concerns regarding the proposal’s impact on the
setting of the listed former Ladywell Baths, yet the Council’s refusal notice does not
refer to any harm in this regard. Despite this omission, I still have a duty under the
terms of the Act to assess whether the proposal would preserve or enhance the
setting of the listed building.
16. Despite the proposed dwelling’s more advanced position to the road than the
terraced dwellings to the north, it would still align with the boundary and flank wall
of No 29 that borders the entrance to Church Grove. This would continue the built
interface along the road that helps to frame the important view out of Church
Grove towards the listed building. Therefore, the proposal would preserve its
setting and the contribution it makes to the listed building’s significance.
17. In concluding on the first main issue, I have found that the setting of the listed
former Ladywell Baths would not be harmed. Nevertheless, the proposed
development would fail to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of
the CA, to the desirability of which the Act requires that special attention is paid.
18. The proposed development would conflict with Policies D1, D6, H2 and HC1 of the
London Plan 2021, Policies 15 and 16 of the Core Strategy (2011) and DM Policies
30, 32, 33 and 36 of the Development Management Local Plan (2014). These seek
sensitive management of heritage assets by paying special attention to their
significance and positively responding to the site context in terms of well-designed
dwellings that preserve locally distinctive features such as views, vistas, existing
street alignment and layout, which will be expected to enhance or conserve the
significance of heritage assets. The proposal also fails to accord with Paragraphs
130, 197 and 202 of the Framework, where they relate to high quality design and
heritage requirements.
19. My conclusion on this matter refers to DM Policy 33 of the Development
Management Local Plan. This is relevant as it relates to infill development, which is

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 303 3

Appeal Decision APP/C5690/W/21/3273257

the case in respect of the appeal proposal. I have not referred to DM Policies 31
and 37, as these relate to alterations and extensions (including accompanying
SPD), and non-designated heritage assets.
Living Conditions
20. The flank elevation of the proposed dwelling would be stepped away from the rear
boundary wall of No 29 and have a height of around 4.1m to its eaves, and 5.8m
to its ridge. The proposal would not be substantial in height, while the roof planes
of the structure would taper towards its ridge, thus reducing the building’s mass at
first floor level.
21. There is some dispute between the main parties regarding the separation distance
the flank wall of the proposed dwelling would maintain from the rear elevation of
No 29 to the south. The Council have measured the distance at 9m and 12m
respectively, between No 29’s nearest ground and first floor windows and the flank
wall of the proposal. The appellant, however, indicates that those distances would
be around 10.9m and 15m.
22. Even if the distances were closer to the Council’s measurements, these would still,
given the scale of the proposed dwelling, represent acceptable spacing between the
two structures, such that that there would be no unacceptable enclosing of the rear
windows at No 29 to the extent that the outlook of occupiers from them would be
harmed. I am also satisfied, given the relatively open aspect No 29’s rear garden
enjoys and the separation distance the proposal would maintain from the rear
boundary, that the outlook from No 29’s garden would not be unacceptably
harmed.
23. Therefore, the proposed development would not harm the living conditions of
No 29 Ladywell Road, with particular reference to outlook. This would be compliant
with Policy 15 of the Core Strategy and DM Policy 32 and 33 of the Local Plan,
where they seek to ensure that residential amenities are protected. It would also
accord with the Framework, where it requires proposals to promote a high
standard of amenity for existing occupiers.
24. In my conclusion on this main issue, I have not referred to DM Policy 31 of the
Local Plan which was included in the Council’s refusal notice. This relates to
alterations and extensions to buildings, rather than new build structures, in the
case of the appeal proposal. Instead, I have referred to the more relevant
DM Policy 33 relating to infill development.
25. The Council consider that the proposal would not accord with Policies of the new
London Plan 2021. However, I have not been presented with any that specifically
seek to protect neighbouring outlook.
Parking
26. The footprint of the proposed dwelling would be built over the area currently
occupied by the garage building and forecourt. This would remove an area that
could accommodate around two off-street parking spaces. The appellant indicates
that the site has not been used for parking purposes for some years. Even so, it
could still feasibly be used in the future for parking if undeveloped.
27. Parking opportunities in the surrounding area are primarily limited to parking bays
for resident permit holders and for those with blue badges. Yellow line restrictions
are in place elsewhere. Despite these limitations, the site is located a short walk
from bus and train terminals, and this is reflected in its PTAL 6a rating, which

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 3044

Appeal Decision APP/C5690/W/21/3273257

ranks the location as ‘excellent’ in terms of its connectivity to public transport
options.
28. The proposed dwelling would have two bedrooms. Policy T6 of the London Plan
2021 states that car-free development should be the starting point for all
development proposals in places that are well-connected by public transport. Table
10.3 of the Plan states that 1-2 bedroom dwellings of this location would require up
to 0.5 spaces per dwelling as a maximum.
29. The submitted parking survey has followed the Lambeth Methodology and
encompasses the streets within 200m of the appeal site. The survey results
indicate a very high level of parking along the surrounding streets and, during the
survey period only 3 spaces were available before the practical capacity in the area
was reached (typically considered to be 85% occupancy).
30. Taking this into account, the displaced parking spaces at the appeal site, as well as
the new parking requirement for the proposal could be catered for on the
surrounding streets. Although it is accepted that this would be at the margins of
the area’s practical capacity to carry any more on-street parking.
31. That said, future pressure and competition for parking spaces could be alleviated
somewhat by the transport choices of residents of the proposed dwelling, as the
area’s excellent rating in terms of connectivity to public transport would make noncar ownership a possibility for some future occupiers.
32. Therefore, the submitted evidence does not lead me to believe that the additional
parking demand generated by the proposal, would result in unacceptable parking
pressure or in harm to the safety or operation of the surrounding highway network.
33. There are concerns that the appeal proposal would add to parking pressure along
Church Grove and surrounding streets in conjunction with recently approved
developments. However, I do not have the full details of those cases or the parking
provision in those instances. Moreover, I am not certain whether those cases would
fall within the search area that related to the parking survey for the appeal
scheme. Given this degree of uncertainty I am unable to gauge the cumulative
effect those other developments would have, in conjunction with the proposal, on
local highway conditions.
34. Even if I found the proposal’s effect on local parking conditions to be unacceptable,
I do not have a mechanism before me that would prevent future occupiers from
being unable to obtain a parking permit.
35. Accordingly, I conclude on this main issue that the proposed parking arrangements
would not be harmful to on-street parking capacity or to the safe or efficient
operation of the highway network in the vicinity of the site. The proposal would
comply with Policy 14 of the Core Strategy and Policies T4 and T6 of the London
Plan 2021 which seek to ensure the safety of road users and compliance with the
maximum residential parking standards.
Other Matters
36. The development of the appeal site would represent an efficient use of land, which
is currently under-utilised. However, this would not overcome the concerns I have
in respect of the effect on the CA.
37. Letters of support have indicated that the development of a dwelling at the site
would lead to improved natural surveillance along Church Grove. Yet, during my
site visit I noted that the street is already well overlooked by ground and first floor

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 305 5

Appeal Decision APP/C5690/W/21/3273257

windows of dwellings on Church Grove, as well as the rear first floor windows of
the end terrace dwellings along Ladywell Road. Accordingly, this matter attracts
limited weight.
38. The Council’s approval of a dwelling adjacent to No 2 Wearside Road is noted3. But
this would not be similar to the appeal proposal as it largely follows the alignment
of dwellings along that road and therefore does not have the same encroaching
impact on the street’s character as the scheme I’m assessing.
Planning Balance and Conclusion
39. Notwithstanding the lack of harm I have found in relation to the proposal’s effect
on neighbouring living conditions and highway safety, it would nonetheless have
significant unacceptable effects on the CA.
40. Paragraph 199 of the Framework advises that when considering the impact of
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight
should be given to the asset’s conservation. It goes on to advise that significance
can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or
development within its setting. Given my findings above, I find the harm to be less
than substantial in this instance but nevertheless of considerable importance and
weight. Under such circumstances, paragraph 202 of the Framework advises that
this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.
41. I acknowledge that the development would bring a two-bedroom dwelling in a
sustainable location close to services and transport connections. This attracts
significant weight as a public benefit. However, this would not outweigh the harm
identified above to the significance of the heritage asset, the conservation of which
the Framework indicates that great weight should be given. I conclude therefore
that the proposal would fail to preserve the special character of the CA. This would
fail to satisfy the requirements of the Act, paragraph 197 of the Framework and it
would not be in accordance with the development plan.
42. For the reasons given I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.

R E Jones
INSPECTOR

3

Approval Ref - DC/20/119172, dated 28 January 2021

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 3066

